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Past Performance and Forward Looking Statements
The performance and the results of operations of Zensun Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) as set out in this annual report
are historical in nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. This annual report may contain forward-looking statements and opinions (including
statements, figures, plans, images and other information) that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially from expectations discussed in such
forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor any of its directors, employees or agents shall assume any obligations or liabilities in the event that any

forward-looking statements or opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

Zensun Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) was founded in 1965 and listed on
the Main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since 1972. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) primarily engages in property
development, property investment and management, project management and
sales services and securities trading and investment in Hong Kong, People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and overseas.

With the change of controlling shareholder of the Company since July 2015, the
Group has been expanding its business in the property development sector in
the PRC. From the midst 2015 and up to 2019, the Group completed 87 land
acquisitions for property development in the PRC through tenders, public listings
for sale auctions and sales and purchase transactions in Henan Province, Beijing
and Hubei Province. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had six completed
property projects and 30 on-going complex property projects on hand with 79
land parcels under development and planning with total site area of approximately
3.52 million square meters (“sg.m.”) and aggregate estimated gross floor area
(“GFA”) of approximately 9.54 million sq.m. in the PRC. In return, the land reserves
will bring to the Group with estimated saleable/leasable GFA under development
of approximately 4.04 million sg.m. and estimated GFA under planning of
approximately 2.86 million sg.m.. Along with the Group’s strategy in expanding
its business operations in the PRC, the successful acquisitions made in past few
years have built up sustainable land reserves and a strong presence in Henan
Province. In the foreseeable future, the Company will continue to identify new
property development projects and bid for land use rights of selective land parcels
in the PRC with focus on Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, as well as other first
and second tier cities in the PRC.

The Group currently holds interests in a Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT”) in
the United States, Global Medical REIT, Inc. (“GMR”). GMR completed the offering
of its shares and migrated from the Over-The-Counter Market to the New York
Stock Exchange in 2016. The Group continues to provide REIT management
services to and receive recurring management fees from GMR under its
management agreement. As of 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately
8.4% equity interests in GMR.

The Company will make use of the Group’s financial, human and technological
resources to enhance its portfolio, asset base and brand image in the PRC, USA
and overseas with an aim to create new sustainable revenue streams and enhance
its shareholder value.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
EFEHH

Zensun Enterprises Limited

Dear shareholders,

It is a great honor for me, on behalf of the board
(“Board”) of directors, to present the 2019 annual
results of Zensun Enterprises Limited (hereinafter

Looking back at 2019, the Group achieved satisfactory results and further

developments. After years of quality-based construction, the Group has seen
notable results. During the year, the Group delivered certain newly completed
property development projects, including Zhengzhou Zensun Scholar Garden,
Zhengzhou Zensun Longhushangjing, Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley Phase |
(Green-view Garden No.1) and Zensun River Home Phase | (Courtyard No.1), which
have been well recognised by the customers and industry peers. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB8.887 billion, representing an significant increase of 1,378% from last year,
and gross profit of approximately RMB2.287 billion, representing an increase of
approximately 731% from last year. The Group delivered solid operating results in
2019, and recorded net profit margin of 13% with an increase of 3,742% in profit
attributable to owners of the Company to approximately RMB1.152 billion. In return
for the support of shareholders of the Company for years, the Board is pleased
and proud to recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of 2019 of
RMB1.67 cents per share, realising the Company’s first dividend distribution since

2015 when it turned to be engaged in property development business in China.

AABRKERREFS(EFS )RR UBRBRE
EAEXERARUATEBIARR ] MHBAR
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referred to as the “Company”, and its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) to our shareholders.
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Mr. Zhang Jingguo
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Chairman, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer
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During the year, the Group actively enhanced investor relations and strategically
utilised offshore capital market. The financing capability was proved to be
effective and further consolidated the capital base of the Group, thus paving a
solid foundation for further development of the Group. In August 2019, the Group
successfully issued approximately 4.12 billion new ordinary shares to the controlling
shareholder at a total subscription price of approximately HK$1.56 billion, which
effectively solidified the capital structure of the Group. In January 2019, the Group
successfully issued US$100 million short-term bonds. In October 2019, the
Company first issued publicly its US$220 million senior notes, which were listed on
the Stock Exchange for trading and further issued US$120 million additional senior
notes in December. The issuance of such bonds represents milestones in the
Group’s development in capital market and also shows the investors’ confidence in
and support to the Group.

In light of developing the Company into a platform with a focus on property
development of its group, the Company changed its name from “ZH International
Holdings Limited” to “Zensun Enterprises Limited” in July 2019 to improve its brand
recognition.

China

In 2019, the growth in the overall real estate industry in the PRC suffered a
steep slowdown as compared with the past two years. Given the intensifying
differentiation among echelons of the industry peers, there is an increasing
predominance of China’s top ten real estate enterprises and state-owned
enterprises. In view of the tightening fund liquidity, there are increasing difficulties in
land acquisitions and the risk for real estate developer in property development is
magnifying. It is expected that the government’s policy on the real estate industry
in 2020 will continue to focus on stability and the growth in the overall real estate
market scale will proceed to a stable period. The Group will remain key priority
in monitoring and assessing the risks so as to adjust and adapt to the market
changes smoothly for the business development. Going forward, the geological
planning of the business development, brand management and the quality of
product and services of the Group will become its core competitive edges in the

future.
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In January 2020, the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic caused

Zensun Enterprises Limited

by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) spread all
over China. In view of the challenging situation, the Group was determined to
follow the decisions and arrangement adopted by the government on the fighting
of COVID-19 and implemented relevant prevention measures and controls in all
aspects. Under the guidance of the central government and with unremitting efforts
of all the Chinese people, the COVID-19 prevention and control situation has
been improved since February 2020. Social community and economic activities
were resumed gradually. On 1 February 2020, the People’s Bank of China, the
Ministry of Finance, the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission,
the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the State Administration of
Foreign Exchange jointly issued the Notice on Further Strengthening the Financial
Support for Prevention and Control of the COVID-19 (Yin Fa [2020] No. 29) ({ &
i — el & B ST IR 1R R B T IR B RS b A 1B B 3 A D(BR 35 [2020]295%)),
which further strengthened financial support for the prevention and control of
the COVID-19 pandemic and set the following targets: (i) maintaining liquidity
at a reasonably sufficient level and intensifying currency and credit support;
(i) making reasonable allocation of financial resources to ensure daily financial
services available to the public; (iii) ensuring security of financial infrastructure
and maintaining a steady and orderly financial market; and (iv) establishing “green
channels” to improve the efficiency of foreign exchange and cross-border RMB
business. With the proper implementation of policies, the management of the
Company believes the economy of China will recover soon and the real estate
market will regain its vitality rapidly. All the staff of the Group expect China to win
the battle against COVID-19 to make healthy living and economy recover soon.

With the support from its group, the Company has been engaged in property
development business in China for years and built an effective management team.
It possessed extensive industry experience in efficient development, product quality
and customer service, and gradually enhanced its brand awareness. The Group,
as a leading enterprise in the real estate industry in Henan Province, owns a large
number of property projects and vast land reserves located in Zhengzhou City
and has gained access to the financing channels at home and abroad, enabling
itself to possess unsurpassed advantages over its peers in the region. So long
as the Group make full use of its advantages, focus on the real estate business
and proactively expand its project portfolio, the Company will sure to usher in
better future for development. In 2020, the Company will stick to the development
T A EE)” and
intensify project expansion “by all staff and to all regions”. In terms of regional

strategy of “Focusing on cities based on Zhengzhou (37 f2 £ 1

expansion, inside of Henan Province, the Company will focus on expanding the
cities with good market prospect, while outside of Henan Province, the Company
will identify nationwide opportunities with a focus on certain key regions in a
selective manner and proceed into local market in due time upon understanding
the local operation and conducting relevant market research. In expansion of
its project, the Group places importance on risk control. It has established strict
project screening system, conducted strict control over investment indicators and
approval procedures for the control of investment risks.
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During the year, the Group acquired lands with market analysis and risk assessment
in a prudent manner. For the Group’s sustainable and steady development and
growth, the Group successfully acquired 10 land parcels at a total consideration
of approximately RMB3.888 billion in 2019, contributing approximately 460,000
sq.m. to its land reserves. Property projects, including Zhengzhou Zensun Scholar
Garden, Zhengzhou Zensun Longhushangjing, Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley
Phase | (Green-view Garden No.1) and Zhengzhou Zensun River Home Phase |
(Courtyard No.1), were newly completed and delivered during the year, recognising
booked GFA of 542,000 sg.m. with revenue of RMB8.796 billion. The Company
has engaged in property development business in China since 2015 and has
expanded its land reserves with various property development projects under
development and planning. These property development projects are currently
on schedule to be developed and delivered. It is expected that they will generate
sustainable revenue and profit for the Company in the coming years.

In addition, the Company commenced the provision of property project
management and sales service to its related companies upon the approval of its
independent shareholders in December 2019. The Board considers the provision of
project management and sales service to other property developers in China shall
become popular in the market with prosperous business potential, and the project
management and sales services shall diversify the source of income of the Group
and provide new driver to profits of the Group. Going forward, the Company will
gradually develop itself into a flagship group with a focus on property development
of its group.

The U.S.

In the U.S., the Group now owns interests in two REITs, namely Global Medical
REIT, Inc. (“GMR”) (listed on NYSE) and American Housing REIT, Inc. (*“AHR”),
which are both managed by our 85%-owned Inter-American Management, LLC
(“IAM”), led by a specialised team of highly experienced professionals with in-depth
knowledge in the U.S. real estate market, and is committed to constantly exploiting
potential business opportunities for the Group’s U.S. operations.

Zhengzhou Zensun Longhushangjing Z5/ IF B e | 15
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GMR
GMR has been focusing on acquisition of state-of-the-art, purpose-built with

Zensun Enterprises Limited

contemporary technology, licensed and specialised medical facilities in the
U.S., and currently owns 68 specialised medical and healthcare facilities, with
approximately 2.78 million net leasable square feet (“sq.ft.”). The Group expects
that GMR will continue to grow rapidly with its robust property portfolio in the future
years. As of 31 December 2019, the Group has approximately 8.4% equity interest
in GMR, and receives management fee through IAM based on 1.5% of the GMR’s
net assets annually and quarterly dividends. With healthy operation performance of
GMR, our management company, IAM enjoys the management fee income.

AHR

AHR is currently 99%-controlled by the Group. Now, AHR owns two senior housing
communities, namely Oxford Derby in Kansas and Oxford Mckinney in Texas, and
certain single-family rentals in Texas and Georgia, the U.S. We will closely monitor
the local market environment and flexibly adjust the business strategy.

Other Overseas Operations

The Group owns 28 SOHO portfolios of commercial and residential units and 5
quality residential property portfolios in Singapore for the purpose of rental and
capital appreciation. We will regularly review the Singapore property market to
explore any business opportunities in the foreseeable future. In September 2019,
the Group disposed of the Aizuya Inn located at Nasu, Tochigi Prefecture, Tokyo,
and ceased this business segment and reallocated resources to other principal
business segments for sustainable development.

Appreciation

The Group experienced significant challenges and opportunities in 2019. The
Group has been growing stronger in face of regulatory controls and fierce
competition and developed in a steady manner. Looking forward to 2020, we will
continue to forge ahead and seek for significant improvements in results. On behalf
of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express our wholehearted
gratitude to all shareholders, partners, customers and employees of the Company.
In the future, we will stride ahead and operate our business diligently, in return,
to enhance our profitability and dedicate to creating the best returns to our
shareholders and investors.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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HONG KONG AND OVERSEAS PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

BRREBIMIFES

The Group owns a diverse range of residential, commercial properties and senior
housing communities located in Singapore, Hong Kong and the U.S..

FRERTTTIERRRRIRY

SINGAPORE PROPERTIES

The Group’s Singapore property portfolio is concentrated in locations near Mass
Rapid Transit (MRT) stations, Singapore’s railway system, ensuring convenience
and connectivity. The Group owns a portfolio of SOHO units at Southbank which
features high-ceilings and duplexes. These units are uniquely zoned for both
residential and commercial uses and hence generate strong rental yield. The Group
also owns a portfolio of residential properties at Dakota Residences adjacent to the
Dakota MRT station.

U.S. PROPERTIES

The Group owns 3 Single Family Rentals (“SFRs”) located in Texas and Georgia
through its REIT subsidiary, American Housing REIT, Inc. (“AHR”) (with total lettable
area of approximately 6,965 sq. ft.). These SFRs are carefully selected for their
location, condition, tenant profile and potential for capital appreciation. Further
to the SFRs, two senior housing communities (one in Texas and one in Kansas)
with total area of approximately 98,700 sq.ft. were acquired by AHR’s subsidiary.
The Group also owns freehold land parcels with approximately 273,200 sg.m. in
California and two apartment residential units situated on Wall Street in New York.

The Group’s previously owned Aizuya Inn, an authentic and traditional Japanese
hot spring inn located in Nasu, Tochigi Prefecture, Tokyo, Japan, was sold during
the current year.

3. Glen C.

senior hol

1&2. Single Family Rentals

—————
r Hot

AEEREATRBENET BHENEALRETEE
= BTN - FELEE -

kSRS
REEHINF Y E B S EP R I EH TN - =
@75 5T o N5 B 7E Southbank ¥ 5 SOHO % fi 48
B UBEEREAREREY - ZFEMBUHA
DR EEEREEASE  BRESKFES - K
%k £ Dakota Residences# B X £ ¥4 & + Dakota
Residencesfit #Dakotal Ut o

HONG KONG PROPERTIES

The Group owns two floors of the commercial building,
Wyndham Place, a prime office building located in the
Central district of Hong Kong - the central business
district of the region. The Group currently uses a portion
of one floor for its headquarters and treats the remaining
portion as investment properties for earning rental and/
or capital appreciation.

AEENEFBETOREMERERT - ZETRE
BHRRIZRANE  UREEP LIS o REBER K
Heh—EM— 30 E R4 ERiloBEARENED
FARBE R WA R, S ERIEE -

XEME
AEBBEBEREMERE K B QA American
Housing REIT, Inc. ([AHR ) # B AL A R iE TN KT
JRTR MBI BRI AEEN - AJAEmES H£46,965F A
R o HMEEEBUE - RE HESSREAAEE
NBEIRENL - BRERHMEN - AHRZ B A R
TRERZEFEES(—EMREBERERIMN - —EuR
HEEHTN) - EFEA 498,700 F 5 IR o A& B IR N
INHEE 49273,200F 5 K Z ok A EREM R - WEMALE
BEBAMEABEEEEMM -

REE PR E MR A AR FEA KA #)Aizuya
Inn(&RBAREREFRRIKE) ERAFALE -

4. Oxford Grand McK

senior housi

community
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PART OF THE
PROPERTY
PROJECTS
IN THE PRC
RPEERRZ




Zhengzhou Zensun
Longshuishangjing

RN E R Re K 15
Zhengzhou Zensun Voyage
International Centre

B0 1E B S R B R P O
Zhengzhou Zensun
Ecological City

B0 1E P A RE IR
Zhengzhou Zensun West
Lakeside Scholar Mansion
SR JN IE P8 FE 22 A
Dengfeng Zensun City
BHIERR

Zhengzhou Zensun Voyage Garden
SR IE P B R {28
Zhengzhou Zensun Yating Mansion
B0 1 P A B2 ZE AT
Xinxiang Zensun Smart City
B IEE S S
Xuchang Zensun Scholar Mansion
FEEBERERN

10 Zhengzhou Zensun Shili Mountain

EINER+EF WL

Annual Report 2019 T —JLFF IR

11 Zhengzhou Zensun Scholar Garden
BN IER & B HEE

12 Zhengzhou Zensun River Home
G NTEESHES

13 Zhengzhou Zensun International
Building
s N

14 Zhengzhou Zensun Fenghuashangjing
ERMIERIEEE IR

15 Zhengzhou Zensun Zhenruishangjing

BN IE R I E IR
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Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAT

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EREzYERRREESE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had six completed property projects and R=—ZE—hE+-_A=+—H  ZKEERTBEES
30 on-going complex property projects on hand with 79 land parcels under NEEER 7 METE R MI0BEBTERETEAME
development and planning with total site area of approximately 3.52 million sq.m. I8 8 (79181558 ) - iR 2 425 #h E 1& 49 43,520,000
and aggregate estimated GFA of approximately 9.54 million sg.m. in the PRC. In 5K R st 22 £ E & 4 59,540,000 /5 K « +
return, the land reserves will bring to the Group with estimated saleable/leasable i AR EFEEHERE Rt HE THEZE
GFA under development of approximately 4.04 million sg.m. and estimated GFA & 474,040,000 F Kk RIREI (Lt AR EERB Y A
under planning of approximately 2.86 million sq.m. Interests of all these property 2,860,000 /52K o A& H E(G B 2 SR B 2I1E
projects in the PRC are 100% attributable to the Group. Z100%#E 2 ©

PROJECTS HIGHLIGHTS HEBR

Zhengzhou

BRM

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & &/

Site Area (approximately):
T EAE(AY) ¢

45,505 sq.m.F 5K
Architectural Form:
JREEFIRE -

Estimated Completion Time:
TR TR

Total GFA (approximately):
BEREEE(R) :
77,118 sqm. ¥55:¢
Residential

F=

4th quarter of 2022

TR FENFE

Location: South of Longhu Neihuan East Road, east of Chunlei Street, Zhengdong New District. IHH (T4 - BR TR BE AR FEEIAE ~ BEHIAE -

The view that our five Shangjing projects embrace the Beilong Lake makes excellent scenery. Located at the intersection of Chaoyang Road
and East Cannel at Beilong Lake, Zensun Fenghuashangjing, our fifth Shanjing project, covers a total site area of approximately 68 mu with
plot ratio of 1.699. With 770 mu East Cannel Park and High School Attached to Shanghai Normal University to the west and The First Affiliated
Hospital of Zhengzhou University to the east, the project enjoys the best landscape of the city. Besides, the project sustains the high-end
quality of Shangjing series, thus offering an outstanding housing choice to people living in central China.

—EEAbEEH - DEEET o AKRERILENASLIE  WENRIER - BFEAELFFR - EHSFE LR HE 68 - TEX
1.699 © FER77OMMREA NE - LIBMES KRB - RAPBLA—MER - BE—HEE AR ERESHRE AT RERALBE —EEF
HAR=E -

Zensun Zhenruishangjing Zhengzhou
L e P

PROJECT DESCRIPTION B &/

Site Area (approximately):
THEAE(AY) ¢

68,81 9 sqm.FHK
Architectural Form:
B

Estimated Completion Time:
TEET R TH

Total GFA (approximately):
HREEBE(R) :
106,882 sg.m. F 5K
Residential

F=

2nd quarter of 2022

R CFEFE

Location: East of Longteng 2nd Street, south of Ruyi River West 2nd Street, Zhengdong New District. BT - B 2R BEE — T - ZE ] L

Zensun Zhenruishangjing, a masterpiece of the Group’s Shangjing series, is located at the heartland of Beilong Lake with a maximum height
of 20 meters. The project covers a site area of approximately 103 mu with plot ratio of 1.49 and greening ratio of 35%. It comprises 23 blocks
of 6-story bungalows with low density and is planned to be developed into a 2,500 sg.m. high-end community club. Standing opposite
to Longhu Financial Island, which is to be the financial center of central China in the future, the project enjoys high-end urban resources
comprising 4 hospitals, 23 primary schools, 13 junior high schools, 7 senior high schools and 7 parks surrounding the lake. Together with
international first-class team, the Group plans to develop the project into a model residence in central China. The project is designed by
the teams of Shanghai PTArchitects, S.P.I Landscape Group and Steve Leung Design Group in Hongkong as to integrated planning and
architectural design, the landscape planning as well as interior design, respectively. The project attracts a number of first-class brands in the
world with new Chinese-style architecture, which is designed for elites living in central China.

REE LRREAK 2 — Efaih RLE NI G20me i 0 - BB 41038 - BEX1.49 » AR E35%  NE23R6EAL
EEFE - REFTE2,500mM HRFHEMN - HEUERRERPASRP L -—EHSRS - AEBERAMELR - 28M/NE - 13M¥IF 7
rss  TERAREESHBMER  ERER RER - EPRARLTH - ERERRE  ZERTH USNEER  SERI AU
K EERZRT) - EARGTHEERESREB IS X TR —FnlE - FLEFPAUREREARE  FEPRELAL -
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Zensun Shili Mountain Zhengzhou
B
PROJECT DESCRIPTION & B f§
Site Area (approximately): Total GFA (approximately):
T HERE(4Y) - MEEEE(R) :
987,701 sq.m. 5 1,117,713 sqm. #55¢
Architectural Form: Residential, commercial catering,
public utility

BEITR FE - B - B DHEFRM
Estimated Completion Time: 4th quarter of 2021
TEEHR TR - —FENER

Location: Zhaoling Village and Caodian Village, Mihe Town, Gongyi City. H B (7hf - ZE KA EN RS -

Creating a 16 square kilometers of blueprint of the times, Zensun Shili Mountain represents the first project of the Group’s 3.0 products
launched. The first phase Mantingfang (fmEEZ) cluster comprises bungalows surrounded by blossoming flowers, townhouses among lush
trees and varied commercial units. Adhering to the principal of “nature takes priority over the building”, the project creates an agriculture
park which covers a site area of approximately 1,800 mu in the first phase of construction, which is truly a practice of the concept of
“building home among lush mountains, lucid water and parks”. Meanwhile, by skillfully utilizing the mountainous topography, Chinese cultural
characteristics and customs, the project has been planned with six themed areas, namely “commercial units with classical style, community
with customs style, children’s playground, leisure picking, farming life and grape plantation”. Furthermore, the project will enjoy abundant and
complete facilities for cultural, tourism, commercial, educational, leisure, vacation and recuperation purposes, which are under planning. All in
all, the project has enabled the living of a harmonious back-to-nature life while ensuring a convenient urban life.

FRE+EFUEMTEICTF I ARNERER  EAKES0ERMNER Z(F - ERNESEBERSIEIFE  MBEY - BHE% - 1RE
FoATRERMNBRINRE > EEILERS - TEEH1,800MMEXEAE AL BHXERRES ILAKEQRE] - ARHYER
Wi sn - AR e - BRREE - REAIHERE  BETR  KELE  KERE  BEHFE  A5HEEIAATER KRBT
X IREE - EE CHE CKE - ER BRERELEMN M EREBTEREENORAK  BRESABELENE LR -

Zensun International Building Zhengzhou

EEBERAE M
PROJECT DESCRIPTION % H fii

Site Area (approximately): Total GFA (approximately):

T EAE(AY) ¢ REEEER)

13,442 sqm. 775 107,388 sq.m. 775

Architectural Form: Commercial

JREETIRE - SES

Estimated Completion Time: 4th quarter of 2021

TAEHIR TR - —FEOEFR
Location: South of Qilihe South Road and west of Jiayuan Road, Zhengdong New District. HEH U - B R A R F - S EESA P o

Zensun International Building is situated on the south of Qilihe South Road and west of Jiayuan Road in Zhengdong New District, Zhengzhou,
the eastern core area of the comprehensive transportation hub of Zhengzhou. In the west, it is next to the East Third Ring Road and close to
Zhengzhou East Railway Station and Zhengzhou Coach Station. It lies in the center area of the East Square of Zhengzhou High-Speed Rail
Station (the “East Square”). As planned, the East Square will be established into a super high-rise building complex consisting of financial
and commercial headquarter offices, sci-tech ventures, high star-level hotels, high-end commerce, high-quality goods exhibition and culture
& innovation industry, which, as an important image of Zhengzhou, is expected to have a positive effect on the overall central China and will
certainly lead a new office fashion and become a name card of the city. With highly-developed traffic networks, it is of significant traffic value:
it looks rightly toward the Metro Line 1, 5 and 8 (expected to be open by 2020), connecting each end of the city; and other cities all over the
country can be reached quickly through established high-speed rails and expressways, including Beijing-Hong Kong-Macau Expressway and
Lianyungang-Huoerguosi Expressway. Equipped with comprehensive luxurious supporting facilities, including a space corridor garden, multi-
functional conference halls and several large-sized commercial complexes, shopping centers and a sunken plaza, the project is suitable for
both investment and residence.

EEBBRAECREMNTERTREENEERE - RERA  BNGEaBRARDZOE - ARRZRE - MBEMNREMRERE
o BNSHERESEOES - BERE  SEURESKITESSRABHALHEN Mt  SEAEE SHEE Bag
B XLRIBEXSA BNEATBRERERE  BHNEETImE - RATMEIIZRNERRE @ B K5I R — KRR
RRBBTTH B R © SUBPAERES - s0815R4R - SSIRMRILPIENE - 83R4R (R Jr_-\,_-\,iﬁi)\?&fd_ﬁiﬂm?ﬁﬁit KRESHE - BER
B aRBRER SEESRRELT  ARBEIGN  XIBEETEMY - ERERZTERLEE  ZVESEBELSEREEE
FaRE @%%EP/U' TARESEF2ERE RAKREEEIBIM -

13



14

Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAT

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EFEzY=EREEEHSE

Zensun Scholar Garden Zhengzhou

ERHETHE EB AN

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & B &4

Site Area (approximately): Total GFA (approximately):
THEFE(XY) ¢ BREEEE(R) :
25,357 sqm. 5% 100,662 sq.m. #75:
Architectural Form: Commercial
BEFRE [SES

A Actual Completion Time: 4th quarter of 2019

- i B R % T —E-NFENEFE

Location: The Intersection of east to Sanglin East Road and north to Ruifeng Road. IFH (T HF - SEAREE RS B T B AL S PE R o

Zensun Scholar Garden, located at the gateway of the east of Zhengzhou, is with high-speed rail connection and a shopping district. Zensun
Scholar Garden covers a total site area of approximately 38 mu with total planned gross floor area of 144,000 sg.m. with plot ratio of 3.99.
It comprises 5 blocks of pure LOFT products with interior area of 66/71 sg.m. and 2 blocks of commercial units, all with 5.05 meters high
ceiling, which has offered additional one-more-floor space and will bring you more enjoyment. They are available for delivery with ready interior
decoration. Both gas and central heating supplies have brought convenience and offered high-end living experience. Surrounded by 10
universities spreading nearby and planned with 1 senior middle school, 4 junior middle schools and 6 primary schools, the project immerses in
a strong cultural atmosphere. The project enjoys the view of 96-kilometer Jialu River ecological water system with Xianghu Wetland Park (55
&M /A E) and Zhengxin Park (2§12 /A E) planned nearby.

FRAEEHRERZNYRIIF  SEEE - EREFHELGHNH - BREEE14487 - BEX3.99. 5HR66/71 1 ALLOFTE @ &
IRBEMAENK © 5.05KkBRE - Z—B=M  Z2—EB2X  BARKERZN - RAR - BRERAP - HELE  ShEEESR BEXES
10PTARBIRGED M - REF1ET  4FFRE - 6FT/NE - AXFERE - H#IEGLRBEENARKE - EEFEFREA SHRMLE
BERE -

“{] Zensun Ecological City Zhengzhou
| ERERER BN

PROJECT DESCRIPTION I H &/

Site Area (approximately): Total GFA (approximately):

T ETE () - BEEmE(RK)

74,214 sq.m. 75 185,563 sq.m. ¥75:¢

Architectural Form: Resiplential, underground transport
services

FREETRE EE -~ #b T2 mARTS

Estimated Completion Time: 4th quarter of 2022

BT TR CTE-CFENEE

Location: South of Yuwu Road, east of Pear! Road and east of Jingzhuang Road, Guancheng District. I8 G {74} : &1 (@ BIHEE LA T~ FHEE5IA 5 - R A S ©

Situated at the east junction of Zhengxin Road, Guancheng District, Zhengzhou and the South-to-North Water Diversion Canal, a core
position in the currently highly-attractive new business district of Zhengzhou, Zensun Ecological City has been the largest high-quality project
developed by the Group in the urban district of Zhengzhou by now. Covering the key planning area of the west square of Xiaolizhuang Railway
Station, it is accessible to various ways of travelling, including but not limited to highway, railway, expressway, airway and subway (under
planning). Endowed with the high-quality natural resources of the Shigili River and the South-to-North Water Diversion Canal, it is designed
to be established into a quality riverside residential community with charming landscapes. The project is uniquely located, embracing rivers
with a total length of approximately 5,000 meters and river parks with an area of approximately 2,200 mu, with 14 middle and primary
schools and 5 theme parks under planning and surrounded by the South-to-North Water Diversion Canal and the Shigili River. Building 1 of
Phase | covers a construction area of approximately 68.41 mu, with total planned gross floor area of approximately 160,000 sg.m.. Building
2 covers a construction area of approximately 42.92 mu, with total planned gross floor area of approximately 101,000 sg.m.. With plot ratio
of 2.49, it aims to establish a quality community reflecting the essence of new Asian architectures and a sense of belongings in oriental
culture. Comprised of foreign-style low-level houses with gross floor area of approximately 104 to 143 sg.m. and high-level houses with gross
floor area of approximately 94 to 120 sqg.m., Zensun Ecological City is capable of satisfying the living needs of the buyers and provides a
metropolis-ecology for its residents.

TREERMER  ACEEENESNMEMENESESANSREEER LERENEHESHIEEFKIABTREERER - E
AESBENEHTRIZOMNE - MAURE S — BN/ NZHEANEWFAES  BEREE - AE - 5F i w8 GREP)S2HEHT
FR R 2 EEKIEFEENRRABETERR - EOTESAEAETREENARBIREEAKERREEEEL - SRMIBME
BRBE - 495,000k — 4= + 492,20080E A AE - REM4FTHNE  SXEBRAE - m/AKEFEEN - +-REARE - 5E— Rk
A A68.41H - AARBIEREAMIEL160,000F 2K » 2R A 442 928 - AR EEREAMTEL101,0005F 5K » A2 490 E BRI
RiERELE EEARTDMNEEZBE  TEBRRFHANAK - BEABH104-143m B ¥5 @ BEEENHM4-120mEBESE -
MEEEE —SEIMMEFTENR - ERARY  UEHM22RE—HE5E  AEEEENSERERE -



PROJECT SUMMARY
Actual/
Estimated
Project Completion
Number  Property Project Location Time
g/
BRE  WEEE BRI BRIRS
ACCUMULATED COMPLETED PROPERTY PROJECTS
ZitBRZANRER
1 Znengzhou Zensun dingkai North of Jingnen 2nd Road and east of Jingkal ~~ 4th quarter of 2017

Plaza 9th Avenue, Zhengzhou Clty T5-tFERER

NEBERRS INmER - BREARENR

2 Znengzhou Zensun Xinghan  East of the intersection of Dahe Road and Guxu ~ 4th quarter of 2017
Garden Road, Zhengzhou City ZI-tEEREE
IHIARERE SHTRTRREARLRANE
3 Zhengzhou Zensun Scholar — The intersection of east to Sanglin East Road and  4th quarter of 2019
Garden north to Rufeng Road, Zhengzhou Cty ZE-NEEREE
BHEAEERE ONTERRRRERERI RER
4 Zhengzhou Zensun North of Chaoyang Road and east of Zhongyi ~ 4th quarter of 2019
Longhushangjing Road, Znengzhou City ZI-NEEREE

NEBRALE SRR RERUR

5 Zhengzhou Zensun River North of Lvda Road and west of Yuxiu Road, 4th quarter of 2019
Valley Phase | (Green-view and south of Chung Road, and west of Jnn -~ —S—-NEERZER
Garden No. 1) Road, Zhengzhou City

BN EETEN-4 Py  GAMMARERAIE

(BRIEE-¥R) SERIE
6 Zhengzhou Zensun River South of Xincheng Road, east of Yule Road, and ~ 4th quarter of 2019
Home Phase | east of Xinxi Street Zhengzhou City “E-NEENERE

DS RERARRERANE
HmENR

(Courtyard No. 1)
AR -4
(ZE-¥R)

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING

BR/BHn2E5R
1 Znengzhou Zensun Voyage  West of Jingkai 17th Avenue, north of Hanghai  4th quarter of 2020
Mansion Fast Road, Znengzhou Cty ECTFERER

SN ERERAS UNTERETCAGIE  HERRRAL

Interest
attributable
to the Group

e ]
HERY
i) 3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual Report 2019

“E-NEER

HEBE
Estimated
saleable/

Completed leasable GFA  Estimated

Aggregated saleable/ under  GFAunder

Total site GFA  leasable GFA  development planning

area (sq.m) (sqm.) (sq.m.) (squm.) (sq.m.)

Type Approximately ~Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately

BRITE/ ERWAE/ EE

AEwER RMEFER HEEYER HEREER MHEYER

(T5%) (T5R) (T5%) (T5R) (¥5%)

R# f # # # #

Commercial 47,736 21,748 21,748 - -
[

Residential 34439 66,103 66,103 - -
i

Commercial 25,357 100,662 100,662 - -
[

Residential 62,26 93,399 93,399 - -
i

Residential 182,111 176,845 176,845 - -
fx

Residential 178,669 289,951 289,951 - -
fx

Commercial 55,631 194,354 - 194,354 -
[
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

EBEXERQA

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EFEzY=EREEEHSE

Project
Number

LR

Property Project

HEE

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)
35/ U 2R (H)

Zhengzhou Zensun River
Valley Phase I
SNEETEN -2

Zhengzhou Zensun River
Valley (Green-view
Commercial Centre)

B EATRN
-FEBHRL

Zhengzhou Zensun River
Home Phase
BNEARTE -8

Zhengzhou Zensun Jiahe
Home (Commercial)
ONEEENRERRER

Zhengzhou Zensun
Prosperity Court
B EAREEE

Bejing Zensun Grand
Garden
FREERR

Bejjng Zensun Yazhu
Garden
KREERERR

Dengfeng Zensun Clty
+ Yu Garden
BUEEN  HE

North of Lvda Road, east of Hongsong Road, and
Jinzun Road,south of Chunxi Road, and east of

Yuxiu Road, Zhengzhou City

INFEERIE - AR SERIRR

FRRNE  SRMNE

North of Lvda Road, and east of Wenyun Road,

Zhengzhou Gty

DNTEERN:  XERUR

South of Xinyun Road, east of Yule Road, east
of Xinxi Strest and west of Tianshan Road,

Zhengzhou Cty

NFEERIE  REAUR  FEENER

RN

South of Xincheng Road, east of Nanbei Avene,
south of Xinyun Road and east of Fengshuo

South Street Znengzhou City

IS - BERENRRERMNIE

SEREIR

South of Shisu Road and east of Fengshuo South

Road, Zhengzhou City

PNTRERIE  EERRIR

Huaifang Vilage & Xingong Village, Nanyuan

County, Fengtal Disrict, Beiing

FRmEREREAREN AR

5th Avenue District, Shunyi Newtown, Renhe

Town, Shunyi District, Beiing

FRmEEECAERE IS RNE

Southwest District of Intersection of Taihe Road
and Zhengtong Road, Dengfeng City
EHTANAER AR NN EREY

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

m/
RiRIRE

Ath quarter of 2020 to
1st quarter of 2022
RIREEMERE

1st quarter of 2021
TEI-FE-3R

th quarter of 2021 to
2nd quarter of 2022
RC-FEMERE
-

th quarter of 2021 to
2nd quarter of 2022
RC-FEMERE
-

th quarter of 2020
ZICSEEMEE

2nd quarter of 2021
ZEC-EECER

2nd quarter of 2021
ZIC-EE0ER

2nd quarter of 2020
CEIRFECE

Interest
attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
i3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Type

fig

Residential
[z

CGommercial

B%

Residential
[z

Commercial

B%

Residential

i3

Residential
[z

Residential
[z

Residential
[z

Total site
area (sq.m.)
Approximately

BERER
(¥5%)
8

186,648

28,062

188,643

45,692

8,051

53214

4,170

46,899

Aggregated
GFA
(squm.)

BiaEd
(£5%)
m

191,071

84,185

210275

140,742

2476

89,017

59,307

Estimated

saleable/
Completed leasable GFA  Estimated
saleable/ under  GFAunder
leasable GFA  development planning
(sq.m.) (squm.) (squm.)
Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
BAIAE/ HRWUE/ £l
HERYER HEREER ARREER
(FFK) (TR (EHK
f # f
- 191,971 -
- - 84,185
- 210275 -
- - 140,742
- 26,476 -
- 89,017 -
- 59,397 -
- 78,137 -

18,137
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Estimated
saleable/
Completed leasable GFA  Estimated
Actual/ Aggregated saleable/ under  GFAunder
Estimated Interest Total site GFA leasable GFA  development planning
Project Completion attributable area (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Number  Property Project Location Time tothe Group ~ Type Approximately ~Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
BAIAE/ HRWUE/ £l
A58 BhwER RGEZER HEEYEM  HEREER  AMESER
Bn/ WERH (¥AR) (TFR) (¥AR) (TFR) (THR
BRE  WEER BRI BHEIRE WEE R f # f # f
PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)
YR /BHR22ER(R)
Dengfeng Zensun Clty Northeast comer of Intersection of Denggao 4th quarter of 2021 100%  Residentil, 15,992 39,836 - 39,83 -
+ Xi Garden Road and Fuyou Road, Dengfeng City ZIC-EEREE commercial
BUTEN 2R BT RRAREERRINORL A &%
Dengfeng Zensun City Northwest corner of Intersection of Denggao 4th quarter of 2021 100%  Residentil, 32,986 82,236 - 82,236 -
+ Tal Garden Road and Fuyou Road, Dengfeng City ZEC-EEMER commercial
BUTEN « 5E TR ARERRRINOALA fz A%
Dengfeng Zensun City Northeast comer of Intersection of Hanque Road ~ 2nd quarter of 2020 100%  Residentia, 2110 59,987 - 59,987 -
+ Xiang Garden and Tianzhong Road, Dengfeng City CECERECER commercial
BUEEN 2E B mEMRERPRRN AR A &%
Dengfeng Zensun Clty Northeast comer of Intersection of Yinghe Road ~ 2nd quarter of 2020 100%  Residential, 50436 127818 - 127818 -
* He Garden and Tianzhong Road, Dengfeng City ICEEECER commercia
BUEEN A TR AR RN ARLA &%
Dengfeng Zensun City Southeast corer of the Intersection of Shaolin -~ 4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residential 55,405 116,186 - 58,088 58,098
* Rui Garden Avenue and Fuyou Road, Dengfeng City ZECCEEMER fx
e EHTORRERERBINOREA
Dengfeng Zensun City Southeast comer of the Intersection of Diznong  2nd quarter of 2023 100%  Residential 40,773 73,392 - - 73,392
+ Jing Garden Roadand Zhongyi Road, Dengfeng City CECCFECER [z
BAIEN 28 T RES BRI ARE
8 Zhengzhou Zensun Voyage  South of Heshou Outer Ring Road and west of  2ndl quarter of 2021 to 100%  Commercial 21916 75,483 - 48,152 21,331
International Plaza (Phase Shuanghe Lake 2nd Street, and East of Heshou  4th quarter of 2022 [
1) Quter Ring Road and North of Warnhui Road, ~ ~F-—%%-FEZ
INEERRERES Zhengzhou Chty S
(~#R"H) BHmBENRRIE - EBA_ENER
SRR BEVRRNE
9 Xuchang Zensun Scholar North of Nongda Road, south of GuiHuaNong  4th quarter of 2020 100%  Residential 115,449 312,604 - 312,604 -
Mansion Xuan Road and viest of Gui Hua Han Lin Road, ~E-S£EM5E fx
FHELEERER Janan Distrct, Xuchang City
FETRZREARML  RERSANE
REAEMBNE
10 Xuchang Zensun Golden East of Laodong North Road and south of 4th quarter of 2021 100%  Residential 60,948 167,093 - 167,093 -
Mie House Gui Hua Zhou Zhuang Street, Jianan Distrct, ~ ~T-—F£M5E [z
RENEE Xuchang City

FEMERESHLANR  REREENE
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EBEXERQA

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EFEzY=EREEEGSE

Location

BRI

PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)

Project

Number  Property Project

AR R

%R/ Bz 5EA ()

11 Zhengzhou Zensun

Longshuishangjing

BN EARK R

12 Xinxiang Zensun Golden

Mie House (Phase |
FHLESHER -

Xinxiang Zensun Golden
Mile House (Phase )
i N

Zhengzhou Zensun Voyage
Garden (Phase | and Il

INEEERER
(-8R=%)

Zhengzhou Zensun Orchids
Mansion (Valley-view
Garden)

BN EARESR
=)

Zhengzhou Zensun Orchids
Mansion (Valley-view
Court)

BN EAREZR
(A22E)

Zhengzhou Zensun Shil
Mountain

BHEATEEL

South of North 3rd Ring Road and east of Longhu
Neihuan East Road, Zhengzhou Gty
SHPERAEL=RENE - BINRRENE

South of Kelong Avenue and east of Xiner Stregt,
Xinxiang City
FATREAENE BB

West of Xinzhong Avenue, southeast comer of
intersection of Hongyuan Street and Guihua
Road, Xinxiang City

FETHARENE  BREEREARRN
)

West of Jingkai 17th Avenue, south of Jingbei
4th Road, and north of Jingbel 1st Road,
Zhengzhou Clty

ONTERETLARNE - EHEANE
SR

West of Guihua 3rd Road and north of reserve
[and of Government,Longhu Town, Xinzheng
City

FETERER-RIE - RERRELLL

South of Guihua 1st Road, west of Qiushi Road,
and west of reserve land of Government,
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City

SEmERERE-RE  BREEDUIE
KERNE

Zhaoling Vilage and Caodian Village, Mine Town,
Gongyi City
BEMATERENREER

Actual/
Estimated
Completion
Time

m/
RiRIRE

th quarter of 2020
ICSEEMEE

2nd quarter of 2021
ZEC-EECER

2nd quarter of 2021
TRIRECER

4th quarter of 2020 to
4th quarter of 2021

“RTREMERE
“R-EEMAR

4th quarter of 2020

= B

1st quarter of 2022
RICEEER

4th quarter of 2021
RCFENER

Interest
attributable
to the Group

e
RER%
i3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Total site
area (sq.m.)
Type Approximately
BiEbER
(¥5%)
R# f
Residential 58,338
i
Residential, 45,591
commercial
fE A%
Residential, 36,712
commercial
frz A%
Residential, 86,623
commercial
frz A%
Residential 43470
i
Residential 90321
i
Residential, 987,701
commercial,
catering ,
public utilty
fE &% %

PR EET

Estimated

saleable/
Completed leasable GFA  Estimated
Aggregated saleable/ under  GFAunder
GFA leasable GFA  development planning
(squm.) (sq.m.) (squm.) (squm.)
Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
BAIAE/ HRWUE/ £l
ZffREEE HERYER EEREER ARREER
(TFR) (¥AR) (TFR) (THR
# f # f
96,549 - 96,549 -
159,569 - 159,569 -
128492 - 128492 -
310,119 - 310,119 -
130,135 - 130,135 -
276,963 - - 276,963
IARIAUR - 50247 1,067,466
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Estimated
saleable/
Completed leasable GFA  Estimated
Actual/ Aggregated saleable/ under  GFAunder
Estimated Interest Total site GFA leasable GFA  development planning
Project Completion attributable area (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Number  Property Project Location Time tothe Group ~ Type Approximately ~Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
BAIAE/ HRWUE/ £l
A58 BhwER RGEZER HEEYEM  HEREER  AMESER
Bn/ WERH (¥AR) (TFR) (¥AR) (TFR) (THR
BRE  WEER BE bt BHEIRE WEE R f # f # f
PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)
YR /BHR22ER(R)
17 Xuchang Zensun Orchids South of Guihua Zhuyuan Street and east 2rd quarter of 2022 100%  Residential 62,832 223,264 - - 223,264
Mansion of Guihua Yongian Road, Jianan District, CECCFECER [z
HEIERTER Xuchang City
HETRZRRANELNE  REXERNE
18 Zhengzhou Zensun Boya Northwest corner of Intersection of Tashan Road  4th quarter of 2021 100%  Residential 12,111 37,269 - 37,269 -
Court and National Highway 310, Xingyang City EI-FENEE i
YN EBRRER SETALAEMEERNOELA
19 Zhengzhou Zensun East of Longteng 2nd Street, south of Ruyi River  2nd quarter of 2022 100%  Residential 68,819 106,882 - 106,882 -
Zhenruishanging West nd Street, Zhengdong New Distrct, ~ —F-—F£-%F [z
INEEER LR Zhengzhou City
SHTERAMEEREGHUF - WEAE_HNE
20 Wuhan Zensun Scholar West of the intersection of Chenggong Avenue  2rd quarter of 2021 100%  Residentia 46,888 164,108 - 164,108 -
Mansion and Maoxing Road, Caician Street, Caldian ~ —T-—%£-3F [z
RETRHEAER District, Wuhan City
RETEAREDERYABRKRARERNE
21 Zhengzhou Zensun Yating South of Qiachang Road (Xiangrui Road), east of  4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residential 54,298 146,603 - 146,603 -
Mansion Linghan Stret (Zhenggang 7th Street), Aot —S=—FEM%E [z
N EEREER Harbour Zong, Znengzhou Gty
BHmREARRR R B RRE
(FAELENR
2 Zhengzhou Zensun South of Longhu Neihuan East Road, east of 4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residential 45,505 118 - 18 -
Fenghuashangjing Chunle Street, Znengdong New District, “ECCFERER [z
INEEEE LR Zhengzhou Oty
BNmERAREMRERANS  FEENE
2 Xinxiang Zensun Smart City -~ North of Health Avenue and west of Central dth quarter of 2020 100%  Residentia, 40219 45,126 - 45,126 -
+ Rong Garden Avenue, Qiiying Town, Central District, Xindang S -SFEN%EE commercial
HHTAEENS BE County iz A%
FRErBEEPAAENE  REREAENL
Xinxiang Zensun Smart City ~ Intersection of Central Avenue and Financial dth quarter of 2021 100%  Residentia, 58,642 94,537 - 94,537 -
* Ya Garden Road, Qiying Town, Central Distict, Xiniang ~ ~F=—¥EMEE commercial
HHTHEENS BE County fz B%

MG ERED AN BEERRRND
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN THE PRC AND PROJECT SUMMARY
EREzYEERRIEESE

Estimated
saleable/
Completed leasable GFA  Estimated
Actual/ Aggregated saleable/ under  GFAunder
Estimated Interest Total site GFA leasable GFA  development planning
Project Completion attributable area (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
Number  Property Project Location Time tothe Group ~ Type Approximately ~Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
BAIAE/ HRWUE/ £l
A58 BhwER RGEZER HEEYEM  HEREER  AMESER
Bn/ WERH (¥AR) (TFR) (¥AR) (TFR) (THR
BRE  WEER BE bt BHEIRE WEE R f # f # f
PROPERTY PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT/PLANNING (Continued)
YR /BHR22ER(R)
Xinxiang Zensun Smart Gity -~ South of Health Avenue and west of Central 3rd quarter of 2022 to 100%  Residentil, 244072 470,071 - - 470,071
FATERE Avenue, and Intersection of Central Avenue and  4th quarter of 2022 commercia
Financial Road, Qilying Town, Central District,  ~3-—¥£=FEZ =Y
Xinxiang County ICCEENER
FRECEERPARENE SRRENE
REAENERPANERSEARNA
24 Zhengzhou Zensun Skyline - South of Baiyun Road, and east of Runan Road, ~ 4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residentia, 97,9% 195,872 - 100,179 95,693
Lake Court and west of Dengfeng Road, Shangjie Distrct,  ~T=—F£M5E commercia
Phase I and ) Zhengzhou Chty R
INTEZH LR BT ERAZRNE  REENR
(-BR=8) EHBIE
2 Zhengzhou Zensun West South of Hongmei Strest and west of Chuanyang  3rd quarter of 2022 100%  Residentia 51,39 132,121 - 132,121 -
Lakeside Scholar Mansion ~ Road, Gaoxin District, Znengzhou Cty TECCFECER [z
INEERER INTRRRLEENE  IFRIE
26 Zhengzhou Zensun Voyage  East of Tonghang Fifth Road and north of Anyang  3rd quarter of 2022 100%  Commercial 93,643 234,108 - 53,881 180,227
International Centre Road Shangjie District, Zhengzhou City ZECCEECER [EE
YN EEEmEER BT LERERRRNE - ZREML
2 Zhengzhou Zensun South of Qline South Road and the west of 4th quarter of 2021 100%  Commercial 13,442 107,388 - 107,388 -
Intemational Building Jiayuan Road Zhengdong New District, “E--FENEE [
INEEERAR Zhengzhou Oty
INTERARLETERIE  ZERNE
2 Zhengzhou Zensun South of Yuwu Road, east of Pear Road and 4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residentia 424 185,083 - 185,563 -
Ecological City east of Jingzhuang Road Guancheng District,  —T-—FEM5E [z
(Phase 1 &1) Zhengzhou Gty
LNk SHTERRHERIE - BRENE
(-BR=H) BIRALR
29 Zhengzhou Zensun Xin South of Yinghua Road and east of Gentury 3rd quarter of 2022 100%  Residentia 84,186 22821 - 168,371 54,45
Harbour Home Avenug, north of Lianhua Road and west of ~ —E-=F£=%F ftx
NrERER Shenzhou Road, Xusdian Town, Xinzheng City
EEELEAERE BERBARELELE
AR
30 Bejjng Daxing Project East of Yingyi Street, west of Yingtong Street, ~ 4th quarter of 2022 100%  Residentia 47892 108,059 - - 108,059
TRARER south of Yinghong Road and north of Yingzhi 3= —FEM5E

Road, Yinghai Town, Daxing District, Bejing
IRAEEREARERSE  RERRE
BERER HERSR

Grand total &3t 4,003,208 1,838,352 938,708 4,039,697 2,860,947
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REIT OWNERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

FiEREGTHEIREERE

INTER-AMERICAN
GROUP

The Company announced on 6 December 2013 a three-phases growth strategy (the
“Growth Strategy”) as ascribed in our REIT Strategy, which involves (i) building up
a portfolio through seeding and growing REITs in the U.S.; (i) developing recurring
management fees from direct management of these REITs; and (ji) raising capital
through potential listings of these REITs.

The Company has so far seeded two REITs in the U.S., GMR and AHR, both
are managed by the U.S.-based company, IAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the 85%-owned Inter-American Group Holdings Inc. (“IA Group”). IA Group is
85% owned by the Group with the remaining 15% owned by Mr. Jeffrey Busch,
the Chief Executive Officer of IA Group who is a 30-year real estate veteran and
previously served two U.S. Presidents, overseeing a yearly budget of over US$3
billion to develop housing and commercial real estate for the U.S. government.

INTER-AMERICAN
MANAGEMENT

IAM is the REIT management arm of IA Group, led by a specialised team of
highly-experienced professionals with deep knowledge in the U.S. real estate,
REITs, healthcare, management, logistics and business development. IAM’s REIT
management strategy centres on systematising, and creating viable economies
of scale, to effectively manage cash flow over the life cycles of a wide range of
real estate holdings. IAM focuses on minimising operating expenses by optimising
property evaluation and property management practice through advanced online
property tracking tools coupled with on-site evaluations.

IAM manages our Group’s seeded REITs — GMR and AHR. IAM currently earns
management fees from GMR of 1.5% of GMR’s stockholders’ equity (as defined
in the management agreement between IAM and GMR) per annum calculated
quarterly for the most recently completed fiscal quarter and payable in quarterly
installments in arrears in cash. IAM earns quarterly management fees of US$60,000
from AHR.

IAM plans to eventually manage other global REITs and sources prospective
acquisitions based on the broad relationship network of IA Group’s U.S. based
executive team. IAM plans to receive recurring management fees of 1.5% to 2.0%
of assets under management, varying by each individual REIT and depending on
their performance.

RZB-—=F+-AKH ARAEM-EFMER
BEMEBZ _RERRR([ZRER])  FROER
REBRBLRERFHUEREGREVAS  (NEE
EEZREEHEREEEMELLEERARR &
(iEBZEFHEREREZALLTRERES -

RABESBWHMEZEREEREET - AIGMR
K AHR ¥ 7N 5 B % B 85% ## 2 Z Inter-American
Group Holdings Inc.(EM & EERR 2 7)) (1A Group )
2R EWBATIAMEIR o |A GroupZ 85% %17 H A&
E¥AE - 88 T15%R 1D Th 1A Group T BX 48 & Jeffrey
Buschse &4 A ° Jeffrey Buschse &£ Bt =+ EREHE
TTHEER  DAMEBEHBLKRYE  BEEEHI0E
ENFEEE  AEXERNEECEELRPIARHET
o

IAMAIA Groupit FNEHIEKREEAEES Y HAE
FREEBEREME BHEREEL BE -EE Y
MREBERANGM EFREEEKEE - IAMZ BHE
REEAEEEMEZRG(CEE  BEUELYER
TZHREEE EMRTRENEHELAERBER
EIERERE c IAMEBREEN EWEBH T AREH
i RAREECYEFLRDEERF L B2
ElNzE

AMBEREEBAEERMBEMzSHERE ST - B
GMR K AHR ° IAMIR B5 # GMR 1% & F GMR I B 4 25
(T&ERIAMEGMRZ H R B IR %) A91.5% W ELE 12
B ZEARURI—ASECHETENTELE -
WIEEEDHIABR SR D HZ o IAMPAHR Y ER
60,000 THEEERE -

AMEBEBEMPERERERERFTRKEA
GroupZEBBITEB 2 B2 ABRBBERELE - MEEER
BEEEZ - IAMETEI AT E IR E EWE 5% 22.0% % %
MERE  RISENEHEREEARERRAME -
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REIT OWNERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

FiEREGTHEIREERE

GLOBAL

A MEDICAL REIT

4

During 2016, GMR successfully completed the initial public offering of its common
stock and migration listing in the U.S. from OTC to the NYSE. This resulted in
GMR ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and no longer controlled by the
Group. However, IAM has continued providing management services to GMR
in return for receiving recurring management fee. IAM also continued managing
various fund raising activities to increase the capital base of GMR, which in return,
increase the recurring management fee income. In view of the business objectives,
recent expansion plans and also the financial position of GMR, the Group expects
that GMR will continue its rapid development with its sound and solid property
portfolio and growth in profits in the next few years, thus, in December 2018,
the Group has increased its shareholding in GMR from approximately 12% to
approximately 14% by way of share subscription in a GMR’s public offering. The
Board believes this will increase the Group’s sharing of the income growth of GMR
and thereby achieve long-term capital appreciation of the Group’s investment. As
at 31 December 2019, as a result of the increase in GMR’s common stock through
several public offerings launched during the year, the Group had approximately
8.4% equity interests in GMR.

GMR distributed quarterly dividend of US$0.20 per common stock for aggregate
annual dividends of US$0.80 per common stock in 2019.

GMR’s strategy is the acquisition of purpose-built healthcare facilities and the
leasing of those facilities to strong healthcare systems and physician groups with
leading market share. These leases are typically structured as triple net which
require tenants to pay for all property operating expenses including property taxes,
insurance, maintenance and capital expenditure.

GMR generally acquires properties on a long-term sale and leaseback basis with
contractual rent escalations which provides GMR with predictable growing rental
income. GMR’s in-depth experience and contacts within the health care real estate
community enable GMR to source non-brokered investment opportunities off-
market and on favourable terms. GMR is able to originate property acquisitions with
healthcare operators directly by catering specifically to their capital, accounting,
legal, regulatory, and strategic needs.

As of 31 December 2019, GMR’s portfolio consisted of 68 facilities with an
aggregate of (i) approximately 2.8 million net leasable sq.ft., (ii) approximately
US$70.4 million of annualized base rent, (i) an approximate weighted average
capitalization rate of 8.5% and (iv) approximately 8.8 years weighted average lease
term remaining. During the year, GMR completed the acquisitions of 18 medical
and healthcare facilities, encompassing an aggregate of 701,936 leaseable sq.ft.,
for an aggregate purchase price of approximately US$253.5 million with annualised
base rent of US$19.0 million and a weighted average capitalisation rate of 7.5%.

R=ZZT—NF » GMRE EXBIA I 5ek & ) AR %
EHEBRBOMESIRSEEANEEL ST L
e L BMGMRTBAARG ZHB AR R NHHAK
EEIEH] - HIAMIZE B 13 4 B IR (B 1B RIS LA
BMERS - IAMTVEEEETREEETHNE—FR
FCGMREEARER  HMESKEUEEEBRA - &
BEIGMRZ %75 812 - i HiER 8 A R Sk
AEBEBEFCGMRAEBREMEM S BEBHL R RE
B RRKREFRARZF - 8 RZT—N\F+=
AAREBENGMRAMBET S BRERE N - BH
R GMRIFRERL 12%EINEL14% - EFSHEEE
BAEETIRSHOGMRAEMWRZZ D Z » #MEAN
FEZIREEERBENEE KT NWF+=A
=t—B BARAFEFEAGMRBKELHERITARE
EBEI - REBHEAGMR #I8.4%AHE -

GMRR —ZE-NFEEARSFREC2ETNEL A
B FHIRE0.8ETHMRE -

GMRZ KB 3 Y B A5 SR R I h X SRR T 588
AfMABEEMUNORERRALEREE - WEHE
REBAZEFMEN EEZRMEPINMAMEZE
R BREMEDN  RE  GEERAREARR -

GMR— iz REIE R BTG N S I8E 2 EEWKE
W% - REGMRATEAIFEERMNES KA - GMRR
RIEFEHERE 2 8= & 5B I AREGMRA %A F &
REFZIERLCRERE - GMRAEBLAHKTTE
AR gEt AR OERREBER - THEXMR
fEERE R B

RZZE—NF+-A=+—H GMRZ#HA BE681E
i AR HEmRBY28FEEFT AR ()F(LE
AL L7048 EETT ¢ (i)INEFHERELRLE8.5%
Rv)mEFS s TRBONBNE - RAFER -
GMRZEMK18BEERERMWEEE  JHEAA
FEAT701,936F R - B EERL253588ETT
FEAHEA10.088FEL  MEFHERELERE
7.5% °



AMERICAN
HOUSING REIT

AHR is currently a U.S. REIT 99%-controlled and managed by IAM. The primary
business strategy of AHR is to acquire and lease single-family homes as well-
maintained investment properties to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns over
the long-term. AHR consistently employs a disciplined and focused approach
in evaluating available acquisition opportunities, and maximising the expected
returns with the mix of rent yield and future potential appreciation in value. As at 31
December 2019, AHR owned a portfolio of 3 SFRs primarily in Texas and Georgia
in the U.S.

In view of our professional specialist management arm on the favourable potential
prospect on retirement communities and elderly care industry in the U.S., the
Group diversifies its current property portfolio from single family housing to senior
housing in order to seize the industry potential. Two senior housing communities
in Texas and Kansas in the U.S. were acquired in the first half of 2017. The Group
believes that a diversified investment portfolio will generate a higher-than-average
annualised yield and assist future capital fund raising.

Annual Report 2019  —EF—NFFR

AHRA B BT A EBEH09% M EB B E R L5
T HIAMER - AHRZ EBEB K AU L EA
BEEFEEEETSNREME  WERARS H2
AR AEROE - AHR— EFEZ T T HAT 5
e SARERABHESR  WEAEEHESK
=hBRABEED R-_Z—NAF+=-A=+—8"
AHRT BN EREREIIN LS A NEAIMER Y
MEBEM([ERHIMAEENDES -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR DT

FINAL RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year”), the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately RMB8,887.2 million and gross profit of approximately
RMB2,286.5 million, with an increase of approximately 1,378% as compared to
revenue of approximately RMB601.5 million and increase of approximately 731% as
compared to gross profit of approximately RMB275.1 million in the corresponding
period of 2018. The revenue and gross profit in the Year were primarily derived
from the property development business in the PRC. The substantial increase in
revenue and gross profit is arising from the delivery of the Group’s several newly
completed property development projects during the fourth quarter of 2019,
leading to the increase in the Group’s booked GFA tremendously. In the past two
years, the Group focused on providing “High quality” products to the customers,
and there was no delivery of newly completed property development projects for
the Group in 2018. Booked saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 542,000 sg.m.
were delivered during the Year as compared with 2018 of approximately 43,000
sg.m..

Zensun Enterprises Limited

The Group had net other gains of approximately RMB109.1 million during the Year,
as compared to 2018 of approximately RMB33.3 million. The Group’s net other
gains during the Year were attributable to the increase in fair value of investment
properties of approximately RMB2.3 million (2018: approximately RMB17.9 million),
increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB112.7 million (2018: approximately RMB9.3 million), and offset with the net
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately RMB6.8 million (2018: net gain of
approximately RMB7.4 million) during the Year.

The Group’s sales and marketing expenses increased by approximately 41% from
approximately RMB114.9 million for 2018 to approximately RMB162.4 million
for the Year. The Group’s administrative expenditure increased by approximately
29% from approximately RMB129.7 million for 2018 to approximately RMB166.8
million for the Year. Such increases were in line with the business expansion in
the Group’s property development business in the PRC during the Year with the
increasing number of the Group’s ongoing property development projects.

The Group’s income tax expenses increased from approximately RMB30.0 million
for 2018 to approximately RMB886.3 million for the Year. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in PRC CIT and PRC LAT arising from the substantial
increment in operating profits in property development business in the PRC during
the Year.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the Year amounted to approximately RMB1,151.6 million (2018:
approximately RMB30.0 million).

The basic earnings per share for the Year was RMB14.87 cents (2018: RMBO0.49
cents).

The Board recommends the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2019 of RMB1.67 cents per share, amounting to a total dividend of
RMB171.9 million (2018: Nil).

REEBERRE
REE-_ZEZ—hAhF+_A=Z+—BLEFE(AF
Bl AEBEHBKELH ARES,887,200,0007T & F
FH AR #2,286,500,0007T * R_F— NFREZIK
) AR 601,500,000 7T 1491,378% » AR &=
T— \FRHEZEFHARE275,100,0007T 1 1147
731% c AFFEZ WL EFEZEZREPEADELERE
¥ W REFBEEERTE %EEE’\LN’E@EA =
—NEENFEINEFTHERDEREEBE - 8]
$%%$§;E§éﬁ$§?@%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ RBEME A

FEIRREFPREREIERE IER  AEBER =
—/\ﬂﬁ%ﬂ EMFEKYEERIEE - RAFE

DREnHE TEREmMEL542,000F 75 KE
QH = Z— \F 8 A 4943,000F 75 K o

NEER BEZEMBZFEHNAEARE
109,100,0007@ MR ZZE—NFHAEARE
33,300,0007T - ZEBMAAFE 2 EM K= FRE A
LEEQNFEE IO ARE2,300,000t(=ZF— )\
F - Y AREE17,900,00070) « AT EFAERZS
BLE BN ARE112,700,0007T (Z 2 — \4F : 4
AR %9,300,00070) R AFE L ENB AR 2 EIE
SFEMH ARY6,800,000T (=T — N\F : RFFEL
ARH7,400,0007T )3 54 ©

AREBZHERTHEHERERA_ZE— N \F0HH
AR ¥ 114,900,000 T 41 % EARFEH AR
162,400,0007C - AEBE 2 ITHRERBHBE—T—N\F
# AR #129,700,0007T18 IN4I29% E A FEHARE
166,800,000t » BEZE AREEFE BT WEERIAR
HEREEN AEEMEAEEARAFERFHY
EUREER T EKERAR

AEREZAEHATXHBEE-_T-NAFOHOARSE
30,000,0007C3% 2= A 4 £ 49 A R #:886,300,0007T °
BREEMERANFEAFEY R RS 2 G &0
FERZ IR N B B PSR e P B L IR A T
DUFTEL -

EREMFER  REERNEARGES AEGEAEER
R A ARBE1,151,600,0007t(ZZE—N\E  HAR
#:30,000,0007T) °

RAFERN  BREABFNHEARK14.875
—N\F : AR¥0.499) ©

(==

EEeRBRNEBEE_T-hE+-_A=+—H1
FEZREFRENDARK167H  BetlREARK
171,900,0007C( = F—/\F : &) o



BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Development in the PRC

During the Year, the property development business in the PRC contributed
revenue of approximately RMB8,796.0 million (2018: approximately RMB521.8
million) and segment profit of approximately RMB1,907.3 million (2018:
approximately RMB8.4 million) to the Group. The increase in segment revenue
and segment profit was attributable to the delivery of the Group’s several newly
completed property development projects namely, Zensun Scholar Garden, Zensun
Longhushangjing, Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley Phase 1 (Green-view Garden
No.1) and Zensun River Home Phase 1 (Courtyard No.1) during the Year.

The Group maintained its concrete expansion strategy and persisted continuing
effort to expand its land reserves. During the Year, the Group attended different
public auctions with listings for sale processes held by local governmental land
bureaus and successfully completed 10 land acquisitions in the PRC. These newly
acquired land parcels have contributed total site area of approximately 0.46 million
sg.m. and aggregate estimated GFA of approximately 1.13 million sg.m. in support
of its land reserves in the PRC. These successful land bids and acquisitions further
complemented the Group’s strategy in expanding its business operation with focus
in Zhengzhou City, Henan Province and other first and second tier cities in the
PRC.

Along with the concrete expansion strategy adopted since 2017, the Group’s land
resources have been sufficiently accumulated. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
had six completed property projects and 30 on-going complex property projects
on hand with 79 land parcels under development and planning with total site area
of approximately 3.52 million sg.m. and aggregate estimated GFA of approximately
9.54 million sg.m. in the PRC. In return, the land reserves will bring to the Group
with estimated saleable/leasable GFA under development of approximately 4.04
million sg.m. and estimated GFA under planning of approximately 2.86 million
sg.m.. The Group remained proactive in reviewing its expansion pace, and may
adjust its project developing plans and schedules in response to changing market
conditions, as and when appropriate.

Property Investment and/or Management on AHR and GMR in the
u.s.

During the Year, the property investment and management on AHR and GMR
in the U.S. through IAM, the 85%-owned REIT management arm of the Group,
contributed revenue of approximately RMB59.9 million (2018: approximately
RMB46.6 million) and segment profit of approximately RMB18.0 million (2018:
approximately RMB6.7 million) to the Group. The increase in segment revenue and
segment profit was resulted from the increase in management fee income from the
continuous enlarging capital base of GMR through several fund raising campaigns
during the Year.

Property Investment other than AHR

During the Year, the property investment other than AHR division contributed
segment revenue of approximately RMB12.3 million (2018: approximately RMB13.5
million) and segment profit of approximately RMB1.8 million (2018: approximately
RMB17.2 million) to the Group. The decrease in segment profit was primarily
attributable to the decrease result in fair value of investment properties during the
Year of approximately RMB1.1 million as compared to the increase result in fair
value of investment properties of approximately RMB16.4 million for 2018.
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Securities Trading and Investment

During the Year, the Group’s securities business recorded segment revenue of
approximately RMB15.9 million with segment profit of approximately RMB128.6
million as compared to segment revenue of approximately RMB15.8 million
with segment profit of approximately RMB25.0 million for 2018. The significant
increment result in segment profit was mainly led by the increase in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss during the Year of approximately RMB112.7
million (2018: approximately RMB9.3 million).

Hotel Operations

During the Year, revenue from the hotel operations division maintained at
approximately RMB3.1 million as compared to approximately RMB3.7 million
for 2018. During the Year, the Group reviewed the existing principal business
segments and decided to dispose of the hotel operations in Japan, resulting a
segment loss of approximately RMB7.9 million as compared to approximately
RMB1.5 million for 2018. Following the completion of hotel operation disposal
which took place in September 2019, the Group ceased this business segment
and reallocated resources to other principal business segments for sustainable
development.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity Position

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s total cash and
bank balances including pledged deposits and restricted bank balances was
approximately RMB4,778.6 million (2018: approximately RMB1,489.7 million),
representing an increase of approximately 221%. The total cash and bank balances
were mainly denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Singapore
dollars and Japanese Yen.

As at 31 December 2019, certain bank balances and deposits of the Group
were pledged to certain banks and financial institutions as securities for the bank
and financial institutions facilities granted to the Group and also the mortgage
loan facilities granted to the property buyers of the Group. The total pledged
deposits was approximately RMB886.3 million as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
approximately RMB714.4 million).

Capital Structure, Borrowings and Charges on the Group’s assets

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank and
other borrowings, loans from a related company, and amounts due to related
companies, net of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances and
pledged deposits, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December 2019, net debt and equity
attributable to owners of the Company were approximately RMB23,904.5 million
(2018: approximately RMB24,260.5 million) and approximately RMB3,740.6 million
(2018: approximately RMB1,128.6 million), respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s aggregate borrowings including bank and
other borrowings, loans from a related company and amounts due to related
companies amounted to approximately RMB28,683.0 million (2018: approximately
RMB25,750.2 million), of which approximately RMB15,405.1 million (2018:
approximately RMB17,007.9 million) were repayable within one year or on demand,
and approximately RMB13,277.9 million (2018 approximately RMB8,742.3 million)
were repayable after one year. The aggregate borrowings were mainly denominated
in Renminbi, US dollars, Singapore dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
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During the Year, the Company completed the issuance of bonds at principal
amount of US$100 million carrying interest of 8.0% per annum due on 22 January
2020 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement.
The bonds proceeds was used for general corporate purposes of the Group.
The bonds were subsequently redeemed in January 2020. In the second half
of the Year, the Company further issued senior notes at an aggregate principal
amount of US$340 million carrying interest of 12.8% per annum due on 3 October
2021, which have been listed on the Stock Exchange. The net proceeds of the
senior notes was intended to refinance existing indebtedness and for project
developments and general corporate purposes. Both the US$100 million bonds
and US$340 million senior notes were unsecured but guaranteed by related
companies, which are ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms. Huang”).
The Group will adjust its business plans in response to changing market conditions
and, thus, reallocate the use of the net proceeds efficiently.

During the Year, the Group redeemed bonds at principal amount of US$200 million
carrying interest of 7.5% per annum at its maturity in January 2019 and redeemed
assets-backed securities at an aggregated size of RMB1,600 million which have
been previously listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in April 2019.

In additions to the fixed-rate bonds at 8.0% per annum and fixed-rate senior notes
at 12.8% per annum, the Group’s bank and other borrowings also carried fixed
interest rates ranging from 4.568% to 9.975% per annum and various floating
interest rates linking up with international lending rates including Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate, Singapore Dollar Swap Offered Rate, Singapore Interbank
Offered Rate, London Interbank Offered Rate, the base lending rate of the People’s
Bank of China and the Loan Prime Rate in the PRC as at 31 December 2019. The
Group’s interest rate risk is mainly driven from the bank and other borrowings with
floating interest rates. As at 31 December 2019, loans from a related company and
the amounts due to related companies were interest-free.

As at 31 December 2019, certain bank and financial institutions facilities granted
to the Group together the mortgage loan facilities granted to the property buyers
of the Group were secured by certain property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development and pledged deposits with total carrying
values of approximately RMB19,987.5 million (2018: approximately RMB15,539.4
million).

Shares of certain subsidiaries of the Group are pledged to secure certain bank and
financial institutions facilities granted to the Group as at 31 December 2019 and
2018. The Group’s bonds, senior notes and certain bank and financial institutions
facilities to the Group were guaranteed by related companies which are ultimately
controlled by Ms. Huang and together with her spouse, Mr. Zhang Jingguo
(“Mr. Zhang”). No assets of the Group was pledged to these related companies in
respect of these guarantees.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purpose during the
Year.

During the Year, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Joy
Town Inc., a controlling shareholder of the Company as subscriber, pursuant to
which the subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 4,117,879,979 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.38 per subscription share under the specific
mandate. The net proceeds of the subscription amounting to approximately
RMB1,426.6 million were intended to be applied (i) 40% towards construction
payment of property projects; (i) 40% towards repayment of bank loans; (i) 10%
towards acquisition cost of land use rights through listing for sale process at public
auctions to be held by government bureaus in the PRC; and (iv) 10% towards
general working capital of the Group. The share subscription was completed on
15 August 2019 and the subscription shares represented approximately 40.00%
of the then of issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment
and issuance of the subscription shares. As at 31 December 2019, the entire
net proceeds from the subscription have been fully utilised towards the Group’s
intended use of proceeds on the above manner.
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. In view of the Group’s expansion
strategy, the Group has sourced funding from its related companies and continued
to look for external financing sources. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from previous year.

Key Financial Ratios

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a current ratio of 1.5 (2018: 1.3) and
a gearing ratio of approximately 46.0% (2018: approximately 61.3%). Gearing ratio
is defined as the ratio of total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank balances and pledged deposits to total assets.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the capital commitments of the Group in connection with
the property development expenditures was approximately RMB11,867.2 million
(2018: approximately RMB20,012.8 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had contingent liabilities relating to guarantees
amounting to approximately RMB7,819.6 million (2018: approximately RMB3,699.0
million) in respect of mortgage facilities provided by certain banks in connection
with the mortgage loans entered into by property buyers of the Group. Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these buyers,
the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest thereon and any penalties owed by the defaulted
buyers to the banks. The Group would be entitled to take over legal title to and
possession of the related properties. These guarantees will be released upon the
earlier of (i) the satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the property buyers; and (i) the
issuance of the property ownership certificate for the mortgage property and the
completion of the deregistration of the mortgage. In the opinion of the Directors,
no provision for the guarantee contracts was recognised in the financial statements
for the Year as the default risk is low and in case of default in payments, the net
realisable of the related properties can cover the outstanding principal together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are denominated substantially in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen
in its respective group entities. Due to the currency peg of the Hong Kong dollars
to the US dollars, the exchange rate between these two currencies has remained
stable and thus the Group currently does not implement any hedging or other
alternatives. Going forward, the Group may formulate a foreign currency hedging
policy to provide a reasonable margin of safety for its exposure to Renminbi,
Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen through transactions, assets and liabilities
should the need arise.
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Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals
of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Venture and Future Plans for
Material Investments or Capital Assets

(@

On 11 January 2019, the Group has made a successful bid for land use
rights in Gaoxin District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC with
site area of approximately 51,395.40 sqg.m. for residential usage at a
consideration of RMB672,600,000. This development project is expected
to be completed no later than the third quarter of 2022;

On 16 January 2019, the Group has a made a successful bid for land use
rights in Shangjie District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC with
site area of approximately 93,643.23 sq.m. for commercial usage at a
consideration of RMB216,700,000. This development project is expected
to be completed no later than the third quarter of 2022;

On 29 January 2019, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement
with a company which is ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang to acquire a
land parcel in Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC with site area of
approximately 13,442.23 sq.m. for commercial usage by way of acquisition
of the entire equity interest of the company holding the land parcel at
a consideration of RMB50,000,000. The acquisition was completed in
February 2019 and this development project is expected to be completed
no later than the fourth quarter of 2021;

On 29 May 2019, the Group has made two successful bids for land use
rights in Guancheng District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC
for residential usage with underground for transportation service usage
with (i) site area of approximately 28,608.73 sg.m. at a consideration of
RMB288,190,000 and (i) site area of approximately 45,604.51 sgq.m. at a
consideration of RMB459,080,000, respectively. These two development
projects are expected to be completed no later than the fourth quarter of
2022;

On 29 June 2019, the Group has made a successful bid for land use
rights in Dengfeng City, Henan Province, the PRC with site area of
approximately 55,404.64 sq.m. for residential usage at a consideration of
RMB251,823,300. This development project is expected to be completed
no later than fourth quarter of 2022;

On 12 September 2019, the Group has made two successful bids for land
use rights in Xinzheng City, Henan Province, the PRC for residential usage
with (i) site area of approximately 50,456.59 sqg.m. at a consideration of
RMB174,070,000 and (i) site area of approximately 33,728.72 sg.m. at a
consideration of RMB116,360,000, respectively. These two development
projects are expected to be completed no later than the third quarter of
2022; and

On 12 September 2019, the Group has made a successful bid for land
use rights in Beijing, the PRC for residential usage with site area of
approximately 55,608.04 sg.m. at a consideration of RMB1,512,830,000.
This development project is expected to be completed no later than the
fourth quarter of 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold other significant investment,
make any other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates or
joint venture or future plan for material investment or capital assets during the Year.
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Employee and Remuneration Policy

Remuneration packages are generally structured with reference to prevailing
market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including
mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance-related bonuses.
During the Year, the Company has been awarded with the Certificate of the Good
Employer Charter from the Labour Department in recognition of the Company’s
adoption of an employee-oriented and progressive human resource management
practices, it has also continued to receive the three awards issued by Mandatory
Provident Fund Authority, namely, the Good Employer Award, the e-contribution
Award and the Support for MPF Management Award. The Company adopted a
share option scheme on 28 August 2013 and share options may also be granted to
eligible employees of the Group. Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments
during the Year, amounted to approximately RMB81.0 million (2018: approximately
RMB67.8 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 297 employees.

Outlook and Prospects

In order to pursue sustainable development, the Group is principally engaged in
the businesses of property development, property investment and management,
project management and sale services and look for investment opportunities which
strengthen profitability under the acceptable risk in Hong Kong, the PRC and
overseas markets.

The Group will primarily finance the repayments on financial assistance from
the controlling shareholder through proceeds from the pre-sale and sale of
Group’s properties, internally generated cash flows from other operations, and
borrowings from commercial banks and financial institutions. Going forward,
the Group believes our future fund needs in support of project construction and
land acquisition activities will be satisfied by the above-mentioned sources and
additional issuance of equity securities or other capital market instruments. The
Group seeks to manage the level of our liquid assets to ensure the availability of
sufficient cash flows to meet any unexpected cash requirements arising from our
business. The Group will also continue to assess available financial resources
in support of our business needs on an ongoing basis and plan and adjust our
development schedule or implement cost control measures if necessitated by our
then-existing financial conditions and cash requirements. The Group intends to
continue to access existing capital resources, and to seek new sources of funding,
to maintain and grow our business on a cost-effective basis.

The PRC

During the Year, four property development projects namely, Zensun Scholar
Garden, Zensun Longhushangjing, Zhengzhou Zensun River Valley Phase 1
(Green-view Garden No.1) and Zensun River Home Phase 1 (Courtyard No.1) were
newly completed in phases and delivered to customers in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the purchase agreements. In accordance with the Group’s
latest development plan and schedule, it is expected that five to six property
development projects will complete its development and launch delivery in 2020.
The Group’s property development projects focus on providing “High quality”
products on both standard and deluxe design with full refurbishment so as to meet
different customers’ preference and needs. Revenue from the sale of properties
are expected to be recognised upon its completion and delivery of the completed
properties.
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After the ambitious land acquisitions completed in last few years, the Group built
up strong land reserves for the Group’s property development business in the
PRC and strong presence in Henan Province, thus the Group will focus more on
developing the existing property development projects in 2020 and 2021. The
Board will still maintain open-minded to identify new property development projects
and bid for land use rights of other selective land parcels in the PRC with a focus in
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province and other first and second tier cities in the PRC in
the coming few years.

With the strong land reserves with the ongoing property development projects,
the demand for the respective construction work for the Group’s properties
projects on hand are rapidly and substantially increasing. In this regard, the
Group will proactively seek for quality construction contractors which can offer
the best and most favourable terms to cooperate so as to complement with the
Group’s expansion in property development operation in the PRC. In order to seize
every cooperation opportunities with different quality and potential construction
contractors to cater the Group’s growing needs and requirements, the Group
entered into the renewed master services agreement with Zensun Development
to engage Zensun Development Group for their construction and development
services on certain selected property development projects during the Year. The
renewed master services agreement was amended to extend its effective terms for
three years from 1 January 2018 and continue up to and including 31 December
2020. The approved Annual Cap for the transactions with Zensun Development
Group during the year ended/ending 31 December 2019 and 2020 were
RMB2,404 million and RMB1,534 million, respectively.

Acquired from the existing property development portfolio, the Group possesses
the necessary expertise and know-how in preliminary property project management
and sales services. During the Year, the Group entered into the management and
sales services framework agreement with Ever Diamond to provide Ever Diamond
Group with preliminary project management services and sales services on certain
selected property development projects. Thus, the Group can centrally manage
and organise the development, branding and marketing of property development
projects of the Group and the Ever Diamond Group, which will benefit from
reduced competition for business opportunities between the Group and the Ever
Diamond Group. Also, the Board considers project management and sales services
to other property developers in the PRC shall become popular in the market with
prosperous business potential, and the project management and sales services
shall diversify the source of income of the Group and provide new driver to profits
of the Group. The Board is confident that the Group possesses the necessary
expertise and know-how to provide project management and sales services to
other property developers in the PRC and will hire additional staff as this business
segment continues to develop. The management and sales services framework
agreement was approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 20 December 2019 and became effective thereafter and shall continue
to be effective up to and including 31 December 2021. The Board decided to
commence the provision of project management and sales services principally in
2020. The approved Annual Cap for the transactions with Ever Diamond Group
during the year ended/ending 31 December 2019 and 2020 were RMB220 million
and RMB310 million, respectively.
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As such, the Board is of the view that going forward the management can
focus their efforts in developing the Group into a flagship group with a focus on
property development in the PRC. The Company takes leverage on the PRC
property development and investment experience of its management team to seek
development in suitable projects with potential to deliver value to its shareholders.
In addition to existing business partners, the Company will continue to seek
potential partners’ cooperation to explore capital resources, reduce capital
investment at an early stage and facilitate project development. The management
remains cautiously optimistic on the long-term prospects of the real estate industry
and will expedite its property development and sales of its development projects in
the PRC through making use of its own advantages and leveraging on the national
network and business resources of Zensun Real Estate. The synergistic effect
brought by Zensun Real Estate will improve the position of the Group in the real
estate industry in the PRC.

The U.S.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has approximately 8.4% equity interest in a
NYSE-listed REIT, GMR and 99% equity interest in AHR, both are operated and
managed by IAM, the 85%-owned REIT management arm of the Group, led by a
specialised team of highly experienced professionals with deep knowledge in the
U.S. real estate market.

1. GMR
The Group has continued providing REIT management services and
receiving recurring management fees directly to and from GMR pursuant to
the revised management agreement between GMR and IAM.

In the year of 2019, GMR completed 18 acquisitions of medical and
healthcare facilities, encompassing an aggregate of 701,936 leaseable
square feet, for an aggregate contractual purchase price of US$253.5
million with annualised base rent of US$19.0 million. In connection with its
acquisition business strategy, GMR raised US$200.1 million through equity
issuance activities. It is expected that with GMR’s business plan, GMR
would be able to further increase its capital base which in return increase
the management fee income to be received from GMR. The Group’s
investment in GMR during the Year would also increase the sharing of
income growth of GMR and thereby achieve long-term capital appreciation
of the Group’s investment.

2. AHR
AHR is currently 99%-controlled by the Company. AHR diversified its
previous investment in single family houses to senior housing communities
in order to seize the potential opportunity for the current strong demand on
retirement communities and elderly care industries in the U.S. for higher-
than-average annualised yield.

Other regions

Following to the disposal of hotel operation business in Japan, the Group will
regularly review the Singapore property market to explore any business opportunity
in the foreseeable future.

Overall

The Company will make use of the Group’s financial, human and technological
resources to enhance its portfolio, asset base and brand image in the PRC, U.S.
and overseas with business growth opportunities.
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ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Zhang Jingguo, aged 57, is the Chairman, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and a member of each of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on
6 July 2015 following the change of controlling shareholder of the Company on 29
June 2015.

Mr. Zhang has approximately 25 years of experience in the real estate development
industry in China. From July 1983 to April 1995, Mr. Zhang held various positions
at the then Light Industry Bureau of Henan Province, the governmental authority
in charge of the light industry in Henan Province, and its associated collectively-
owned enterprises, including division chief, engineer and vice manager, where he
was responsible for administrative management. From April 1995 to April 2001, he
worked at Xingye Real Estate as general manager, where he was responsible for
its overall operations. Mr. Zhang and Ms. Huang cofounded a real estate company
which has become one of the top 100 property development companies in China.
Mr. Zhang has served as the Chairman and chief executive officer of this top 100
real estate company since 2001. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and general management of our Group and is instrumental to our growth
and business expansion. Mr. Zhang is the spouse of Ms. Huang.

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in physics from Zhengzhou University in
July 1983 and an Executive MBA degree from Guanghua School of Management,
Peking University in July 2013. Mr. Zhang currently serves as senior consultant of
Henan Real Estate Chamber of Commerce, vice-president of Industry & Commerce
Association of Henan Province, graduate tutor of Zhengzhou University. During the
years of 2016, 2017 and 2018, Mr. Zhang was named “Outstanding Real Estate
Developer of Henan Province by Real Estate Association of Henan Province. Mr.
Zhang received his senior engineer qualification from the People’s Government
of Henan Province in May 2012, he received his first class construction engineer
qualification from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development. Mr. Zhang
is also currently a delegate of the 13th Henan Provincial People’s Congress since
January 2018.

Currently, Mr. Zhang is a non-executive director of Bank of Zhengzhou Co., Ltd.,
whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002936)
and on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code:
6196) and, the Chairman Ex-officio and a director of Global Medical REIT. Inc., a
listed company on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: GMRE) and an executive
director and the Chairman of Zanyu Technology Group Co. Ltd., a listed company
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002637).

REE
TIE - ITEEFRITHAER

RHELEE  BEA+TER > RARRIE  MTE
ERTBRELRZZEGMHFMHEZEGNKE - KL
ERRARBDETHBERRANES - TR _ZE—1F
NAZTNABRERERESER  R-T-AFEARX
REEREARRRESS -

REANRTEEHERBSTEREN T RAFLR -
BE—hANZ=ZFtAZE—NMNAFEFWNAHME  REE
BETIEEETE¥E(ARETEEE T ¥ Y KRT#%
B)REMEBERMEH ¥ ZEBMN - BEM
FE IRAMEILE BETHREER - B—NLAA
FOMAE-TT—FP0 AHIR - 57 HE 2 E Xingye
Real Estate) BT /E4CIE - B R AR EELE - RELE
HHuangZ T HRAEIY —REMER A © ZAREK
AREMEREEARANRZ— cREEETT—F
BETZENEERARMNERERTHRAR - REAE
BEAKECZERBREBH TR —RER  TEHASL
EEBEREREFERE o R E BHuangZ - 2 B8 -

REER-NAN=ZFLABSEMNAEYERIBRS
TBA IR T -=FLARGIERARE N EERE
BERESHREBABIRERMBELTEMN - RELBAE
FrmEEEXHNESRER  THE Iokax
BREMRNBHREGH - REER-T—X %
—tERCE-NFEE=FRIEERMEX BT
REEAFHERELSEBA - RELBTEHEARRK
FRESMATIEMERE TR -_T-—"FHARKES
MR RAE T —REEMER - BT~ N\F—
R REEN/AIBEF T ZEARRRRERE

REE BRI ARINEFZ S (RHASE : 002936)
REBBERXZAERRG NI - 6196) LA A
MBITRDBRARZIENITES - ROEHFX S
/A F] Global Medical REIT. Inc (NYSERX 2 {55 -
GMRE) ?HtE X R RESURFIEAR G ETA
RIEFRBEERMDARA R (BRMHAHR : 002637)H
WITEFEREER -



34

EREXFRAHF

Zensun Enterprises Limited

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEEREREEE

HUANG YANPING
Non-Executive Director

Ms. Huang, aged 58, is the Non-Executive Director of the Company. Ms. Huang
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She was appointed to
the Board on 27 July 2015 following the change of controlling shareholder of the
Company on 29 June 2015.

Ms. Huang has over 18 years’ experiences in the property development and
investment industry in the PRC. Ms. Huang has been involved in the development
of not less than 36 property development projects in Henan Province, Shandong
and Hainan Province in the PRC with a total gross floor area of not less than 14
million sg.m.. She is one of the founders of a real estate company which has
become one of the top 100 property development companies in the PRC.

Ms. Huang is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, an Executive Director. As at 31 December
2019, Ms. Huang is interested in 7,697,492,188 Shares, which were registered in
the name of Joy Town Inc., an immediate Shareholder of the Company, of which
Ms. Huang is the sole director. Ms. Huang set up a discretionary trust and acts as
settlor and protector of the discretionary trust, the trustee of which is Vistra Trust
(Singapore) Pte Limited, the ultimate holding company of the Company. Save
as disclosed herein, Ms. Huang did not have any other interests in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debenture of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

ZHANG GUOQIANG
Executive Director

Mr. Zhang Guogiang, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the Company. He
was appointed to the Board on 27 July 2015 following the change of controlling
shareholder on 29 June 2015.

Between August 1983 to October 1997, Mr. Zhang worked as a tutor at the
Communication Command Academy of PLA, now known as the National Defence
Information Academy of PLA. Between October 1997 to March 2003, Mr. Zhang
served as the director of the marketing department of Wuhan Research Institute
of Post & Telecommunications, also known as FiberHome Technologies Group, a
product and solution provider in the field of information and telecommunications,
where he was responsible for marketing. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang
worked as a general manager at Nanjing North Road Technologies Co., Ltd.,
a coal analysis equipment manufacturer, from May 2003 to November 2005,
where he was responsible for general management. Mr. Zhang joined the real
estate company co-founded by Mr. Zhang Jingguo and Ms. Huang in 2006
and is responsible for the management of marketing centre and tendering and
procurement centre. Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’s degree in radio science
from Zhengzhou University in July 1983. In 1988, Mr. Zhang received his
lecturer qualification from the National Defence Information Academy of PLA
and received his engineer qualification from Wuhan Research Institute of Post of
Telecommunications.
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LIU DA
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Liu Da, aged 44, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director on
27 July 2015.

Mr. Liu graduated from the University of International Business and Economics
with a major in international business administration and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics. Mr. Liu is also a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) in
China. Mr. Liu served as an audit manager and a senior audit manager of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) Guangzhou Office from 1998 to 2009 and
Chicago Office from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Liu provided audit and consulting services
to a number of global top 500 enterprises and overseas listed Chinese companies
during his tenure of office in PwC. Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive director
and the chief financial officer of the Landsea Green Properties Co., Ltd., a listed
company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 106) from 31 July 2013 to 5 January 2015 and was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Long Ji Tai He Holding Limited a listed
company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock
Code: 1281) from 26 February 2015 to 16 October 2015. Currently, Mr. Liu is the
managing partner of Key Wealth Capital Company Limited, providing financing and
overseas mergers and acquisition services to Chinese enterprises.

MA YUNTAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ma Yuntao, aged 40, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive
Director on 27 July 2015.

Mr. Ma has been serving at Jia Yuan Law Firm as a registered partner from July
2010 up to now, and became the managing partner and senior partner of China
Overseas Financing Department (f E/&4 gt & Z8F9) in early 2014. He served
at Commerce & Finance Law Offices from July 2002 to June 2010, engaging in
securities business as to PRC laws. He acquired qualifications as a practicing
solicitor in 2006 and registered as a partner at Commerce & Finance Law Offices in
early 2010.
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Mr. Ma ran projects including the IPO project of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 3320) which is principally engaged in the research and development,
manufacturing, distribution and retail of a broad range of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products, the privatization and delisting project of Hunan Nonferrous
Metals Company Limited, a company formerly listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2626) which was principally engaged in nonferrous metallic
mineral resources mining business, IPO project of Guorui Properties Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2329) which is
principally engaged in real estate development, IPO project of Tianhe Chemicals
Group Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1619) which is principally engaged in fluorochemical and chemical products
production, IPO project of Poly Culture Group Corporation Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3636) which is principally
engaged in culture industry involving theatre management, artwork auction and
investment, IPO project of Kerry Logistics Network Limited, a company listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0636) which is principally engaged
in logistics, IPO project of eprint Group Limited, a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1884) which is principally engaged in internet
printing, spin-off listing in respect of Tonly Electronics Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1249) which is principally
engaged in production of electronics products of TCL Multimedia Technology
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1070) which is principally engaged in production of electronics products,
very substantial acquisition project of China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0966)
which is principally engaged in insurance, and IPO project of China Aluminum
International Engineering Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2068) which is principally engaged in nonferrous
engineering design and construction.

LIU QIAO
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Liu Qiao, aged 50, was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director
on 27 July 2015.

Dr. Liu is Professor of Finance and Dean at the Guanghua School of Management.
He is a leading authority in the area of finance in the PRC, and is recognized for his
academic works in corporate finance, financial markets, and the Chinese economy.

Dr. Liu is the winner of Outstanding Youth Award of the National Science
Foundation (2013), and was awarded “Li Yining Outstanding Service Award”,
the highest award in the Guanghua School of Management in 2013. He is also
the Ministry of Education “Changdiang Scholar” Special Term Professor. Before
he joined Guanghua in late 2010, Dr. Liu taught in the Faculty of Business and
Economics, University of Hong Kong, and was tenured at University of Hong Kong.
Dr. Liu also worked at McKinsey & Company’s Asia-Pacific Corporate Finance
and Strategy Practice from 2001 to 2003, where he advised various multinational
corporations (MNCs) and leading Asian companies on issues related to corporate
finance and strategies. Dr. Liu holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree in Economics
from University of California at Los Angeles (UCLA) (2000), an Master of Arts in
International Finance from the Graduate School of People’s Bank of China (1993),
and a Bachelor of Science in Economics and Mathematics from the Renmin
University of China (1991).
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Dr. Liu’s primary academic research interests are in corporate finance, empirical
asset pricing models, financial markets, and Chinese economy. He has published
dozens of articles at leading academic journals including Journal of Financial
Economics, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, Journal of Accounting
Research, Management Science, Economic Journal, Journal of Corporate Finance,
Journal of Accounting, Auditing, and Finance, Financial Analysts Journal, etc. He
has co-edited a book on the Asian debt capital markets — “Asia’s debt capital
markets: prospects and strategies for development” (Springer, 2006). His co-
authored book titled “Finance in Asia: Institutions, Regulation and Policy” (with
Paul Lejot and Douglas Arner) was released by Routledge in March 2013. Dr. Liu
is the author of the Chinese bestseller “Big to Brilliant: the Second Long March of
Corporate China.” and “Big to Brilliant 2.0: Reconstructing the underpinnings of
China’s High-Quality Development” Dr. Liu is also the author of “Corporate China
2.0: The Great Shakeup” which was published by end of 2016. And his new book
“The Finance We Love: Reconstruct China’s Finance in the New Era” has been
published in 2019. Besides academic research, Dr. Liu also writes articles for
leading business newspapers and magazines. His articles and views appear in the
The Economist, Financial Times, CFO Magazine, 21st Century Business Herald,
Caijing Magazine, New Fortune, The Asian Wall Street Journal and South China
Morming Post.

Dr. Liu has extensive business experiences. Over the past ten years, he has
conducted numerous consulting projects for leading Chinese firms and MNCs
including PetroChina, Minsheng Bank, Mercedes Benz (China), Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, among many others. Dr. Liu is the founder of Huaxinhui, a platform
focusing on advising China’s local governments on financing issues. He pioneers
the practice of compiling balance sheets of local governments, and providing
China’s local governments with market-based credit ratings. He is a strong
advocate of including local government credit rating as one major key performance
indicator to cope with China’s fast growing local government debts.

Dr. Liu is an independent non-executive director of both CSC Financial Co. Ltd.
(stock code: 6066) since 20 August 2016 and China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd. (stock
code: 3968) since 30 November 2018, the shares of both companies are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and an independent
non-executive director of Beijing Capital Co. Ltd., a listed company on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600008).
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Mr. Kwok Pak Shing (Alex), aged 35, joined the Company in July 2018. Since
20 November 2018, Mr. Kwok is appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and a
Joint Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Kwok is responsible for the Group’s
strategic planning, corporate finance activities, oversight of financial reporting and
investor relations.

Mr. Kwok has over 13 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial
management and corporate governance matters. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Kwok worked as a manager at a reputable international accounting firm, and as the
company secretary and financial controller in two listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006 with a degree
of bachelor of arts in business studies.

Mr. Kwok is an independent non-executive director of Starrise Media Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 1616) since 27 March 2020, the shares of which is listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yuen Ping Man (Dickman), aged 56, is a joint Company Secretary and
the Chief Operating Officer (Hong Kong) responsible for the Group’s corporate
secretarial functions and business operations.

Mr. Yuen has over 20 years of managerial experience in corporate secretarial,
business development, human resources and general administration. Mr. Yuen was
previously the chief operating officer of Xpress Finance Limited (“Xpress Finance”),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company responsible for compliance,
human resource, operations, sales and marketing, customer service and general
administration of Xpress Finance. Prior to joining Xpress Finance in June 1997, Mr.
Yuen worked in two listed groups and a financial institution in managerial position.

Mr. Yuen is a fellow member of the Chartered Governance Institute (U.K.), the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Society of Registered Financial
Planners, a senior member of The Hong Kong Institute of Marketing, a professional
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management, a member
of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute, the Chartered Institute of
Marketing (U.K.) and the Hong Kong Institute of Purchasing & Supply.

Mr. Yuen holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration and is also a certified
risk planner.

Ms. Leung Ka Ying (Priscilla), aged 33, joined the Company in April 2016 as
Financial Controller and is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
and financial management functions. Ms. Leung obtained her bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration in Professional Accountancy from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2008. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants with over 12 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Leung worked as a manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers and finance manager of a Hong Kong listed group.
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United States Management

Mr. Jeffrey Busch, aged 62, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group’s
85%-owned U.S. subsidiary, IA Group, and oversees all of IA Group’s REIT
management and real estate activities in the U.S.. Mr. Busch is also Chairman,
President and the Chief Executive Officer of GMR, a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: GMRE).

Mr. Busch has more than two decades of real estate experience as a developer,
manager and investor, and has held senior positions representing the U.S.
government — he was appointed by two U.S. Presidents to serve in senior
administration capacities, including Assistant Secretary of the U.S. Housing and
Urban Development (“HUD”) agency, and as U.S. Ambassador to the United
Nations in Geneva, Switzerland. At HUD, Mr. Busch oversaw an annual budget of
over US$3 billion used to develop housing and commercial real estate.

As a principal investor, Mr. Busch has developed properties valued at hundreds
of millions of U.S. dollars in various real estate asset classes, including large-scale
residential, commercial, hospitality, and retail projects.

Mr. Busch is a graduate of the New York University Stern School of Business,
holds a Master of Public Administration from New York University, and also a
Doctor of Jurist Prudence from Emory University.

Mr. Robert J. Kiernan, aged 53, is the Chief Financial Officer of IA Group and
GMR. Mr. Kiernan is a financial executive with 30 years of successful experience
in financial accounting, reporting and management. He joined IA Group and GMR
in August 2017 as its Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Kiernan’s experience includes
initial and secondary public offerings, business combinations, quarterly, annual and
other filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”),
and compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley internal control requirements. His extensive
management and accounting experience has focused on the financial services
industry, including broker dealers, mortgage REITs, and investment funds.

Prior to becoming IA Group’s and GMR’s Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Kiernan
served as the Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
of FBR & Co. (“FBR”, NASDAQ: FBRC) commencing in October 2007. Prior to
joining FBR, Mr. Kiernan served as the Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief
Accounting Officer of Arlington Asset Investment Corp. (“Arlington Asset”, NYSE:
Al) commencing in April 2003. Prior to joining Arlington Asset, Mr. Kiernan was a
senior manager in the assurance practice at Ernst & Young.

Mr. Kiernan holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting, Mount St. Mary’s
University, Cum Laude (1987) and is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Alfonzo Leon, aged 44, is the Chief Investment Officer of IA Group, the
external advisor to GMR and is responsible for investment strategy, acquisition
execution and deal sourcing.

Mr. Leon is a real estate finance executive with over 20 years of acquisition and
capital markets experience with approximately 150 completed transactions on
behalf of institutional investors valued at US$3.5 billion. Prior to joining 1A Group
in 2014, Mr. Leon was a Senior Vice President with Cain Brothers & Company,
a boutique health care investment banking firm based out of New York and San
Francisco, within their real estate M&A and capital markets group. Mr. Leon joined
Cain Brothers in 2005 and worked with leading clients across the health care
spectrum including several health systems, multi-specialty physician groups, senior
housing operators, NYSE listed and non-traded REITs, health care developers,
and private equity investors. Prior to Cain Brothers, Mr. Leon was a real estate
underwriter with LaSalle Investment Management, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Jones Lang LaSalle (NYSE: JLL) within its North American acquisition group. Mr.
Leon joined LaSalle in 2000 and was responsible for acquiring multi-family, office,
medical office, and industrial property on behalf of institutional investors which
included the nation’s largest pension funds, college endowments and sovereign
wealth funds.

Mr. Leon is an expert in transaction structuring, capital raising, executing
commercial real estate acquisitions and M&A for transactions ranging in size from
US$5 million to US$500 million. Mr. Leon’s asset expertise within the health care
sector includes medical office, outpatient facilities, surgical facilities, post-acute
facilities, senior housing, and hospitals.

Mr. Leon received his Master’s degree in real estate finance from The
Massachusetts Institutes of Technology and his B.S. in Architecture from The
University of Virginia.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The Directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

By a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 12 June 2019, it was resolved that the Company’ s name
be changed from “ZH International Holdings Limited [E/EEEZERAR AT to
“Zensun Enterprises Limited [EEE AR A A]" effective on 8 July 2019, the
date on which the certificate of change of name was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and together with
its subsidiaries engages in property development, property investment and
management, project management and sales services and securities trading and
investment. The activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by principal operating segments for
the year is set out in the note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on page 79.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company was founded in 1965, with business focus on property development,
property investment and management, project management and sales services
and securities trading and investment in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas.

A detailed business review for the Year, including further discussions of important
events occurred since the end of the financial year, likely future development of the
Group’s business and financial performance review with financial key performance
indicators, are set out in “Chairman’s Message” on pages 4 to 8, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 32, “Financial Summary” on page 187,
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively. These discussions
form part of this report.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental, Social and Governance
Report under Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified
in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Under our current risk management and internal control system, regular review of
the principal risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, business and prospects are maintained. There may be other
risks and uncertainties further to the following key risk areas and uncertainties
currently identified by the Group.

The Group’s performance on businesses of property development in the PRC
and property investment and/or management on AHR and GMR in the U.S.
are susceptible to the macro-economic and industrial government policies and
controls in the PRC and the U.S.. Any changes of these policies may penetrate
into the overall national economic conditions, and influence changes in consumer
confidence, consumption spending and preferences in property market in the PRC
and also medical and healthcare services in the U.S..
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The Group’s operation is also subject to certain risk factors pertaining to
businesses of property development in the PRC, property investment and
management in the U.S. and other regions. Lack of availability of potential land
resources in the PRC, shortage of construction materials, equipment and skilled
labour, default on the part of our customers, construction contractors, business
partners and tenants, adverse weather conditions, other unexpected inadequacies
or failure of internal process or other external factors may have various levels of risk
on the Group’s operations.

The Group’s financial risks and management are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In response to these possible risks and uncertainties, the Group continues to
implement a series of internal control and strategies to adapt itself to cope with
the possible risks and changes. The Group also develops and reviews strategies,
policies and guidelines on risk control which enable the Group to monitor closely
and formulate business strategies to respond to risk promptly and effectively. The
Group also actively proposes measures to minimise any potential business impact
on the Group from these possible risks and uncertainties.

Key stakeholder relationships

To build a solid foundation for the Group’s sustainable development, the
Group recognise its employees, customers and business partners being the
key stakeholders and maintain a continuous dialogue with them. The Group is
dedicated to establish a close and supporting relationship with its employees,
provide quality products and services to customers and strengthen all kinds of
cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a healthy and safe workplace, career development
opportunities and competitive remuneration and benefits to employees on their
qualifications in accordance with industry practise in the geographical locations
in which they are located. To treasure its loyal and industrious staff members
and improve their performance at their positions, different forms of rewards and
compensation including salaries, provident fund, bonus, insurance coverage, or
share options, etc, will be considered and reviewed on annual basis based on
performance appraisals for eligible employees.

Maintaining close relationship with its customers as well as tenants are paramount
to the long-term success for the Group. Interacting channels with customers and
tenants are established to identify and respond to the dynamic market needs
proactively, improve the quality of products and services to adhere to customers’
needs and preference timely. In a long run, it fosters customer to enhance brand
recognition on the Group with a trust-worthy basis.

The Group is also committed to develop fair and co-operating business partnership
with suppliers and contractors to ensure stability of the Group’s operation. Through
a series of standardised procurement process including the tendering procedures,
cost and quality of the procurement supply of the Group are able to be monitored,
assessed and evaluated reasonably. The Group continuously upholds an effective
communication with suppliers to deliver quality products and services to customers
for the long-term sustainability.

Compliance with laws and regulations

As far as the Company is aware of, the Group has complied with applicable laws
and regulations promulgated by the relevant regulatory bodies which are significant
to the operations of the Group.
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of businesses and
communities with which it engages. We pursue this business approach by
managing our business prudently and executing management decisions with due
care and attention to balance the sustainable business growth and environmental
protection.

The Group endeavors to make improvements by promoting environmental friendly
policies in the Group’s operations and increasing the employee’s awareness over
environmental protection. By means of advocating eco-friendly and reusable
materials, paper-recycling and energy saving measures on office equipment and
appliances, it helps enhance efficient use of resources, energy efficiency and
reduction of waste.

The Group is committed to act in an environmentally responsible manner to
review its environmental protection policies and activities from time to time for
implementation of any further measures and practices on environmental protection
in the business operation.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties of the Group at 31 December 2019 are set out
in “Hong Kong and Overseas Property Portfolio” on page 9, “Property Development
in the PRC and Project Summary” on pages 10 to 20 and “Particulars of Major
Investment Properties” on page 188.

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 14 and 15 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at the year end date. The
revaluation resulted in an increase in fair value of approximately RMB2.25 million
which has been credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

SHARE CAPITAL

During the Year, the Company issued new ordinary share by way of subscription
and increased the number of issued shares. Details of the subscription and the
movement in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set out under
below section headed “Capital Raising Activities and the Use of Proceeds” and
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 83.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB209.1 million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately RMBO0.4 million.
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There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of association of
the Company or the laws of Hong Kong, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares to existing shareholders of the Company on a pro-rata basis.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 187.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company had not redeemed any of its listed securities during the Year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the Year.

CAPITAL RAISING ACTIVITIES AND THE USE OF
PROCEEDS

On 2 May 2019, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Joy
Town Inc., a controlling shareholder of the Company as subscriber, pursuant to
which the subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue 4,117,879,979 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.38 per subscription share under the specific
mandate. The share subscription was completed on 15 August 2019 and the
subscription shares represented approximately 40.00% of the then of issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issuance of the
subscription shares.

The subscription proceeds, after deducting the related issuance expenses,
amounted to approximately RMB1,426.6 million and were applied during the Year
in accordance with the intended manner as set out in the Company’s circular dated
23 May 2019, as follow:

BRBEERE

ANREBERMARRETRENNEEHELEER
ZIEX > BEARBERLOIRBRARRE 2 RRE
EHAAD ©

MBHE

AEBBEAAVREEZEEREERABHREH
MRE187HE -
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ARARKFEABEBEEA LDES - ARAR
B (2 RO B PO A0 B o R A A E
fEmE% -

EXRBEEHREEMERRAR

AABEARNF 2R Joy Town Inc. ({EARE
NFTURERE - Bt - BEBFIEE  REBASHE
BHERERBRAAFEERGRAZEERAEETRR
B8 A% 19 0.387%8 JT id 8 & 3£174,117,879,979 I R B %
B BOHRBER-ZT—ILFNAT+TEBEK ' KR
BROGARAAERERERETREBEROERANE
BEATIRANK940.00% ©

REMEBRBE(RINKRABZRTEAR) OARE
1,426,600,0007C * WA ARFEERERRAFR T
—NERAZ+=ZB2@K TR EERBRIMIA
THFAEA

Intended amount Actual amount

applied utilised
REEASE BEREASE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT
Subscription proceeds were applied for: REFRESRENA T A RER :
(i) 40% on construction payment for two () 40%# AR MIERITEREYEIER 570,633 570,633
ongoing property projects CEERER
under development
(i) 40% on repayment of bank loans (i) 40%EEHNEERITER 570,633 570,633
(iiiy 10% on acquisition of land use rights (i) 10%#t AR P EAFEMEHE HEIRT 142,659 142,659
through listing for sale process 1§ 2 L 0 R A 2 WA A AR
at public auctions in the PRC
(iv) 10% on general working capital (iv) 10%HARAER Y —REBEES 142,658 142,658
(including administrative expenses, (BFEITINR SR & IS HE R X
sales and marketing expenses and VAR TE B ATHARR BIRA)
preliminary project planning cost)
1,426,583 1,426,583

As at 31 December 2019, the entire net proceeds from the subscription have been
fully utilised towards the Group’s intended use of proceeds on the above manner.
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DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

On 28 January 2019, the Company completed the issuance of bonds at a principal
amount of US$100 million carrying interest of 8.0% per annum due on 22 January
2020 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement.
The bonds were unsecured but guaranteed by related companies, which are
ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang. The bonds proceeds had been fully utilised as
intended for general corporate purposes of the Group. Details of the bonds issuance
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 22 and 28 January 2019.

On 3 October 2019, the Company issued senior notes at a principal amount of
US$220 million carrying interest of 12.8% per annum due on 3 October 2021 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement (“2019
Original Notes”). Subsequently on 20 December 2019, the Company issued
additional senior notes at a principal amount of US$120 million under the same
terms and conditions of the subscription agreement of 2019 Original Notes. The
additional senior notes are consolidated with the 2019 Original Notes and form a
single series at an aggregated principal amount of US$340 million carrying interest
of 12.8% per annum due on 3 October 2021. The US$340 million senior notes
are listed and traded in the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The senior notes were
unsecured but guaranteed by related companies, which are ultimately controlled
by Ms. Huang. The net proceeds of the senior notes were intended to refinance
existing indebtedness and for project developments and general corporate
purposes. Details of the senior notes issuance are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2019, 3 October 2019, 12 December 2019
and 19 December 2019.

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors of the Company
The Directors during the Year and present Directors up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:
Zhang Jingguo
Zhang Guogiang

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Director:
Huang Yanping

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Liu Da

Liu Qiao

Ma Yuntao

In accordance with Articles 78 and 79 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules, Ms. Huang and Mr. Ma Yuntao will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday,
9 June 2020 (the “2020 AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the 2020 AGM are
set out in the circular to the shareholders sent together with this annual
report.

The Company has received from each of the independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of the independent
Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years which may be terminated in accordance
with the terms of the service agreements.
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No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2020 AGM has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which are not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than
normal statutory obligations.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 33 to 40.

(b) Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries
The directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the Year and up to the
date of this report are:

Bai Mengjun
Bie Sanjiang
Chen Peini, Connie
Chan Jiguo

(resigned on 1 July 2019)
(appointed on 29 April 2019)

Chen Weibing

Feng Hongfeng

Guo Wei

Huang Yanping

Jeffrey Busch

Liu Zhengaiang

Meng Yuming

Ng Minmin (appointed on 1 July 2019 and resigned on
1 December 2019)

Tan Shumei (appointed on 1 December 2019)

Wang Jinhu

Xing Zhumei

Zhang Huiqi

Zhang Guogiang

Zhang Yong

Zhang Jingguo

Zhao Weilin (resigned on 29 April 2019)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 9, 26, 29, 31 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its holding company,
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in notes 26 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements in
relation to the financial assistance provided by the controlling shareholder of the
Company to the Group and the transactions set out under sections headed “Related
Party Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” and disclosed
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, there was no contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the year or at
any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, together with those of the five highest
paid employees of the Group for the Year are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFQ”)) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or any
interest or short positions which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or any interests and short positions
which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

(i) Interest in the Shares of the Company
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Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
capital of the
Company (%)

Number of KA DT
Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held Shares held BRITRA
ERNE ERREEHD RO E it
Mr. Zhang Jingguo (“Mr. Zhang”) Spousal interest (Note 1) 7,697,492,188 74.77
SRANE S A (3R] BoiBE e (A1)
Ms. Huang Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 7,697,492,188 7477
Huangzz & Ry EE R (i 72)
Notes: Mt -
1) Mr. Zhang (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of 1) REE(ARABER THAHFHNTE

the Company) is the spouse of Ms. Huang, under SFO, he is deemed to
be interested in 7,697,492,188 Shares in which Ms. Huang is interested.

) 7,697,492,188 Shares are directly held by Joy Town Inc., which is
ultimately owned by a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang
Yanping as settlor and protector and Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited
as trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned by Zensun Group Limited.
Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Notable Reward
Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises
Limited and the entire issued share capital of Superior Glory Enterprises
Limited became assets of the trust. Superior Glory Enterprises Limited,
Notable Reward Limited, Zensun Group Limited and Joy Town Inc. are
holding companies of the Company, each of them is an associated
corporation of the Company under SFO.

) AHuangZ Tt 2 BB - REZFHFRBEE
5B - BB AR HangZ tHAEZE 2
7,697,492,188/R A 7 ¥ A i ax o

) 7,697,492,188% f% % F3 Joy Town Inc. H##
B - H&MHHaung YanpingZ + I 1E A
Z 5t AR A K | Vistra Trust (Singapore)
Pte Limited/E 8 X sE AR 2 RIEFTAES
Joy Town Inc. HIFEEBR AR ZEHE ©
IE 5 E ABR A 7] ANotable Reward Limited
22 &N AR - fNotable Reward Limited
| Superior Glory Enterprises Limited & &
A 1 Superior Glory Enterprises Limited 2
EBEEBEITIRAK BT EE - Superior
Glory Enterprises Limited - Notable Reward
Limited + 1F B 5% B B R 2 7 &Joy Town Inc.
HAEARRBZZERAR  BEEABEFMBEE
1RGITE T AR E) 2 BEEE
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Long Positions

(i

Interest in ordinary shares of associated corporations of the Company

(i

RN RIARE A B B AP ey R s

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Capacity in which the Number of the issued share

Name of Director associated corporation interests are held share held capital (%)

iR NEEEBCEEC BT

EEpnA HEEEERE ERiEEESH RHEE RA&A B

Ms. Huang Superior Glory Interest of controlled 1 100

Enterprises Limited corporation (Note)

HuangZ + S EE S (i)

Ms. Huang Notable Reward Limited Interest of controlled 1 100

corporation (Note)

Huang# £ REEERE S (M)

Ms. Huang Zensun Group Limited Interest of controlled 1 100

corporation (Note)

Huang#z 4= EEEEBERAF R E R (Aat)

Ms. Huang Joy Town Inc. Beneficial owner (Note) 1 100

Huang#z & BEmEB AN )

Note: 7,697,492,188 shares are directly held by Joy Town Inc., which are et - 7,697,492,188/% i 7 B3 Joy Town Inc. B # 7
ultimately owned by a discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang B E&&HHaung YanpingZ LI 1E A
Yanping as settlor and protector and Vistra Trust (Singapore) Pte Limited Z 5t AMR A K2 F Vistra Trust (Singapore)
as trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned by Zensun Group Limited. Pte Limited/E AR E AN R EEEMESR ©
Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Notable Reward Joy Town Inc. A ERSEE AR AR ZEHRE ©
Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises & E ABR A 5] ANotable Reward Limited
Limited and the entire issued share capital of Superior Glory Enterprises 22 &WEB AR mNotable Reward Limited
Limited became assets of the trust. Superior Glory Enterprises Limited, | Superior Glory Enterprises Limited & &
Notable Reward Limited, Zensun Group Limited and Joy Town Inc. are & i Superior Glory Enterprises Limited &
holding companies of the Company, each of them is an associated HEBITIRAK R EEEFEHEE © Superior
corporation of the Company under SFO. Ms. Huang is the sole director Glory Enterprises Limited - Notable Reward
of Joy Town Inc. and Notable Reward Limited and Mr. Zhang is the sole Limited + [EF & E AR 2 & &Joy Town Inc.
director of Zensun Group Limited. HERRBIZIERAR  BEEABHFREH

EIRPITE T AR A 2 A5 EE © HuangZ 74
Joy Town Inc. &zNotable Reward Limited,Z It
—EBF MREESEFEEERAF 2~
EF-

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, chief BEXHEEIN  R_E—NE+-_A=+—

executive of the Company or their respective associates had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which: (a) were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section of “Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate and neither the directors nor any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue attributable to the largest customer of the Group
accounted to approximately 0.7% of the total revenue in the year and the five
largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
revenue in the Year.

During the Year, purchases attributable to the largest supplier of the Group
amounted to approximately 32.8% of the total purchases in the year and the five
largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 52.3% of the Group’s
purchases in the Year.

Mr. Zhang Jingguo, being an Executive Director, has beneficial interest in one of the
five largest suppliers disclosed above during the Year. The transactions have been
detailed under the below section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company) had an interest in these major customers or
suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, certain Directors and companies controlled by certain Directors
entered into transactions with the Group which are disclosed in notes 26 and 40
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions”, the Board confirmed that none of these
related party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the following transactions are
continuing connected transactions which are subject to the requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Continuing Connected Transactions with Zensun Development
Group

In 2015, a master services agreement (“Master Services Agreement”) has been
entered into between the Company and Henan Zensun Corporate Development
Company Limited (“Zensun Development”), pursuant to which, Zensun
Development has agreed to provide, or procure members of Zensun Development,
its subsidiaries and or to control the composition of a major of the board of
directors/or any of its subsidiaries taken together are directly or interested so as to
exercise or control 30% or more voting power (the “Zensun Development Group”)
to provide construction and related ancillary services to the Group according to the
definitive agreement(s) signed between Zensun Development Group and the Group
from time to time. On 21 February 2017, the Company and Zensun Development
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “2017 Supplemental Agreement”)
to, among other matters, extend the effective term of the Master Services
Agreement to 31 December 2019. On 11 October 2018, the Company entered
into a supplemental agreement with Zensun Development (2018 Supplemental
Agreement”) to further amend the effective terms of the Master Services
Agreement as amended by the 2017 Supplemental Agreement to be three years
from 1 January 2018 and continue up to 31 December 2020. During the year of
2018, the revised annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master
Services Agreement as amended by the 2017 Supplemental Agreement and 2018
Supplemental Agreement (the “Renewed 2018 Master Services Agreement”) for
each of the financial years ended/ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 have
been approved to be RMB1,133 million, RMB2,404 million and RMB1,534 million,
respectively.

As Zensun Development is owned as to 90%, 9% and 1% by Beijing Xiangcheng
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Xiangcheng Investment”), Ms. Zhang Huigi (“Ms. Zhang”)
and Mr. Zhang, respectively. Xiangcheng Investment is owned as to 98% by Ms.
Zhang and Ms. Zhang is the daughter of Mr. Zhang and Ms. Huang, the Executive
Director and Non-Executive Director of the Company. Zensun Development is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the transactions constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the annual cap (the “2019 Annual Cap”) approved for the
continuing connected transactions between the Group and Zensun Development
Group under the Renewed 2018 Master Services Agreement was RMB2,404
million and the actual transacted amounts were approximately RMB2,052.5 million
which did not exceed the 2019 Annual Cap.

Continuing Connected Transactions with Ever Diamond Group

On 4 November 2019, the Management and Sales Services Framework Agreement
(“Framework Agreement”) has been entered into between the Company and Ever
Diamond Global Company Limited (“Ever Diamond”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Ever Diamond Group”), pursuant to which, the Ever Diamond Group appointed
the Group as its service provider to provide the management services and the
sales services to the Ever Diamond Group during the period from the effective
date of the Framework Agreement up to and including 31 December 2021 and
the annual caps for each of the three financial years ended/ending 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 are RMB220 million, RMB310 million and RMB200 million,
respectively. Relevant members of the Ever Diamond Group may from time to
time enter into individual agreement(s) with members of the Group in relation to
the provision of the management services and sales services, subject to the terms
and conditions of the Framework Agreement. The Framework Agreement and the
annual caps mentioned above were approved by the independent shareholders
of the Company in the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20
December 2019. For the details of the terms of the Framework Agreement, please
refer to the Company’s circular dated 3 December 2019.
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The entire issue share capital of Ever Diamond is wholly owned by a discretionary
trust established by Ms. Huang as settlor and protector, The discretionary trust is
interested in approximately 74.77% of the issued share capital of the Company. As
such, Ever Diamond is a connected person of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the annual cap for the financial year ended 31 December 2019
approved for the continuing connected transactions between the Group and the
Ever Diamond Group under the Framework Agreement was RMB220 million. No
relevant transactions was carried out during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Each of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The independent Non-
Executive Directors confirmed that each of the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Year have been entered into

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and
(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms

that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has engaged the
auditor of the Company to conduct certain procedures in respect of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagement 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has also issued an unqualified letter containing the
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

In accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagement 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagement Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, the auditor has also reported to the Board that for the year ended
31 December 2019, nothing has come to their attention that in respect of: a)
the continuing connected transactions, governed by the Renewed 2018 Master
Services Agreement: (i) have not received the approval of the Board; (ii) have
not been entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions; and (iii) have exceeded the relevant
cap amount for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as set out in the
circular dated 22 November 2018, by the Company in respect of the continuing
connected transactions; and b) the continuing connected transactions governed
by the Framework Agreement: (i) have not received the approval of the Board; (ii)
have been entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions, and (i) have exceeded the relevant cap
amount for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as set out in the circular
dated 3 December 2019, by the Company in respect of the continuing connected
transactions.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Zensun Enterprises Limited

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register of interest in Shares and
underlying Shares and short positions kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of Part XV of the SFO and so far as is known to or can be ascertained after
reasonable enquiries by the Directors, the persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company are as follows:

FERR
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REIEIGDIEXVERE336157F B 2 I th R IB R {7 #
wmAORBERM  ARBEERAIMAIRIELARE
ERRIETE - BEREEERAQFRD MEBR
Po% WA LEZ AL (EFHARAETETHRAE
BN

Long positions in the Shares of the Company RAEAQNFRBZHFE
Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
Number of capital of the
Name of shareholder Nature of interests Shares held Company (%)
KA QR B BT
REREE ERtE FERGEE RA&ABDL
Vistra Trust (Singapore) Trustee (Note) 7,697,492,188 7477
Pte Limited SREA (A7)
Superior Glory Interest of controlled corporation (Note) 7,697,492,188 7477
Enterprises Limited Sy E R (M)
Notable Reward Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note) 7,697,492,188 7477
R A E (M5
Zensun Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation (Note) 7,697,492,188 7477
FEEEARAA AR (M)
Joy Town Inc. Beneficial owner (Note) 7,697,492,188 7477
BEmma AN T)
Note: Biaz -

These Shares are directly owned by Joy Town Inc., which are ultimately owned by a
discretionary trust established by Ms. Huang as settlor and protector and Vistra Trust
(Singapore) Pte Limited as trustee. Joy Town Inc. is wholly-owned by Zensun Group
Limited. Zensun Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Notable Reward Limited,
which in turn is wholly-owned by Superior Glory Enterprises Limited and the entire issued
share capital of Superior Glory Enterprises Limited became assets of the trust. Ms.
Huang is the sole director of Joy Town Inc. and Notable Reward Limited and Mr. Zhang is
the sole director of Zensun Group Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person other than the
Directors whose interests are set out in the above section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Securities”, had registered
an interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital of the Company, and short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares that was required to be recorded in
the register of interest pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors was interested in any business,
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s businesses except that Mr. Zhang and Ms. Huang are individually
and collectively deemed interested in Zensun International Holdings Company
Limited and/or its subsidiaries and associated companies which are engaged in
construction, property development and related business in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of these companies, the Company has
therefore been capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the above businesses.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 August 2013, a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company. The purpose of the 2013 Scheme is to motivate eligible
persons who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The 2013
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended. Eligible persons of the 2013 Scheme include (i) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (i) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (iii)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (iv) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (v) a person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional services to any member of the Group; and (vi) a landlord or tenant
(including a sub-tenant) of any member of the Group. Subject to the terms of the
2013 Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time during the life of the 2013
Scheme to offer the grant of any option to any eligible person as the Board may in
its absolute discretion select and the basis of eligibility shall be determined by the
Board from time to time.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted is such number of shares which, when aggregated with
shares subject to any other share option scheme(s), must not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual general meeting
approving the 2013 Scheme on 28 August 2013. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible person in the 2013 Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to the
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company, or to any of their respective associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the options) of the Company. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject to the
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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The amount payable upon the acceptance of an option is HK$1.00. The period
within which an option must be exercised shall be such period as the Board may
in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant, save that such period shall
not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of grant of an option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board, but may not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of the annual general meeting approving the 2013 Scheme on
28 August 2013, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Options vested immediately and may be exercised
at any time not exceeding a period of 5 years from the date on which the share
options is accepted.

During the Year, no share options under the 2013 Scheme were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at the end of the reporting period, the Company
has no outstanding share options under the 2013 Scheme.

As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the 2013 Scheme is 350,068,637
shares, representing 3.4% of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date
of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into during the Year or subsisted at the end of the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes for the employees of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed “Other employee benefits — Retirement benefit
schemes” set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 58 to 70.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

Dividend Policy
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”). The Company
considers stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of the Company
to be its goal. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia:

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(if) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

(iif) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

(iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(v) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and industry’s norm;
(vii) the general market conditions; and
(viii)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Company’s articles of association and any other applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend
Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

Final Dividend

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMB1.67 cents,
amounting to a total dividend of RMB171,921,000 in the form of cash per Share for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to Shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 17 June 2020
(record date).

The proposed final dividend shall be declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong
dollars. The final dividend payable in Hong Kong dollars will be converted from
RMB at the central parity rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars published by the
People’s Bank of China as at Tuesday, 9 June 2020. Subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the 2020 AGM, it is expected that the final dividend will be paid to
the eligible Shareholders on or around Friday, 24 July 2020.

There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the Company has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Zensun Enterprises Limited

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after recommendation
from the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date of prior to the issue of this annual report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing
Rules, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
incurred or sustained by him as a Director. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Group throughout the year.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

During the Year, the Company was not involved in any litigation, arbitration or
claims of material importance and there was no litigation or claim of material
importance which was known to the Directors to be pending or threatened by or
against the Company.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

Details of the important events since the year end are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2020 AGM will be held on Tuesday, 9 June 2020 and the notice of the 2020
AGM will be published and despatched in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules and the Articles of Association of the Company in due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed for the following periods:

(@

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2020 AGM expected to be held on Tuesday, 9 June
2020, the register of members of the Company expected to be closed
on Thursday, 4 June 2020 to Tuesday, 9 June 2020, both days inclusive.
In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2020 AGM, all transfer
documents should be lodged for registration with the Company’s Share
Registrar, Tricor Friendly Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong expected not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 3
June 2020.

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who qualify for the final
dividend, the register of members of the Company expected to be closed
on Monday, 15 June 2020 to Wednesday, 17 June 2020, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer documents
should be lodged for registration with the Company’s Share Registrar,
Tricor Friendly Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong expected not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 June
2020.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Emnst & Young, who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2020 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

ZHANG JINGGUO
Chairman, Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer

27 March 2020
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The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance,
formulate good corporate governance practice to improve accountability and
transparency in operations, and strengthen the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group from time to time so as to cope with the expectations
of the shareholders of the Company.

Zensun Enterprises Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all code provisions
(“Code Provisions”) and, where applicable, the recommended best practices of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules throughout the year, save and except for the deviations from Code
Provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code as detailed below.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive of the Company should be segregated. The Board believes that
the arrangement that Mr. Zhang is the Chairman and also serves the function of
chief executive officer is necessary for the future development of the Group as Mr.
Zhang has profound expertise in the property business. The dual role arrangement
could provide strong and consistent market leadership and is critical for effective
management and business development of the Group. As all major decisions are
made in consultation with the members of the Board, the Board is therefore of the
view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure sufficient balance of
powers within the Board, and such dual role arrangement will not undermine the
current corporate governance structure of the Group.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiries with all Directors and each of them
confirmed that they have compiled with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the relevant employees of the Group who are considered likely to be in possession
of unpublished inside information of the Company or its securities on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code in relation to their dealings in the securities
of the Company pursuant to Code Provision A.6.4 of the CG Code. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees have complied with
the required standard of such code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its corporate
accountability, every Director is required to pursue excellence in the interests of its
shareholders and fulfill his fiduciary duties by applying the required level of skills,
care and diligence to a standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for formulating group policies and strategic business
directions, and monitoring business performances through implementation
of adequate risk management and internal control systems. The executive
Directors are delegated with the authorities and responsibilities for the day-to-day
management of the Group, operational and business decisions within the control
and delegation framework of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors (including
independent Non-Executive Directors) contribute valuable views, professional
opinions and proposals for the Board’s deliberation and decisions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;
(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(iif) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has delegated some of its functions to the board committees, details of
which are set out below.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company, including
appointment of new Directors, approval of financial statements, dividend policy,
significant accounting policies, material contracts, significant appointments such as
company secretary and external auditors, terms of reference of board committees,
major corporate policies such as code of conduct, and other significant financial
and operational matters.

The Board is also responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. It has carried out
review of the existing implemented systems, including control measures of financial
and operational compliance of the Group.

The Directors having material interest in the matter shall abstain from voting at such
Board meeting and the independent Non-Executive Directors with no conflict of
interest shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matters. All Directors ensure
that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their responsibilities to the affairs
of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to the Company the identity and
nature of offices held in any public organization and other significant commitments
on an annual basis.
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

During the Year, regular Board meetings of the Company were held four times
to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and interim results and
to review the business operations, corporate governance and the effectiveness
of internal control systems and risk management of the Group. At least 14 days’
notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes are kept
by the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board
meetings, the chairman also met with the independent Non-Executive Directors
without the presence of Executive Directors during the Year.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2019, the Board comprised six Directors including two
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director (“NED”) and three independent
Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The biographical details of the Directors and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 33 to 40.

Mr. Zhang is the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for leadership and effective functioning of
the Board, ensuring key issues are promptly addressed by the Board, as well as
providing strategic direction of the Group, take primary responsibility for ensuring
good corporate governance practices with necessary procedures established and
also together with other executive Directors are responsible for the Group’s daily
operations and the effective implementation of corporate strategy and policies.

Executive Directors
As at 31 December 2019, there were two Executive Directors including Mr. Zhang
and Mr. Zhang Guogiang. Mr. Zhang is the spouse of Ms. Huang.

Non-Executive Director
As at 31 December 2019 there was one NED, Ms. Huang. Ms. Huang is the
spouse of Mr. Zhang.

Independent Non-Executive Directors and their Independence
As at 31 December 2019, there were three INEDs including Dr. Liu Qiao, Mr. Liu
Da and Mr. Ma Yuntao.

The Company has appointed a sufficient number of INEDs in accordance with
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. With Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da’s
working experience and their academic background in finance and accounting, the
Company considers that they are qualified persons with appropriate professional
knowledge in accounting and finance as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.
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The Company has already received annual confirmation letters of independence
from all the INEDs and each of them have declared fulfilment of all the guidelines
for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Board considers that all INEDs are independent as defined in the
Listing Rules.

All the Directors, including the NED and INEDs, have entered into service
agreements with the Company under which all Directors must retire by rotation
at least once every three years, and no Director shall hold office for a continuous
period in excess of three years, or past the third annual general meeting, following
the Director’s appointment or re-election, whichever is longer, without submitting
himself/herself for re-election at the annual general meeting.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their role and function are available on the websites of the Company
(www.zensunenterprises.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The
Company will review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the
Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skill and experience to meet
the needs of the Group’s business and to enhance the shareholders’ value.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have
exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of
the Group. Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction to ensure that he or she has a proper understanding of the
business and operations of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her
duties and responsibilities as a director under applicable statutory and regulatory
rules and requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
so as to develop and refresh directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company regularly circulates training materials or briefings to all Directors
in respect of the updates on, among other things, the Listing Rules, the SFO
or guidelines, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and relevant financial or
accounting standards which may be of the interest to Directors. During the Year,
all Directors have complied with the Code Provisions in relation to continuous
professional development, apart from reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business, director’s duties and responsibilities. Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Mr. Zhang
Guogiang, Ms. Huang Yanping, Dr. Liu Qiao, Mr. Liu Da and Mr. Ma Yuntao also
attended and/or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding the Group’s business
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices. All Directors have
provided to the Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the Company for accurate and comprehensive
record keeping.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees including the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”)and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) to
assume responsibilities for and to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs with respective terms of reference. Details of the board committees are
discussed below.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are empowered to obtain independent’ professional advice at the
Company’s expense in appropriate circumstances.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings
During the Year, details of the Directors’ attendance in the following meetings are
set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HEGRRE BITEHRE

Annual Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
= ¥Eg ®BZEE®  FHZEe  R4ZEe BEASAE BREIA®
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Jingguo 4/4 N/A 11 11 11 2/2
R B S NiE A
Mr. Zhang Guogiang 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 2/2
SR B8 55 A TiEHA TEA TEA
NED
FEIITES
Ms. Huang Yanping 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 2/2
Huang Yanping % + TEA TEA TE A
INEDs
B IEITES
Dr. Liu Qiao 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 2/2
2L
Mr. Liu Da 4/4 2/2 N/A 11 11 2/2
RFELEAE TEA
Mr. Ma Yuntao 4/4 2/2 11 N/A 11 2/2
BERKE TEA
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREES

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing and monitoring the
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems of the Company,
including reassessment of the financial and accounting policies, review of interim
reports, annual reports and financial information, etc. In addition, the Audit
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board, to be put
to its shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting (“AGM”), in relation
to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor; review and
supervision of the external auditor in respect of its independence and objectivity,
the effectiveness of the audit procedures; formulation of policies on the provision
of non-audit services by the external auditor; handling any issues related to the
resignation or the removal of such auditor and the communication with the external
auditor on auditing matters.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee consisted of three members,
namely, Mr. Liu Da, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao who all are INEDs. Mr. Liu Da
is the chairman of the Audit Committee. In February 2019, the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee was updated taking into consideration the revised Listing
Rules effective from 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date version of the written
terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were convened. The Audit
Committee had performed the followings tasks, among others:

(i) reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018 and

interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2019;

(i) reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems;

(iif) discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their audit
findings;

(iv) reviewed the auditor’s remuneration;

(v) reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to determine the
provision of such services would affect the independence of the auditors;
and

(vi) performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed the corporate

governance policies and practices.

After due and careful consideration with all necessary financial information, and
reports from management and the external auditors, the Audit Committee noted
that no suspected fraud or irregularities, significant internal control deficiencies, or
suspected infringement of laws, rules, or regulations had been found in respect
of the Group, and concluded at the meeting held on 27 March 2020 that the risk
management and internal control systems were adequate and effective.

On 27 March 2020, the Audit Committee meeting was convened to review the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, including the accounting principles and practices, in conjunction with the
Company’s external auditor. The Audit Committee endorsed the accounting
treatment adopted by the Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best of
its ability assured itself that the disclosure of the financial information in the Annual
Report 2019 has complied with the applicable accounting standards and the
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Audit Committee
therefore resolved to recommend for the Board’s approval the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Emst
& Young as the auditor of the Company and that the relevant resolution shall be
put forth for it shareholders’ consideration and approval at the 2020 AGM.
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The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations
on and approving the remuneration policy and structure and packages of the
Directors and senior management to the Board. The Remuneration Committee
is also responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the Company
as well as the prevailing market conditions. The human resources department is
responsible for collection and administration of the human resources data for the
Remuneration Committee’s for consideration.

As at 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members, namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao. Dr. Liu
Qiao and Mr. Ma Yuntao are INEDs while Mr. Zhang Jingguo is an Executive
Director. Mr. Ma Yuntao is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
most up-to-date version of the written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held. The
Remuneration Committee had reviewed and approved the remuneration of
Executive Directors, NED and INEDs.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure,
size, diversity and composition of the Board regularly and make any changes
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, including making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board that assist
complementation of the Company’s corporate policy.

As at 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee consisted of three members,
namely, Mr. Zhang Jingguo, Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da. Mr. Zhang Jingguo is an
executive Director while Dr. Liu Qiao and Mr. Liu Da are INEDs. Dr. Liu Qiao is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. In February 2019, the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee was updated taking into consideration of the revised
Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date version of
the written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. The Board had
reviewed the current structure and composition of the Board and recommended Ms.
Zhang Guogiang and Mr. Liu Da to retire, and being eligible, offered themselves
for re-election in the 2019 AGM pursuant to Articles 78 and 79 of the Articles of
Association and Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code.

Under Article 78 of the Articles of Association, at each AGM, one-quarter of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of four, the number
nearest to one-fourth) shall retire from office by rotation. According to Article 83
of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or by way of addition to their number shall hold office only until the next
following AGM, and shall then be eligible for re-appointment. Every Director shall
be subject to retirement at least once every three years by rotation or offers himself
for re-election.

FMEES

FZEE e T EAE R ATHIEREBUARE
ErEREREZHHEN  MEFSRMEER - F
MEEGTABERIASBERAE ZIEF ARG B
MR 22 EANEEEIHEMNHEALES
ERFEAGZHB - ERFTHE2EBAARERA
REAEBUARTIHENRMRRETE - ANERDBEE
WEREEANEREE  AHFHEESERE -

RIZE-NAF+_A=+—0B FHEESRE=F
PRE - BISRHEEL  BIEBLURFERELE < 8
BELURSERETEYRBIIFNTESE  MERHY
BELARRTES - FERELERFNEES T
B HNEE e T mBERE L RHIRATRARE
KB X AR VA B

RAFERN  FHEZESGCET-REE - FHNEE
BORALHAERTES  ERITEERBIIEANT
BEEZHM -

B A BHRN A MBImRM T -

REZES

RAEERTEANRAETG M AE 57T
{487 30 1 M4 £ 0] AT 9 R AN 8 ) 2 8 S 2
B oERETEFGZRARDELEL AR
AR ATRE -

RZZB-AF+A=1+—0B REZEERE=%
BB - BISRARESEA - BIMEIE L RBERLE o REE
EERBTESR  MBEFELRIELEERBILIEHR
TEF -ZHEBLIRREZEEFIR -HAEN_-F
—NE-A-BERZETLHRA REEZEFR
REBECR - Z-NF_AEH  -RREZEGEERE
REHE 2 BHTIRA AR A R B R Bk 2 PRk & ] -

MAFER REZEGCLET - REH - EFEC
EHNEFS2RRNEABRANK  URFAKRBRELE
RBZEAERBAMERAAETSRTIGRREEER
STRISF ARG EA 4 2R E - MEEAERARER
“E-NEFRRBFASERET -

RIBAMERMAE78G  RERRBFRG - &
RODz —EE(HMEBKE WM EE - AIR&EE
Mz —28B)ARKEEER - REBABERARE
8315 - B EFSZEMEMEBR ZR - HFEIER
BAZHAZREZESERBARBETREERBSF
ARERIE - BREHEERENZME SEEHAR
PE=FRESRIERET R -



The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced
development. The Company adopted a diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets
out the approach to diversify the Board. The nomination committee of the Company
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board and will recommend the
appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The nomination committee of the Company will also consider factors based on the
Company’s business model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

During the period under review, the Board comprises six Directors, including two Executive
Directors, one NED and three INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of professional experience, skill and knowledge. Having reviewed the
Diversity Policy and the Board’s composition, the nomination committee of the Company is
satisfied that the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young for audit services was RMB1,700,000 and
non-audit services was RMB180,000.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair view in
accordance with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the
announcements in relation to the consolidated financial statements on annual and
interim results of the Group are published in a timely manner, within three months
and two months respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 71 to 78.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, do not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors are of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Zensun Enterprises Limited

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems including a review on their
effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable development of the Group. The
risk management and internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the Group to identify and
manage the significant risks to pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance effectiveness and efficiency of
its operations, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group’s business objectives and can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board is responsible for the determination of the Group’s risk profile within its
acceptable tolerance levels in business operation, oversight of management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of overall risk management process from
risk identification, risk assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses and
regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to ensure the systems are effectively
established and maintained.

The risk management process is structured from management of the Group from
respective business functions at execution level to the Board, together assisted
by the Audit Committee in decision-making and monitoring level. Management of
the Group identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and potential risks
through a detailed assessment process and determines the appropriate mitigation
strategies and control measures in response of the identified risks. Ongoing
evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks, respective measures, and results
are carried out and reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-making
level, assisted by the Audit Committee, reviews the risk appetite, risk management
process and strategies and also the internal control systems and provide
recommendations for any improvement on the systems in an ongoing basis to
ensure risk management effectiveness.

The establishment of the internal audit & compliance department promote the
importance and construction of the compliance into the corporate culture, monitor
the effectiveness of the existing internal controls system of the Group, and provide
reasonable assurance to the Board for oversight the internal control system
operated by the management.
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The internal audit & compliance department conducts regular internal audit review
across principal divisions of the Group, and, on a regular basis reports their finding
results with improvements directly to the Audit Committee to ensure the internal
controls are in place and adopted properly and effectively as intended. The scope
of internal audit review included principal divisions from finance department, risk
management department, treasury department, purchasing department and sales
department, etc. to ensure material controls have been covered during the internal
audit review process. Any matter or areas of improvement shall be communicated
to the divisional management and had them followed up on a timely basis. Upon
review of the the Annual Risk Management and Internal Control System Report
conducted by the internal audit & compliance department, the Audit Committee
and the Board reviews and evaluate the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control system, on a regular basis.

The Board's annual review in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 has
considered, among other things, (i) the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions; (ii) the scope and quality of the
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems
(including the work of internal audit function); (iii) the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems (including the extent and frequency of
monitoring results to the Board or the Audit Committee); and (iv) the effectiveness
of the Company's processes for financial reporting and the Listing Rules
compliance. The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view there are no
material internal control defeats were identified by the internal audit & compliance
department during the course of internal audit review. With the discussion
between management, the internal audit & compliance department and the Audit
Committee, the Board (with the concurrence of the Audit Committee) considered
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are effective
and adequate. The review of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group is an ongoing process and the Board maintains a continuing
commitment to strengthen the Group’s control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy. The Company regularly
reminds the Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The
Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the
compliance with regulatory requirements. Procedures for collection, evaluation of
information and the publication manner are in place to ensure timely reporting of
the inside information to the Board and the stakeholders of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Zensun Enterprises Limited

As at 31 December 2019, the joint secretaries of the Company were Mr. Kwok
Pak Shing and Mr. Yuen Ping Man. Both of them have confirmed that they have
attended not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication Policy

The Board considers that having active communications with its shareholders
and investors is important and this will enhance transparency and clarity in
public disclosures by the Company. Any significant events of the Group fall to be
disclosed will be published in a timely, accurate and complete manner through
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, so as to safeguard its
shareholders’ rights of information and participation. The Board considers that
AGM is an important opportunity for direct communication with its shareholders.
The notice of the AGM together with relevant documents will be sent out to its
shareholders at least 20 business days prior to the date on which the AGM will be
held. The notice contains details on the procedures for voting by poll as well as
other relevant information related to the proposed resolutions.

AGM

The Board and senior management are well aware of their important tasks of
acting on behalf of the interests of all its shareholders and raising the shareholders’
returns. Last year’'s AGM at which the external auditors attended was convened
on 12 June 2019. The Board encourages all its shareholders to participate in the
forthcoming 2020 AGM where the members of the Board and external auditors will
be present and communicate with its shareholders.

Shareholders’ Rights

(1) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”)
Shareholders may request the Directors to convene an EGM of the
company. The Directors are required to call an EGM if the Company has
received requests to do so from shareholders representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings. Such request must state the general nature of the business to
be dealt with at the EGM and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the EGM. The request
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making it.

The Directors are required to call an EGM within 21 days after the date on
which the Directors become subject to the requirement. The EGM called
must be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice
convening the meeting.

If the Directors do not call an EGM, the shareholders who requested the
meeting, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves call the EGM. The EGM must be called
for a date not more than 3 months after the date on which the Directors
become subject to the requirement to call the EGM.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting
Eligible Shareholders (as defined below) may submit a written request to
make proposals or move a resolution at the annual general meeting (the
“Request”). “Eligible Shareholder(s)” means:

(i) Shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of
all the shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or

(ii) at least 50 shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at
the annual general meeting to which the requests relate.

The Request may be sent to the Company (a) in hard copy form or in
electronic form; (b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given; (c) must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making it; and (d)
must be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (i) if later, the time
at which notice is given of that meeting.

The Company must then send a copy of the resolution at the Company’s
own expense to each shareholder entitled to receive notice of the annual
general meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting; and
(b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives
notice of the meeting.

An Eligible Shareholder may request the Company to circulate, to the
shareholders entitled to receive notice of a general meeting, a statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a
proposed resolution to be dealt with at that meeting; or (b) other business
to be dealt with at that meeting (the “Statement”).

The expenses of the Company in circulating the Statement need not be paid
by the Eligible Shareholders who requested the circulation of the statement
if (@) the meeting to which the requests relate is an annual general meeting
of the Company; and (b) requests sufficient to require the Company to
circulate the statement are received in time to enable the company to send
a copy of the statement at the same time as it gives notice of the meeting.
Otherwise, (a) the expenses of the Company in circulating the Statement
must be paid by the Eligible Shareholders who requested the circulation of
the Statement unless the Company resolves otherwise; and (b) unless the
Company has previously so resolved, it is not bound to comply with the
circulation of the Statement unless there is deposited with or tendered to
it, not later than 7 days before the meeting, a sum reasonably sufficient to
meet its expenses in doing so.

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

A shareholder may send an enquiry to the Board at the registered office
of the Company at 24th Floor, Wyndham Place, 40-44 Wyndham Street,
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board in written form, which
shall state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor Friendly Limited, the share
registrar of the Company, for any questions about their shareholdings.

2

3

Annual Report 2019 T —JLFF IR

RERAEEZEZHZESF
EERBRR(EZR T ARFERREAS
ERXREMERUNRERZRDEABR((E
k1) o [REMRBIR 45

(i) HEREREZERMEFOHEFER
RE L ARRBRAROBEROEERR
HEH D2 5%AR 3K

(i)  wPB0BB AL ELAAET M EFR
RARE ERZREROARNIR -

BRAZR (A RANAEARLEFFRAELZAR
RA] () BB AFELBAMETRE (o)
A AIRHNZERNIRRRRE « R(AAETE
PR ()52 2 K AR T 0 B F B CR K & BT AT /< (E
EH AT k(i) (W Bl e 2 1R X AR A
B EE) ZAFRRAGHBEME L 2K - XEAR

NI

AARA(a)RE N A BEF RSN BENN
RN R(b)EHE HZRRAE /B AN R
B SREBHHZBRRASHBEBANE  EAED
PEATHEERER - BEBZRENEN
XA XX FEE R ZECR ARG BN
BIR -

BEBRBRRAIERKARR A REBZERA
B AR ER — 1) FEAZ 51,0007 AR
ME(RLE ] - @R EZBRENKRE
EHEMRBARRNER M (o) REZIRE
PIRE LRI EAMEIR

ZREMPRREN A ERRREZ L ERERH
ATERE S NARBBRZEHER : (a)F
MELFAFHNRERE  EARANEFR
RRE : RO)ARAREWERASARFIA
BEHZRAENER - AR EFHZER
REGHBEAE R - B8 MK BRI E B OA -
EEMERT  EREMBLENRREFINS
ARBBBZ2EHNER  BRIAQBBEAEST
FRERRAEZRE BRI (FARFEB
R BREBREMAMBRILENBRRET X
NARBHRHZERER + R(o)kRIEETER
BHEBREREAMLRE  ARRKE—ZRER
N NARREAEZ EHERNRE  KEXR
RAEARHZEFRB(BWNARBLHERBR
@ BRRERENAARAENRREF N
ARBZERER - BIBHIIN)

REDEEFSEY

RRAIMERETSIEHEARSH  EXAQAZ
A EER - it AT B IREFE40-44572
FEEPO24E  WABEZESAWHEA > WA
FERAEA T RIER o BN BRINEEHE
BEEERRRY @ AIBEEAARZBFEERLE
BEERBRAF -

69



70

Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERBRE

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Articles of Association of the Company during the
Year. A copy of the latest version is available on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the Company’s website.

DISCLAIMER

The contents of the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and
should not be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to
the shareholders. Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other
professional advice as to their rights as shareholders. The Company disclaims all
liabilities and losses incurred by the shareholders in reliance on any contents of the
section headed “Shareholders’ Rights”.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ET R

EY:s
Central, Hong Kong

To the members of Zensun Enterprises Limited
(Formerly known as ZH International Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zensun Enterprises
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 79
to 186, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Ernst & Young RXEFHRIEB R
22/F, CITIC Tower BEEPIRREE
1 Tim Mei Avenue hiEkE2218
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

Zensun Enterprises Limited

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Key audit matter

HRERER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZ 1EE

As at 31 December 2019, investment properties amounted to approximately
RMB654,244,000, which was material to the consolidated financial statements.
To support management’s assessment of the fair value of the properties, it is the
Group’s policy that property valuations are performed by an external appraiser at
least once a year. The valuation of the properties involves significant judgement, is
highly dependent on estimates and is based on a number of assumptions, such as
estimated market rent, market yield and reversion yield.

RZT—NE+=A=+—B  BAMENAARIEC54,244 0007 « ZMF
BAMBREMEBEA - AXBELEYNEATEMTME - EEEOEE
REFEELERNBEEMETNEGE K - WEBESREAHE - %4
BIERATZE ERURR R - WU S ERR AR - M TsRS - 15
W3R B SRS o

The accounting policies and disclosures of the valuation of investment properties
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BERREMEHENSHABRRENEEN GAMERERMT2.4 - 3K%156 -

BRELREE
MREZSHIREBAMNFERALE  BAREES
UBHRRZERRREEZZEH - HEFRERME
RRBGEAVBHRRRBABRRETRE Mk
TEHZEERRHEBZER - RARBERFHT
SR B RIBTERMEN T X -

BB BT AR E K E A5t F A & KB A
ZEF-HMABEEZEERAM AL - HE
o RAZBRTERRANTE EQE YRS MR
RERFERERFEZIEF - RAIBERERFZE
BREREREATFRMBITZEFERRMABEN 2
RAUBHRIEHZBRE RIRHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANERNEEBERERSE

We considered the objectivity, independence and
expertise of the external appraiser. We assessed
the valuation approach and the key assumptions
used in developing the valuation through the income
approach or market approach, such as market rent,
market yield and reversion yield. Our internal valuation
specialists were involved to assist us in evaluating
the techniques and key assumptions used in the
calculation against valuation guidelines and industry
practice.

BMEZE B BEEMHOTERE  BYMERERA
& o BB ABBWAERTIHEAEE HER(ER
MWEETNEREERE - flinmsEE - mHka=x
REBREE - ABEHEFER2EHRFAIERGE
HEIRTERER  FEGEHETERNRNEEE

B -

We also assessed the disclosures on the fair value
measurement of investment properties.

A MEHEERIREME R FEABNKE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZER

Annual Report 2019 =T —JLFF IR

BHRFEZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERARERSER

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

G ERFPYRRIFIEHEZ EXT TYRZ A28 ¥ E

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale situated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) were approximately RMB38,367,480,000 and RMB3,824,960,000,
respectively. The Group carried out assessment on the net realisable values at the
end of the reporting period and compared them to the costs. The management
estimates the total costs by reference to the budgeted costs and costs incurred
and further costs to complete whereas the future selling prices were estimated by
the management of the Group with reference to the recent selling prices of similar
properties in the nearby or relevant locations.

RZZT—NF+_A=+—8 URPEARENMBE([FER]) ZEREPYER
BEHEZERIMEZETED B A4 A RK38,367,480,000T &k A R ¥
3,824,960,0007T ° BEBNRFEHEAE B YA SR FEE TG W EE A
LhE - BEEEBLSETHEXAN EEEKARTERATENE —PRANMGTE
A - AT » AKREET) BEEEEERELXEM OB BUMEZR
HEBMETMmEE -

The related accounting policies and disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 18
and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

HEE T BR R BN GRS P REME2.4 - 3 18K%19 °

We obtained from the management of the Group
an understanding of the management’s process for
performing impairment assessment of the properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale.

BAEREBRPVERFEREZC T TYEET
MEMEZEREERFR BEXEEEERSTHE -

We assessed whether the estimated selling prices
were based on the existing contracts or comparable
properties in the market.

BRMEFEEELTRRAANITHT LN EE
Tt -

We also compared the future selling prices of
completed properties held for sale to the actual selling
prices of properties sold subsequent to the end of
the reporting period to evaluate the management’s
estimation.

RV B (R & 7 BB % 2 R E A
CHMAERREE Y E Y EREE  HEERE
2 st o

Furthermore, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology about future cost of completion of
properties under development.

BEAN - TP FHA E IR B R B R M RARK
RZIEFTT% -

We also assessed the disclosures on the assessment
of net realisable values of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale.

BHMEFEERFEERTOERFEHEZES
Tz AT BFERKE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Zensun Enterprises Limited

Key audit matter

BREZER

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

TS ER ([ LA ) B

The subsidiaries of the Company that are engaged in property development in
the PRC are subject to LAT. LAT is levied on the sale of properties at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of land value. At
the end of each reporting period, the management of the Group estimates the
provision for LAT based on its understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations, and the estimated total sales of properties less total
deductible expenditure, which include lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs, borrowing costs and development expenditure. When
the LAT is subsequently determined, the actual payments may be different
from the estimates. For the year ended 31 December 2019, LAT provision of
approximately RMB402,978,000 was recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

EARRAPENEYEERMNBARESMNT HIEER - THIBERHIEL

HEEISERE30% ZE60% 2 2E R FTHEMEETHK - RSHREHHME

HH W BESEEEERBEBHEEEERORTEREE G EEmEesE
BAIREER(REIMERAEREERR  WERERA - BERAKRFAEE
FR) 4+ s E R BT E - R AR EE S M - BERENRES A
HEASHEFEEE - HEZZT—NF+-A=1+—RALLFE - LHREFE

B AR EE402,978,000TTE RER A 1B IRARR ©

The accounting policies and disclosures for the provision for LAT are included in
notes 3 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRL B ERBEN S BRRIRBES NG A M mAR MR -

BERFZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNTEERARERSER

We obtained an understanding of the key management
controls related to LAT provision. We involved our
internal tax specialists to assist us in the assessment
of LAT provision prepared by the management,
including the estimates and assumptions used by
management. We also recalculated LAT provision by
testing the underlying data, including estimated total
sales, property development costs, borrowing costs
and tax rates used to evaluate LAT provision.

BMETHAR L EEN RGN TR ER BRI
it - HMEBRFEABHBER BRI EEER
S T IR ETRYE - BREEIEEARAE ZEE RE
& o HAITEBRHEREE  BEMGEHERE
YMERBEKA - BERAR ARG IR ER G
BB R E AT L R E DS

We also assessed the relevant disclosures in the
notes to the Group's financial statements.

HPIREEHE EREYRAR M EARIAAR B



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Zensun Enterprises Limited

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYABE®RE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE—_ZE—NF+_A=1+—HIFE

Annual Report 2019

“E-NEFER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ff & AR®T R ARETT
REVENUE &= 5 8,887,186 601,470
Cost of sales $HE R A (6,600,707) (326,329
Gross profit EF 2,286,479 275,141
Other income H U A 5 9,678 25,078
Other gains and losses E bl as R E1E 6 109,086 33,333
Administrative expenses THRER (166,817) (129,674)
Sales and marketing expenses HERTSHHEEER (162,428) (114,909)
Finance costs =D 7 (38,221) (30,455)
Profit before tax SR B0 AT Vs 8 2,037,777 58,514
Income tax expense ISR 11 (886,319) (30,022)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEm 1,151,458 28,492
Attributable to: 5T L
Owners of the Company INNETEZ Z =N 1,151,571 29,971
Non-controlling interests AR M 2 (113) (1,479)
1,151,458 28,492
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZAAF#EAABLSRER
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Basic (RMB cents) ER(ARES) 13 14.87 0.49
Diluted e N/ATRE A N/AT i FB
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SmeEZHWER

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE—_ZE—NF+_A=1+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 1,151,458 28,492
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hip 2w (EE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AR ERHEEN S EEER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: E2mikes (Ei8)
Exchange difference on translation BEBINERMEEZEN =58
of foreign operations 33,359 (49,418)
Reclassification adjustments of exchange BEHEHBARIELFEZ
reserve for subsidiaries disposed of BB 129 (7,287)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRHMEEKE ()
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (Bi) 33,488 (56,655)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) EFEREEmKE(FE)8E
FOR THE YEAR 1,184,946 (28,163)
Attributable to: N5 T L
Owners of the Company ViN/NGIEZ YN 1,185,486 (24,901)
Non-controlling interests FEHE AR 2 (540) (3,262)
1,184,946 (28,163)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R R

31 December 2019

TN F+=-—A=+—H

Annual Report 2019

31 December

—E-NEEH

31 December

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
+=ZA=+t—H +Z=HA=+-—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B S ARETR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NMEE 14 17,711 23,126
Investment properties REYE 15 654,244 646,620
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 16 5,246 -
Deferred tax assets EERIEE = 28 194,154 63,168
Pledged deposits BEPIES 17 22,525 33,915
Total non-current assets JEMENE AL 893,880 766,829
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE - 217
Completed properties held for sale HEHEZETIYE 18 3,824,960 934,671
Properties under development BRI 19 38,367,480 29,777,845
Deposits and prepayments paid B g RS RIBFKIE 20
for land acquisitions 1,198,992 4,603,632
Accounts receivable, other receivables FEULBR SR - L fth fE USRI K 21
and other assets B &EE 1,827,573 1,175,439
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 AF(EFF AR Z S REEE 22 349,876 232,532
Prepaid income tax and tax recoverable TES TSR N AT Uk [ 7 18 723,402 616,737
Pledged deposits [E:iiib e 17 863,804 680,450
Restricted bank balances ZRRAIRTTAERR 17 691,992 101,913
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeEEER 17 3,200,230 673,412
51,048,309 38,796,848
Investment properties classified as held for sale DB AFIEHE 2R EME - 5,582
Total current assets MENEELRTR 51,048,309 38,802,430
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Accounts payable, deposits received AR - BEdRE K 23
and accruals ezt &R 3,096,086 1,271,149
Contract liabilities X ON=KiT 24 15,852,697 11,304,291
Amounts due to related companies JE S RESE A R RUR 25 956,458 473,199
Loans from a related company KE—FHBEERRZER 26 7,490,728 12,876,310
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 1,871 =
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 27 6,957,950 3,658,396
Tax liabilities HIBEE 461,608 109,621
Total current liabilties hBE ERE 34,817,398 29,692,966
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 16,230,911 9,109,464
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRDAR
LIABILITIES 17,124,791 9,876,293




82

Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R R

31 December 2019

TN F+=-—A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\E
t=A=+—-A +=A=+-—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B S ARETR AR® T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Rental deposits received Bl EZe 23 7,010 7,128
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 3,695 =
Bank and other borrowings RITEEMEER 27 13,277,895 8,742,329
Deferred tax liabilities EETHIBEE 28 99,150 5,324
Total non-current liabilities EMBBEETE 13,387,750 8,754,781
Net assets BEFE 3,737,041 1,121,512
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RAEER AREER
Share capital A% A 29 2,014,112 587,529
Reserves ] 30 1,726,522 541,036
3,740,634 1,128,565
Non-controlling interests FEAE IR 2 (3,593) (7,053)
Total equity e A EE 3,737,041 1,121,512

Zhang Jingguo
RARE
Director

EF

Zhang Guoqgiang

REIR
Director

BF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GmERBEER

Year ended 31 December 2019

BHE-_Z-NF+-A=1T—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Annual Report 2019

—E-NEEH

NG 2N 1
Capital PRC Property Non-
Share reduction statutory  revaluation Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests equity
ERHE HEEE WEER
e il fife* R MERE  REEW f  FERES BRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETRT  ARETR ARMTR ARMTr ARMTn ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(note 29) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)
(Hf3t29) (Hf3£30) (Hf3£30) (Hf3£30)
At1 January 2018 RZE-\§-A-A 587,529 119,330 4,644 13,861 16,994 411,108 1,153,466 (9,581) 1,143,885
Profit/oss) for the year FEafl/(B8) - = = = = 2997 29971 (1,479) 2849
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMIESE :
Exchange differences on HERNER
translation of foreign operations EiEE - - - - (47,635) - (47,635) (1,783) (49418)
Reclassification acjustments of exchange BLENBAAES R
reserve for subsidiaries disposed of LENAEAR - - - - (7,237) - (7.237) - (7,237)
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year M2 (1) /zs s - - - - (54,872) 20971 (24,901) (8,262) (28,163)
Transfer to PRO statutory reserve BREREETRE - - 32,59 = = (32,502) - - -
Capital contrioution from REFERBRL
non-controling shareholders 2 - - - - - - - 6,000 6,000
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAT - - - - - - - (210) (210)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E
t-A=1-H 587,629 119,330 37,236 13,861 (37,878) 408,487 1,128,565 (7,089) 1,121,612
Year ended 31 December 2019 HEZ-N\&
TZA=T-RLLER
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE—A-H 587,529 119,330 37,236 13,861 (37,878) 408,487 1,128,565 (7,053) 1,121,512
Profit/oss) for the year FEER/(B8) - - - - - 115151 115157 (113) 1,151,458
Other comprehensive ENEHRE
income/(oss) for the year: Y/ (B8):
Exchange differences on HERNERL
translation of foreign operations ERES - - - - 33,786 - 33,786 (427) 33,359
Reclassification acjustments of exchange BHENBLAES B
reserve for subsidiaries disposed of LENA AR - - - - 129 - 129 - 129
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  EER2ERE/(BE) &% - - - - 33915 1151511 1,185,486 (640) 1,184,046
Transfer to PRO statutory reserve EREHELTRE - - 123,873 - - (123879 - - -
Issue of new ordinary shares EOE i 1,428,031 - - - - - 1,408,031 - 1,428,031
Share issue expenses ROERRR (1,448) - - - - - (1,448) - (1,448)
Capital contribution from REFER
non-controling shareholders R 5 - - - - - - - 4,000 4,000
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE
+-A=1+-H 2,014,112 119,330 161,109 13,861 (3,963) 1,436,185 3,740,634 (3,593) 3,737,041
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEREGAVBRABRRAZZEHER

RMB1,726,522,000 (2018: RMB541,036,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Hok

PRC refers to the People’s Republic of China. For the purposes of this financial ~ **

statements only, except where the context specified otherwise, references to
Mainland China or the PRC exclude Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

AR ¥1,726522000c (Z T —NF : AR¥
541,036,0007T) °
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EBEXERAA

Zensun Enterprises Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Increase in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Increase in fair value of investment properties
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest income
Impairment losses on accounts receivable and
other receivables
Finance costs

Decrease in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Decrease in inventories

Increase in accounts receivable,
other receivables and other assets

(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank deposits
from pre-sale proceeds of properties

Increase in properties under development

(Increase)/decrease in completed properties
held for sale

Decrease/(increase) in deposits and
prepayments paid for land acquisitions

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable,
deposits received and accruals

Increase in contract liabilities

Cash used in operating activities
Tax paid

Net cash flows used in operating activities

BHE-_Z-NF+-A=1T—HILFE

REXBMEBRTRE

Bk 250 B )

RIS IRFE

BATEFARREZ
EREEZ X FEEN

REMERNFELEN

HEMBARZERE (M)

HEME - BE k&2 ER

M - BERRETE

EREEERE

FEUA

R LS B 50 e L At R R IR 2
B E

BE KA

BAFEF AR Z
SREERD

FER D

FEMRRR R ~ EAt R IR e
Hfth B = A0

EYEREMSHRAELEZ

R EVERTFRCEM), R

Gk E Sl

FIEHEZBERIYE
($mn),/m

EN T iER e R
FERFRIER A, (42 00)

FERTERR - EBIRE ]
FEEH B A, ORd)

BRBEEM

REXBRATRS
EATIEA

REXGMARSREFRE

[©2lecIe BN NNe)NNe) INe))

(©)]

2019 2018
—®-nE —2- %
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®T
2,037,777 58,514
(112,726) (9,329)
(2,250) (17,865)
6,815 (7,447)

1 210

3,489 2,730
1,641 -
(7,980) (23,874)

777 779
38,221 30,455
1,965,765 34,173
- 120

60 21
(964,797) (652,495)
(590,079) 59,941
(7,059,153) (16,946,614)
(2,849,660) 311,964
3,405,920 (1,467,528)
1,668,783 (583,940)
4,281,864 8,407,852
(141,297) (10,836,506)
(673,594) (579,488)

(814,891) (11,415,994)




CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Release of pledged deposits
Placement of pledged deposits
Purchase of a debt investment at amortised cost
Proceeds from recovery a debt investment at
amortised cost upon maturity
Purchase of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Net cash outflows of acquisition of a subsidiary

Net cash inflows of disposal of subsidiaries

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Release of pledged deposits

Placement of pledged deposits

New bank and other borrowings raised

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Repayment to related companies

Advance from related companies

Loans repaid to a related company

Loans received from a related company

Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares

Share issue expenses

Capital contributions from non-controlling
shareholders

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position

REFBRERERE
RE&)s)
BAWE  BFELREAE
HERE MRS TIE
HEME « BENRE
1S58
D ERZE
FREERES
BARBIERAGTE 2 BEBRE
B Y S i SE A ARG B 2
BB E Z S50
BARATERARRZ
ERMEE
WiE—MIBARZ
RemhiFaE
HEMBARZHESRAFRE

REFHHME (TR RLFR

RMEFHRERSRE
AEREE kA
FREERZES
IR R H A
EERITREMER
HENFAE D
ERFE

EIR BE A R IR
TAURREE A R IR
B8 —HEERRER
YR — [ & A R B K
BATH B B PR1SFRIR
B EITR

K B IR R 2 3R

=

MEEBAGRERNEFR

RERREEEER
@i, () B

RENzRE FIREEEIRE
SINE DEE SR B B 2285 HR

RERZRERREEEER

RERASEEBA LRI
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e MkBREFHEAR

Annual Report 2019

“E-NEFEHR 8

2019 2018
—E-hE —EB-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
gz ARBETT ARBTR
7,980 22,742
(6,236) (6,573)
13,333 61,047
1 242
- 47,383
- (662,519)
- (323,257)
315,069 =
- (68,778)
31 (46,931) =
114 =
283,330 (929,713)
33,915 =
(205,879) =
13,483,882 11,424,756
(5,619,205) (6,850,201)
36(b) (1,325) _
(931,181) (541,269)
(713,851) (2,864,982)
956,458 929,745
(6,132,852) (1,143,322)
747,270 11,368,124
29 1,428,031 =
29 (1,448) =
4,000 6,000
3,047,815 12,328,851
2,516,254 (16,856)
673,412 685,710
10,564 4,558
17 3,200,230 673,412
17 3,200,230 673,412
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

EBEXERAA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS ERAR MR

31 December 2019 —ZE—HAFE+=-A=+—H

1.

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Zensun Enterprises Limited (formerly known as ZH International Holdings
Limited) (the “Company”) is a public limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong with its shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of
the Company is located at 24th Floor, Wyndham Place, 40-44 Wyndham
Street, Central, Hong Kong. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the immediate holding company of the Company is Joy Town Inc., a private
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).
The ultimate holding company of the Company is Vistra Trust (Singapore)
Pte Limited, a private limited liability company incorporated in Singapore, as
trustee of a discretionary trust which is set up by Ms. Huang Yanping (“Ms.
Huang”), a non-executive director of the Company. Ms. Huang is the settlor
and protector of the discretionary trust. Mr. Zhang Jingguo (“Mr. Zhang”),
the Chairman and an executive director of the Company is the spouse of Ms.
Huang.

By a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on
12 June 2019, it was resolved that the Company’s name be changed from
“ZH International Holdings Limited (IFfEEEZR AR A F)” to “Zensun
Enterprises Limited (IEFEE B[R A 7)" effective on 8 July 2019, the date
on which the certificate of change of name was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 43. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

2.1

REEHR
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control,and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

EBEXERAA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R T MIEE
31 December 2019 —ZE—HAFE+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation
Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19 and HKAS 28 and
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are not relevant
to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and the
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain
recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar principles as
in HKAS 17.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. Under
this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 January 2019, and the
comparative information for 2018 was not restated and continued to
be reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a
lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for certain items of property. As
a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as either finance
leases or operating leases based on the assessment of whether the
lease transferred substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies a
single approach to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective exemptions for
leases of low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
(elected by class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising rental
expenses under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group recognises
depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-of-use assets
and interest accrued on the outstanding lease liabilities (as finance
costs).

Annual Report 2019 =T —JLFF IR
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31 December 2019 —ZE—HAFE+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee - Leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
applicable incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The right-
of-use assets were measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on HKAS
36 on that date. The Group elected to present the right-of-use assets
separately in the statement of financial position.

For the leasehold land and buildings (that were held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation) previously included in
investment properties and measured at fair value, the Group has
continued to include them as investment properties at 1 January
2019. They continue to be measured at fair value applying HKAS 40.

The Group has used the following elective practical expedient when
applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

o Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of initial
application

o Relying on the entity’s assessment of whether leases were

onerous by applying HKAS 37 immediately before 1 January
2019 as an alternative to performing an impairment review

o Excluding initial direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial application when
applying HKFRS 16.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

Financial impact at 1 January 2019

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 were as follows:

—E-NEEH
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(a)

(&)
R=FE—NF—F—AZHBZE

R-ZE-—NF—A-HERNBTEYE
HREENFIRAMEENTZEMT ¢

RMB’000
AR¥TT
Assets EE
Increase in right-of-use assets ERAEEEEN 6,813
Liabilities afE
Increase in lease liabilities HEEEEM 6,813

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the operating
lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 were as follows:

R=T—

NF-—A—RHzZHEERERER
- N\F+tZA=t+—RzKREHEE

AYEHBRIAT
RMB’000
ARBT T
Operating lease commitments RIB-NE+ZA=+-—HZKEHERIE
as at 31 December 2018 8,079
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and B EEHEERBTHER S —hF
those leases with a remaining lease term +=—A=+—B8=ZAEH5
ended on or before 31 December 2019 THEEER A (17)
8,062
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate —NF—R—B2ZEEHEE
as at 1 January 2019 EEF = 7.50%
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-B-NF-—A—HZHEEE 6,813

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax
treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances. Accordingly, the interpretation did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

(b)
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2.3

—=

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, which
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKFRS 9
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material’

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the
definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an integrated set
of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs.
Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions
or other events that occur on or after the date of first application, the Group
will not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material.
The new definition states that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement
of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

The directors of the Company considered that the application of those
new and revised HKFRSs will not have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial results.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

2.3

2.4
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TN F+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the financial statements)
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person:

U

(ii)
)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Land and buildings and hotel ~ Over the shorter of the lease terms or 2%

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the lease terms or 6.67%
to 20%

Furniture, office equipment 20% to 25%

and motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHERRBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset (2018: leasehold property
under an operating lease) which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement
or disposal.

Properties under development
Properties under development are intended to be held for sale after
completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost comprising
land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs
of land and buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable
value takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Offices 3to 5 years

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its applicable incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of offices (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets
remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

HE(B=Z—hG—AF—HEBER) (&)

KEEBERAA ()

() RHHE
REBMUP A= EHAE (AR A H
R R12(E A TMTHZ”‘%E%E
NS EREHREEREH

R HITE B E N A B RORR A B R
RRFAX °

EEBFHEDBHEA
EASEEREEATER  HAHEE EﬁﬁAET
(HEFEREERR)FEES BAKEHEE
BMEME -

FIBEAREEY REREERMAREMIFNERN
HoRBRROKVHEERERKEEE - Wa
HBREHERFEERS  AEEREFEEE
EEEERANRBEIRESHD - HEEA
RAMARE RS - ARELS T et
Az W - REFRZHERLEHERE
ENTIREERA G AREEENREE -
WA B AR ERTDEER REERA °

FrBERABAEZEREEMEEMNENE
AEfo R N EHOBEEIRARERE

HE(ZE-NF-A-HZAEER)
BEMBEMBARED D HERARDEHEA
ENEEIIRAKENRS - WASE R EHE
A AEERBELEHEHENEE AR
PEE MEEHERTRKESERHRN
B ABRRER - WAKERAEA - A1
EHERETHENESHMREEAL THES
BREMBARABLRE BB aRRAHIR -



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

TN F+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

= the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

- the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset
or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Other than accounts receivable with no significant financial component,
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for accounts receivable which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

TN F+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing component and
lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payables, amounts due
to related companies, loans from a related company, bank and other
borrowings, and financial liabilities in other payables, deposits and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities is as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, banks and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to
use.
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TN F+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

= when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:

- when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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nNF+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of properties and services provided in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of taxes.

(a) Sales of properties
Revenue from sales of properties in the ordinary course of business
is recognised at a point in time when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed property and
the Group has the present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

(b) Property management services
Revenue from the provision of property management services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

(c) Hotel operations
Revenue from hotel operations is recognised when the relevant
services are provided.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with
a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement
of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of
the revenue to which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs
are expensed as incurred.
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nNF+=-—A=+—H

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the participating employees’ relevant income from the Group
and are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. When an employee leaves the MPF
Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully vested with the employee.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China
are required to participate in a pension scheme (the “Pension Scheme”)
operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to
contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to the Pension Scheme.
The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. These financial
statements are presented in RMB. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s
net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those
monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the RMB, including United States dollars (“USD”), Singapore
dollars (“SGD”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”). As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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TN F+=-—A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes arising from investment
properties that are using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties — senior housing communities
located in the United States of America (the “USA”) — are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time rather
than through sale whereas those situated in Hong Kong and Singapore and
residential homes located in the USA are not held under such a business
model. Therefore, the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted for properties of
senior housing communities but is not rebutted for properties located in
Hong Kong and Singapore and residential homes located in the USA. The
Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
these investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore as the
Group is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of these investment
properties.

Deferred tax on withholding taxes

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding corporate income
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax liabilities, based upon the likely distribution level of such
earnings from these subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. The amount of
deferred tax liabilities arising from the withholding tax associated with the
investment in subsidiaries established in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB95,000,000 (31 December 2018: nil). Further
details are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable and
other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for accounts receivable
and other receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geography, product type, customer type and rating).

The expected loss rate is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group’s accounts receivable and other receivables is disclosed in note
21 to the financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar properties,
the Group considers information from a variety of sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature,
condition or location, adjusted to reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the
dates of the transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of
future cash flows, supported by the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence such
as current market rents for similar properties in the same location
and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash
flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2019 was
RMB654,244,000 (2018: RMB646,620,000). Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity analysis,
are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 December 2019 was RMB63,198,000 (2018:
RMB57,299,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2019 was RMB613,587,000 (2018: RMB542,436,000). Further details are
contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the PRC. As a result
of the fact that certain matters relating to the income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimate and judgement
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT is based
on management’s best estimates according to the understanding of the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax authorities
upon the completion of the property development projects. The Group has
not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for all
its property development projects. The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and any differences will impact
on the LAT expenses and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Net realisable value assessment of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group carried out assessment on net realisable value of properties
under development and completed properties held for sale at each end of
reporting period and compared the costs and its net realisable value. The
net realisable value is the estimated future selling price less estimated cost
of completion or the estimated costs necessary to make the sale (if any).
The estimated future selling prices are estimated by management with
reference to the Group’s pre-sale selling prices and the recent selling prices
of similar properties in the nearby or relevant locations. The management
also estimated the future selling expenses and the expected costs to
completion by reference to the actual selling expenses of the Groups’
completed projects, adjusted by certain current market data, the legal and
regulating framework and general market condition. The Group’s properties
under development and completed properties held for sale are all situated
in the PRC, details of which are set out in the consolidated statement
of financial position and notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements.
At 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale were approximately
RMB38,367,480,000 (2018: RMB29,777,845,000) and RMB3,824,960,000
(2018: RMB934,671,000), respectively, which are expected to be recovered
through future sales and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
All of the properties under development and completed properties held for
sale are expected to be recovered higher than the cost and hence no write-
down to net realisable value was required for the year ended 31 December
2018. When there is any decrease in net realisable value of the properties
and it is lower than the cost of the properties, loss will be recognised on the
properties under development and completed properties held for sale in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees amounting to approximately RMB7,819,571,000 (2018:
RMB3,699,022,000) in respect of mortgage facilities provided by certain
banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by property
buyers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
upon default in mortgage payments by these property buyers, the Group
would be responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with accrued interests thereon and any penalties owed by the
defaulted buyers to the banks. The Group would be entitled to take over
legal title to and possession of the related properties. These guarantees
will be released upon the earlier of (i) the satisfaction of the mortgage
loan by the buyers of the property; and (ii) the issuance of the property
ownership certificate for the mortgage property and the completion of
the deregistration of the mortgage. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, no provision for the guarantee contracts was recognised in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 as
the default risk is low and in case of default in payments, the net realisable
of the related properties can cover the outstanding principal together with
the accrued interest and penalties. Should the actual outcome be different
from expected, provision for losses will be recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has five reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@) Property development in the PRC

(b) Property investment and management on American Housing REIT,
Inc. (“AHR”) and property management provided to Global Medical
REIT, Inc. (‘GMR”) in the USA

(c) Property investment other than AHR
(d) Securities trading and investment
(e) Hotel operations

The Group has property investment and/or management businesses in
Hong Kong, the USA, and Singapore. Other than AHR which is operated in
the USA, the property investment businesses in other regions are evaluated
together and assessed as one operating segment by the management.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss)
before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that certain other gains
and losses, corporate and unallocated income and expenses (including
unallocated finance costs) are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax liabilities and
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.
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31 December 2019 —ZE—HhE+=-A=+—H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and segment results

4,

RETHER(R])

7R E R D ERE

Segment revenue

Segment results

2 EBULEE DEPFELE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F —ZE-hEF —E-N\EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARETR
Property development in the PRC ~ AFE 2 ¥ ¥ 3R 8,795,966 521,832 1,907,343 8,377
Property investment and RERHAHRETT
management on AHR and ZERE RER
property management LA K mGMRIZ 2
provided to GMR in the USA MEEIE 59,947 46,639 18,031 6,659
Property investment other than AHR AHRIASN 2 ¥ 245 & 12,340 13,535 1,788 17,237
Securities trading and investment  FEAHE & RIKE 15,856 15,756 128,578 24,959
Hotel operations NENEES 3,077 3,708 (7,920) (1,500)
8,887,186 601,470 2,047,820 65, 782
Unallocated corporate income ROBLRTBA 8,370 23,999
Other gains and losses H e 518 1,703 7,251
Unallocated corporate expenses KPR ARAX (20,116) (11,398)
Unallocated finance costs R BLgh & R AN - (17,070)
Profit before tax [ 75 711 4 ) 2,037,777 58,514




Annual Report 2019

B NEEH

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHSIER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and segment liabilities PHEERSHEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR
Segment assets DENEEE
Property development in the PRC R Y2 R 49,632,056 38,122,867
Property investment and management on AHR and REBEBAHREIT 2 MR E R
property management provided to GMR in the USA EE AR FGMRIZ R 2 M E R 275,257 253,750
Property investment other than AHR AHRUASNZ MR E 461,792 503,032
Securities trading and investment FHBEEREE 353,946 237,705
Hotel operations B G T - 7,541
Segment assets HEEE 50,723,051 39,124,895
Unallocated assets ROMEE 1,219,138 444,364
Total assets BEE 51,942,189 39,569,259
Segment liabilities SEFEE
Property development in the PRC R MEERE 47,138,155 37,753,219
Property investment and management on AHR and NEBEAHRET 2 MERE R
property management provided to GMR in the USA EIR AR MGMRIZH 2 ¥R E R 110,323 109,183
Property investment other than AHR AHRIAINZ ¥ E 136,962 145,730
Hotel operations B %15 - 603
Segment liabilities SEEE 47,385,440 38,008,735
Unallocated liabilities AP EE 819,708 439,012
Total liabilities BEE 48,205,148 38,447,747
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFSTER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information HibpHER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z-hE+=-A=+—HLEE
Property
investment
and
management
on AHR and
property
management Property
Property provided investment  Securities
development toGMR  otherthan  trading and Hotel Segment
inthe PRC  inthe USA AHR  investment  operations total  Unallocated Total
REEY
AHRETTZ
EENR
WhEZ  BGMREM AHRSS #HEE
NEBR  2UMEEE  2NERE RRE BREEH PHAR B @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR¥TR AR¥TR ARETr AR¥Tn  AR¥Tn  AR%Tn  ARETR
Additions to investment RENLRDE
properties and property, BRERREZRE
plant and equipment 5,176 1,022 - - 30 6,228 8 6,236
Depreciation of property, nE  BERIETE
plant and equipment 4,297 376 14 - 11 4,798 298 5,096
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  EREEENE - 1,641 - - - 1,641 - 1,641
Impairment losses on accounts ~ [EMER S R E o e B
receivable and other receivables BT - m - - - m - 71
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBARZER - - - - 6,815 6,815 - 6,815
Increase/(decrease) infair value ~ &EMEZ AT E
of investment properties B/ (H0) - 3,347 (1,097) - - 2,250 - 2,250
Increase in fair value of financial R AT B AERZ
assets at fair value through SREENTEEN
profit or loss - - - 112,726 - 112,726 - 112,726




Annual Report 2019 —FB—NEFHK 121

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REHTER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information (continued) Hib o IHER (E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_ZT-\F+ZA=+—HLFE
Property
investment
and
management
on AHR and
property
management Property
Property provided investment Securities
development to GMR otherthan  trading and Hotel Segment
inthe PRC inthe USA AHR investment operations total  Unallocated Total
AHRETZ
WERER
ERIR
RHEZ  FAGMRREE AHRASH E7AE
NEER  IDEER NERE RixE BEZE it RO e

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE  ARMTT ARETR AR¥TE  ARMTr  ARETR  AR¥TR  ARETR

Addtions to investment RENZRNZ

properties and property, HERkELRE

plant and equipment 5,057 1,516 - - - 6,573 - 6,573
Depreciation of property, % BERIETE

plant and equipment 3,251 110 [l = 150 3,682 368 3,950
Impairment losses onaccounts  FEERZ R E-ftr fEEE

receivable and other receivables  HERE = 79 = = - 779 - e
Gain on disposal of subsiclaries  (HEMBAR 2z = = = = = - 1447 1447
Increase in fair value of RENE ATEEN

investment properties - 1,451 16,414 - - 17,865 - 17,865
Increase in fair value of financial XA EE ABRZ

assets at fair value through SHEAEATEEN

profit or loss = = = 9,329 - 9,329 - 9,329
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REHSIER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information i & E ¥
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REMREF Wz FERENEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—®-nE  —®-N\F —¥-RF C—B-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARBTT ARETR
The PRC Fh 8,798,193 522,481 5,549 4,608
The USA EeT] 76,187 62,692 237,596 233,017
Singapore s 7,629 7,340 314,912 310,365
Hong Kong B 2,100 2,115 119,144 114,848
Japan SN 3,077 6,842 - 6,908
8,887,186 601,470 677,201 669,746

The geographical locations of revenue from external customers are based
on the geographical markets of the customers, locations of properties
and investments. The geographical locations of the non-current assets,
excluding deferred tax assets and financial instruments, are based on the
geographical locations of the assets.

Information about major customers
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no single customer
has contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

B INER R P W 2 3 38 [ 3 T B B i &
M5 MERKEZMEMNETE - EREE
ECELERBEER SR T ARIN 23032 & 5
DERBEEEZ IRRIGMETE

FREEEFZ2EHR
BE_Z-NEFR-F-N\F+-A=+—H
LFE HBEE-FFEHMASEEAKRE10%
AL -



REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
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An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA T -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR® T
Revenue from contracts with customers EEARAIW
Sales of properties in the PRC B E Y E 8,795,966 521,832
Property management services V) E IR RS 43,252 29,330
Hotel operations B G TS 3,077 3,708
8,842,295 554,870
Revenue from other sources E iz KR
Gross rental income from investment properties WEYHEZ B WAL 29,035 30,844
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ EREE
through profit or loss ZIREHA 15,856 15,756
8,887,186 601,470
Revenue from contracts with customers EE AW
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) W5 & F
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z-hF+-A=1+—HLEFE
Sales of Property
properties management Hotel
Segments PR in the PRC services operations Total
R L/ES
HEME EER% EE R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®T AR%TR
Type of goods or services and & @RS 2 3I K%
geographical markets Bl M5
Sale of properties in the PRC N EEEmE 8,795,966 - - 8,795,966
Property management RER 2 Y EE IR R
services in the USA - 43,252 - 43,252
Hotel services and consumptions B 78 2 5f & AR 1%
in Japan KEE - - 3,077 3,077
Total revenue from contracts BEA4W B
with customers 8,795,966 43,252 3,077 8,842,295
Timing of revenue recognition UWFHERER
Goods transferred at a point in time A — B ZEESY) 8,795,966 - - 8,795,966
Services transferred over time %8 B S 82 28 AR 7 - 43,252 3,077 46,329
Total revenue from contracts BEAHIN= B
with customers 8,795,966 43,252 3,077 8,842,295
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31 December 2019 —ZE—HhE+=-A=+—H
5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED) 5. WHERHEMUA(E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 2RSS (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) Wis 7t E# ()
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE_Z—\Ft+-_A=+—HILEE
Sales of Property
properties management Hotel
Segments 258 in the PRC services operations Total
i LY
HEME EERY BIEEK et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARMET T ARMET T ARM®T T

Type of goods or services and BRERE 2 ER R

geographical markets BiEmiE
Sale of properties in the PRC RPBLEME 521,832 - - 521,832
Property management RER 2 Y ER R

services in the USA - 29,330 = 29,330
Hotel services and consumptions ~ F A 2 2 JE BR7&

in Japan SOLE = = 3,708 3,708
Total revenue from contracts BEEAK MR a5E

with customers 521,832 29,330 3,708 554,870

Timing of revenue recognition Iy 2% 7 SR R T

Goods transferred at a point in time  RE —EEZEESY) 521,832 - - 521,832
Services transferred over time I s el 9 8 AR 75 - 29,330 3,708 33,038
Total revenue from contracts BREHN =BT
with customers 521,832 29,330 3,708 554,870
Revenue recognised in the current reporting period that was ARG HEERL T ARERTN 2 &
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting NaBEzWE=AT
period:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TT

Sale of properties in the PRC R E L EYE 7,080,881 213,452




5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
properties and advanced payments are required pursuant to the
terms of sale and purchase agreements.

Rendering of services (property management services and hotel
operations)

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and bills are issued when services are rendered.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Annual Report 2019 Z—EF—NEFEFR

5. WERkHEAMKA(E)
EF &S (H)

(i)

B EE
ERASBERENEE2ERBMRMT

YR E
BHEEDIRINDERERT  BA
RIBEE B W R IR FROR -

TEHIRIE (W EEIRF KB IEF )

BRI B LTI B B AR TS I 72 B2 (AR 75
e H B AR B P BERS R B AT ©

R-_ZE—AER-_ZT—NFE+_A
=t+—H 2EEHTBOEE(RETT
REDARBIT) ZRBEHRAT :

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®T
Within one year —ER 7,311,903 10,578,454
After one year —F 1% 13,704,793 4,353,269
21,016,696 14,931,723

An analysis of other income is as follows: Hpw A Z DT :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR® T
Interest income F B A 7,980 23,874
Government grants B & B 1,285 1,000
Others Efh 413 204

9,678 25,078

125



126  Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS ERAR MR

31 December 2019 —ZE—HhE+=-A=+—H

6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. Hith=mRkER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F R AR¥TR
Increase in fair value of investment properties (note 15) &Y% 2 NF(ERIN(H5715) 2,250 17,865
Increase in financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFABR . EREE
profit or loss AN 112,726 9,329
Exchange gains/(loss), net [E 5 Was(E518) 558 1,703 (819)
Impairment losses on accounts receivable and JE ST AR R I L At FE MR IE
other receivables ZIREEE (777) (779)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE  BWEMEEZER (1) (210)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries LENRBARZ (BE) e (6,815) 7,447
109,086 33,333
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. ®AERK
2019 2018
—E-REF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥BT T
Interests on: THEEZFE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 1,019,398 546,308
Loans from a related company RE—HRBEARZERK - 646
1,019,398 546,954
Interest arising from lease liabilities HEBBREEZHE 457 =
Interest arising from revenue contracts BHREEEZFE 776,557 258,682
Less: Capitalised in properties under development B REBERPYEERL (1,758,191) (775,181)
38,221 30,455
Borrowing costs from bank and other borrowings have been capitalised at RERITREMEEZ EBEEXANE RN T4.568
rates ranging from 4.568% to 12.80% (2018: 4.35% to 8.50%) per annum. EZE12.80E(=F—/\%F : 4.35FEZX8.50F )2

FREFLAERIE -
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BKRBAIER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived REE 2 BT ADE F E kR
at after charging: TFI&IE
Cost of properties sold BEEMEKAK 6,593,030 316,904
Cost of services R 7% Ak AN 7,677 9,425
Total employee benefit expenses: EERHAS % :
Directors’ emoluments (note 9) E=2HM(A79) 1,140 1,383
Other staff: HMET :
Salaries and other benefits e REMEA 71,761 62,859
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIEHEI R 8,141 3,616
81,042 67,758
Less: Capitalised in properties under development B RERRPEEARE (11,979) (11,902)
69,063 55,856
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S5 R 2 M 1,700 1,450
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - BERZETE 3,489 2,730
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETNE 1,641 -
Minimum lease payments under operating leases KEHEE TREMAERNK - 5,617
Lease payments not included in the measurement of ~ WWAREt AR E & EHEH
lease liabilities HEFRK 5,081 =
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived REEZBRBADRMEETA
at after crediting: T &8 -
Interest income FEHA 7,980 23,874
Gross rental income from investment properties BEY RS WAL 29,035 30,844
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for: W MEACEELERE ¢
— investment properties generated rental income —EERSRAZREYHE (4,497) (5,685)
— investment properties that did not generate rental —WEEEHS A ZIEEYHE
income (117) (76)
(4,614) (5,611)
24,421 25,233
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHAEEMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed BEETAEE - B QR AEH 5 383(1)()
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong b) CROBEARDAR(HEEEFEER) R
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BIE2EIRTE 2 FAEE R FEETHA B HFH A
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: o
2019 2018
—B-hEF —EB-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR
Fees ik 633 609
Other emoluments: H A
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBEREYRER 461 748
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RINEFIEH B4R 46 26

1,140 1,383
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETHAEEM(E)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z-—hE+-A=1+—HILEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e ER EIREF
e REYEF Bl st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TR AR®TT AR® TR
Executive directors: HITESE -
Mr. Zhang* IR - - - -
Mr. Zhang Guogiang ok BY SR ST A - 461 46 507
Non-executive director: FEHTTEE -
Ms. Huang Huang# =+ - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BV IFHITEE -
Mr. Liu Da BEdh s 211 - - 211
Dr. Liu Qiao ZIHELT 211 - - 211
Mr. Ma Yuntao BEN LA 211 - - 211
633 461 46 1,140

129



130 Zensun Enterprises Limited NaE= % BREAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS ERAR MR

31 December 2019 —ZE—HhE+=-A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERFETBAEHMGE)
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—)\F+_A=1+—HILFE
Salaries,

allowances Retirement
and benefit
benefits scheme

Fees in kind contributions Total
e ER BRIKEF

we REYEAN ST EIfER st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR

Executive directors: HITESE -
Mr. Zhang* o S A = = - -
Mr. Zhang Guogjiang RBISR LA = 748 26 74
Non-executive director: FHHITESE -
Ms. Huang Huang# = = = - -

Independent non-executive directors: B HEHITEE -

Mr. Liu Da =4 203 = = 203
Dr. Liu Qiao ZIHELT 203 - - 203
Mr. Ma Yuntao BEN LA 203 = = 203
609 748 26 1,383
* Mr. Zhang is also the chief executive of the Company. . RAEENMBRRARTIREE -
There was no arrangement under which the directors waived or agreed to WREEABREESZ A RNKEZ AR IM

waive any remuneration during the reporting period (2018: Nil). FNNLEE (= —\F : &) -



10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year were neither director nor
chief executive of the Company (2018: Nil), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
five (2018: five) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

Annual Report 2019 Z—EF—NEFEFR

EEREHAL

FRAAEBZRHFALTEFEARREENIELE
TBRAB(ZZE—N\F : &) AENEHFHNZ
HEHEN EXHE - ARFARE(ZT—N
F:A)RBRRHFALTEIEARREERIFE
RITHRABR)HMZ BT

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —E-N\EFE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR® T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e B RBERET 11,798 8,592

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

BeN T FAER 2 BEH AL GEEEREE
BITHAR) 2 AR -

2019 2018

—g-ne —2-N%

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,600,001;&7T22,000,0007% 7T - 3

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L £ 2,500,000/ 7T 2 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7L£3,000,000/8 7T 2 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7L £3,500,000/8 7T -

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,00178 7L £4,000,000/8 7T 1 -
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11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FIS®iREx
2019 2018
—B-hEF —T-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BT T ARETTT

Current tax — charge for the year ANEAFIE — F AR

- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BAENEH - -
- PRCCIT — PEDEMSH 516,123 45,376
- PRC LAT — AL IEER 402,978 38,343
— Overseas Corporate Income Tax — BIMRERBR 3,061 10,094
Under provision in prior years BAREFEREBTE 143 105
922,305 93,918
Deferred tax (note 28) IRIERL (HTat28) (35,986) (63,896)
Total tax charge for the year FARIBRAZ B 886,319 30,022

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profits generated in
Hong Kong for both years.

PRC CIT is calculated at the applicable income tax rate of 25% on the
assessable profits for both years. In accordance with the PRC Corporate
Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding income tax will be levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the enterprises with foreign investments
established in the PRC. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes
on dividends distributable by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in
respect of their earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries in the USA are generally subject to Federal Income Tax
rate at 21% (2018: 21%) on the taxable income and the statutory regulation
of State Income Tax in different jurisdiction for the year ended 31 December
2019. Certain of these subsidiaries retained with undistributed income are
also entitled to an additional personal holding company tax at 20% on the
taxable income. Certain subsidiaries are limited liability companies which
are by default disregarded entities (i.e. viewed as divisions of the holding
company) and would be taxed as part of their holding company for federal
tax purposes.

HRAEERMEAFERNGENETBELER
B Al - FH I RS B REA R EENS
Wi

Fh B 1B 5 P 1S 5% P M8 4 TR 3 AR Tt A 2 26%
ERAMEHEE - REPRCEMSHL
FEHBEKZEINE R ERINEKREE TR
SR BB I0%EMMEH - Bt - REBA
HRFERINMBARNE —EENF—A—
B DA SR BRER B9 22 A PR A /O B BN TR AR -

R IR E T TR T B AR EEE30% &
60% 2 2EF XY - BEBRHEEWEMS
RIERG T EREERRMEMRERMAX
FEFNERFASTHORREE o

BE_Z-NFT+-A=+T—HBILEE  RKR=E
B2 B AR — R FRERTRAIR21% (=
T—\F : 21%) 2Bt FAF BB R HIAL
FETTRBEERBRMNABHRZEERD - ]
BARDIRBA 2E T2 S B AR I5H 7 ER
A Z220% 2 54 B AR A BRI A0R © & T
MEARBERAR  AHTHRE/ERE(AE
RERRARZDE) - BB S = EER

RA) DR EIE o



11.

12.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11. FTSHBIXR (&)
Income tax expense for the year is reconciled to the profit before tax per the FEREHBAYEESEBEER GG
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: HERIAT -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR
Profit before tax B 258 A g A 2,037,777 58,514
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2018: 25%) REEBR25% (=T —/)\F : 25%)
FTHEZTBIA 509,444 14,629
Effect of different tax rates on operations in HEMAEREEEHRERREZ
other jurisdictions TE (630) 2,175
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose T—Iﬁl%ﬂﬁﬁzm@%%; 5,206 3,325
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERBMA 2 RE72& (32,440) (17,509)
PRC LAT 5 - i 3 (F Fd 402,978 38,343
Tax effect of PRC LAT R+ I ER 2 BB (100,744) (9,586)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AERERFEZRE R E 414 8,238
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZHIBEE 2 R & 9,813 6,823
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised BT ARER ZTIAEIE (2,865) (16,521)
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 143 105
Withholding tax on distributable profits of the Group’s 7 £ & /1 B fff /B8 A &) 7] it
PRC subsidiaries K A2 B 95,000 -
Income tax expenses for the year FAABHAYZ 886,319 30,022
DIVIDENDS 12. KRE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR® T
Proposed final — EEARE TR
RMB1.67 cent (2018: Nil) per share AR 67THD(ZZE—NF : &) 171,921 -

The Board recommends the payment of a dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2019 of RMB1.67 cents per share, amounting to a
total dividend of RMB171,921,000 (2018: Nil). Such dividend is subject
to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. These consolidated financial statements did not reflect this

dividend payable.

ol

= A
EINGR=

EEEBRRNEE=T—
IEFEZREERKRN ARK1.675
BARK171,921,0007T( =& —

hE+=ZA=+—8”
- BERR
NE: &) F
AFEREREERRBEFRE LHE -
B 75 R R A AR R R FE A AR B, o
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EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13.

13.

TN F+=-—A=+—H

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

FRERBANTDRATERTE

RRAAERAREZSREF

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TT
Earnings b=
Profit attributable to owners of the Company used RAEEE ARIERF -
in the basic earnings per share calculation AR ESREARZF 1,151,571 29,971
2019 2018
—E-hF —E—N\F
’000 ’000
TR T
Shares 4l
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in FREEITEBRNEFLSE
issue during the year used in the basic earnings AR EFRERZF
per share calculation 7,744,999 6,176,820

No diluted earnings per share amounts were presented for the years ended

31 December 2019 and 2018 as the Group had no
ordinary shares in issue during these years.

potentially dilutive

HRAEERBE_Z-—NFR_T-N\F
ToA=t RUSFETEEAESCETE

B - MM EFEREZSRESRT -



14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Annual Report 2019

14. V¥ BMERRE

“E-NEFER

Furniture,
office
equipment
Land and Leasehold and motor
buildings Hotel improvement vehicles Total
HE &R BAE
T REF BIE MR RERRE Hst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TR AR¥T AR¥ET R AR¥TR
31 December 2019 —E-hE+=H
Er=F
Cost: A
At 1 January 2019 R-ZZE—N&F—A—H 13,679 7,941 2,161 12,452 36,233
Additions NE - - - 6,236 6,236
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —MER B AR - - - 146 146
Disposals HE - - - (10) (10)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (8,071) (292) (380) (8,743)
Exchange realignment Rk 259 130 47 96 532
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB—h%E
+-A=+—8H 13,938 - 1,916 18,540 34,394
Accumulated depreciation: 2EE
At 1 January 2019 RZZ—-NF—A—H 3,981 1,283 1,803 6,040 13,107
Depreciation provided WERE 274 71 25 4,726 5,096
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —fHEKTE AR - - - 84 84
Disposals k=4 - - - (8) (8)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (1,375) (163) (264) (1,802)
Exchange realignment b % 79 21 41 65 206
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=A
=+—H 4,334 - 1,706 10,643 16,683
Net carrying amount: BRI FHE :
At 1 January 2019 R=F—N&F—HA—H 9,698 6,658 358 6,412 23,126
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NE+=A
=+—H 9,604 - 210 7,897 17,711
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. % - BER&EE)

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
office
equipment
Land and Leasehold and motor
buildings Hotel  improvement vehicles Total
HE RE - PAE
T RETF BIE MERE FERAE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBEFT ARBFT AREFT ARETT
31 December 2018 —E-N\F+ZA
Er=F
Cost: 2% N
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZE—)\&—H—H 12,969 7,336 2,058 6,618 28,981
Additions nNE - - - 6,573 6,573
Disposals HE = - - (947) (947)
Exchange realignment Tk 710 605 103 208 1,626
At 31 December 2018 R=ZZE—N\F+=A
=t+—H 13,679 7,941 2,161 12,452 36,233
Accumulated depreciation: BIHE .
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZF—-NF—A—H 3,516 1,098 1,652 2,891 9,157
Depreciation provided WERE 263 90 72 3,525 3,950
Disposals & = = = (495) (495)
Exchange realignment [ 5 R 202 95 79 119 495
At 31 December 2018 R=ZZ—\F+=A
=+—H 3,981 1,283 1,803 6,040 13,107
Net carrying amount: BREFE
At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—\&—HA—H 9,453 6,238 406 3,727 19,824
At 31 December 2018 R=ZF—N\F+=HA
=+—H 9,698 6,658 358 6,412 23,126




Annual Report 2019 —EFB—NEEFHR 137

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ¥ - BMERKE(E)
(CONTINUED)
The carrying values of land and building and hotel held by the Group are REBFAFELH - BFRBE 2 BREES A0
analysed as follows: T
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F R AR¥TT
Leasehold land and building in Hong Kong REBZHE L HRIETF 9,604 9,698
Freehold land and building in Japan RBARZKAEREL M RIEF - 6,658
9,604 16,356
At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—0H  rx5EBEREE
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB9,604,000 (2018: A HH AR B04,000T(ZZ—NF : AR
RMB9,698,000) have been pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings (note #9,698,00070) 2 & THE L RIEFEH A
37). LS ASEE 2 EE (KH17E37) -
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BEWEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZERmE 646,620 662,332
Disposals e (7,751) (58,688)
Transfer to investment properties classified as HERESBABERE 2R ENE
held for sale - (5,582)
Net gain from a fair value adjustment FENTEz W F 5 2,250 17,865
Exchange realignment PE 5 13,125 30,693
Carrying amount at 31 December RT+-—A=+—BZEHEE 654,244 646,620
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn AREBAENUNKELHESEARRES K
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair EEAFBEZMERZERAFERA G
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties. B UHERREVMEAR -2 FEEGHA
The investment properties with an aggregate fair value of RMB623,299,000 R #623,299,000 c (Z T —N\F : AR%
(2018: RMB609,005,000) have been pledged to secure the Group’s 609,005,0007T ) Z IR EYEE PRGNS

borrowings (note 37). B2 EE(HFE37) °
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15.

TN F+=-—A=+—H
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the investment properties situated in Hong Kong,
Singapore and the USA as at 31 December 2019 are based on the
valuations carried out by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited
(“APAC”). APAC is the member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and
Valuers and an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and
best use of the investment properties is the current use. The fair values of
the investment properties are derived from the capitalisation of net income
method with due allowance for the reversionary income.

At the end of the reporting period, management of the Group works with
valuers to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations will be
reported to the directors of the Company.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases,
further summary details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s investment properties:

15.

REWE(E)

MNRES FIMBEREBZEEVER=-ZT
—NEF+ZA=Z+—BZAFEDBERTARE
EfEkEMERAR (2R METHES
7E ° 85K AHong Kong Institute of Surveyors
and Valuers® 8 B BEARE B MRERE 2 B E
EIREFEHERD o

M REMERNFER  REVESKTARSR
ERERARRE REVEAFEERAF
BMEMOERY - UAERRAELEERME -

RBEHREER - AEEETRERGEMS
5 ME=ZBAFEAEBRIIREEE 2
ERMEBARE - WEEZ A FEREARNR
- ERHREABAARAESRSE -

REMFERBEEHELRATE=7 - HE—
FHEHERN T IRKRM 16 -

DNEEER
TRINFAKERENE Z AV EAEER -

31 December 31 December

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
+=A=+—H +=ZBA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F R AR¥TT
Fair value measurement using significant IRFAEA T A EER A E1RZ
unobservable inputs (Level 3) AFEFE(E=AR)
Recurring fair value measurement for investment AR TFMR 2 IREMEZ
properties located in REMAFETE
- Hong Kong —B5 109,255 104,857
— Singapore — ¥ N 314,895 310,332
- USA —%H 230,094 231,431
654,244 646,620

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2018:
Nil).

FAR B REE_RZETEZELEFEAQF
BEfEEBZEN  BEXWEBEAEANEHE
=RZ2BER(ZE—)\F &) -



15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to
the valuation of the Group’s significant investment properties categorised

into Level 3:

Properties
L/ES

Valuation technique

fh R

Annual Report 2019

Significant unobservable inputs
EpENEIE RPN 6

15. REWE(E)

TIREEBODERFE=R 2T EREWHEM
EERZEERMEEIEGABBZHME

—E-NEEH

Range or weighted average

Offices located in Hong Kong

with a carrying value of
RMB109,255,000
(2018: RMB104,857,000)
R BEBEREE
AFR#109,255,0007C
—E-N\F: AREK
104,857,0007T) ZIH A=

Commercial and residential
units located in Singapore
with a carrying value of
RMB314,895,000
(2018: RMB310,332,000)

7 7 #T N3 AR T 1B
AR 314,895,000
(ZZ—N\F : AR
310,332,0007T) 2
A REEEN

Senior housing communities
located in the USA
with a carrying value of
RMB199,148,000
(2018: RMB193,816,000)
I RS EIBRE(E
AR #199,148,0007T
—ZT—)\F: AR®
193,816,0007T ) 2
REEERE

Residential single homes
located in the USA
with a carrying value of
RMB2,725,000
(2018: RMB9,828,000)

iz RS BIBRTE(E
AR ¥2,725,0007T
(Z2—N\F : ARE
9,828,0007T) Z
BIREEEMN

Income capitalisation
approach

WABEARNEE

Income capitalisation
approach

WABEREE

Income capitalisation
approach

WABREE

Income capitalisation
approach

WABAREE

Monthly market rent (HK$ per sq. ft.)
BRATHEEE(BFHRET)

Term yield (per annum)
FHREE(BF)

Reversion yield (per annum)

EEREE(FF)

Monthly market rent (SGD per sq. ft.)
B AMSEE (BT RIS T
Term yield (per annum)
FHWEE(FF)

Reversion yield (per annum)

B (FE)

Annual market rent (USD per sq. ft.)
BFEMHEE(FFHRET)
Term yield (per annum)
FHR=EE(EF)

Reversion yield (per annum)
ERERE(EF)

Monthly Market rent (USD per sg. ft.)
BRATEEE(FFHRET)

Term yield (per annum)
FHWEE(BEF)

Reversion yield (per annum)
ERWEE(EF)

EENMMEFITE
2019 2018
—E-hE —B-N\E
a7 46

1.7%-2.0%

1.9%-2.2%

3.7-7.8

2.5%-2.9%

2.7%-3.1%

23-25

7.3%-8.5%

7.8%-9.0%

0.65-0.79

12%-14%

12.5%-14.5%

1.6%-2.0%

1.9%-2.2%

3.7-9.0

3.0%-3.4%

3.2%-3.6%

20.2-29.8

8.0%

8.5%

0.56-0.86

12%-14%

12.5%-14.5%
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Zensun Enterprises Limited

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWH(E)
A significant increase (decrease) in the market rent in isolation would TSR ESEBAEL MRS ) @EFIREYE
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment NEEKNEZMORD) - FEAWZE R REFI
properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the term yield and reversion HRBBEABEMORD) @ERREDENTF
yield in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair BRERDEm) °
value of the investment properties.
There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior Fr A B ERITERBEFEAR -
years.
16. #HE
16. LEASES
The Group as a lessee EEBIEAERBEA
The Group has lease contracts of offices used in its operations. Leases AEBERARELENRAZTHELLY - #A
of offices are generally with lease terms from 2 to 5 years. Generally, =HEMNEEBREAEAE - —BmMs - &
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets SETEBEEEEERABHARNEEIAIN
outside the Group. There are no lease contracts that include extension and MATF - BMEAEEINK IR & A&
termination options and variable lease payments. HENFKWEEEL -
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) EAEEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the FRAAEEFRAREENEDERE
movements during the year are as follows: NN
Offices
WRE
RMB’000
AREFT
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—H—H 6,813
Depreciation charge (note 8) WERZ (A1778) (1,641)
Exchange realignment Ve 5 FE 74
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE—NAE+-_A=+—H 5,246
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during FREESENREBERZESHOT ¢
the year are as follows:
RMB’000
ARBT T
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—hF—A—H 6,813
Accretion of interest recognised during the year (note 7) FRAFNERNE (A7) 457
Payments IR (1,782)
Exchange realignment b 5 A% 78
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF+=—A=+—H 5,566

Analysed into: DT
Current portion BNERER 5
Non-current portion JEBNERER S

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35 to the
financial statements.

1,871

3,695
HERENIH B DM EERMIEEEK
Bf=E35



16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as
follows:

16.

Annual Report 2019 Z—EF—NEFEFR

HE (&)

FEBEREEA )
(c) HEASNERMROSENT

2019

—E-hF

RMB’000

AR®TT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 457

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRELAERTERS 1,641

Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases 50 B AR & R R R AR AR

with remaining lease terms ended on or before —T-AF+-A=t+—H=%

31 December 2019 Z AR E A R < 5,081

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEEERNEELEE 7,179

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 36(b) to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting of offices,
commercial and residential units, senior housing communities and
residential single homes located in Hong Kong, Singapore and the USA
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB29,035,000
(2018: RMB30,844,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

(d) THENRSIWHAERENT B RKHM
F36(b) °

AEBERABBEA
AEBEREBECEHETHEBEEMNES -
g R EERREDE(ME15)  BFEHA -
BAREEEMN  REEEREREREEE
i - HEKRBEERBELEIFEKIFES I
BEERRITMATCHAZRAS - A5EFR
BRHAS WA AR ARE29,085000T(=F
— N\ : AR¥30,844,0007T) @ EFISHNH
SRR MIFES o

RZZE-—NAF+-A=+—H BEXEER
IREEP 2 N REHQ S THE /B UCRRE R
MERAEMT :

2019 2018

—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\EF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARET T

Within one year —FR 23,253 24,103
After one year but within two years —F L EERFUA 18,704 19,181
After two years but within three years WEA EB=FLAR 16,987 16,378
After three years but within four years =F A FBNFLR 17,225 16,748
After four years but within five years MEN EERFR 17,613 17,125
After five years HBidAF 80,972 98,102
174,754 191,637
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17. PLEDGED DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED BANK

—hWF+=ZA=+—H

17. BERARE - SRMBBVITEHRUAR

BALANCES AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BENIHESEEEHR
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®T

Pledged deposits BHERES

— Current —BNER 863,804 680,450
— Non-current — JERN A 22,525 33,915
886,329 714,365
Restricted bank balances SRR FIERITAE RS 691,992 101,913
Cash and cash equivalents RekIReEFEIEB 3,200,230 673,412

Pledged deposits represent bank deposits of RMB823,853,000 (2018:
RMB687,365,000) and deposits held with financial institutions of
RMB62,476,000 (2018: RMB27,000,000) pledged to banks and financial
institutions to secure the facilities granted to the Group and the mortgage
loan facilities granted by certain banks to certain property buyers of
the Group’s properties. The pledged deposits will be released upon
the settlement of relevant borrowings and the expiry of the mortgage
guarantees provided to the property buyers. Bank deposits and deposits
held with financial institutions amounting to RMB22,525,000 (2018:
RMB33,915,000) have been pledged to secure the Group’s non-current
borrowings and are therefore classified as non-current assets.

Restricted bank balances are required, pursuant to the relevant regulations
in the PRC, that certain amount of presale proceeds of properties be placed
as guarantee deposits in designated bank accounts for the constructions
of the relevant properties. The deposits can only be used for payments for
construction costs of the relevant properties with approval.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating or fixed rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents approximate to their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB3,760,907,000 (2018:
RMB1,367,476,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

BEBIESEEEBTRITRSHEE ZRT
FRARES23,853,000L( —T—/\F : AR
#687,365,00070) k& BB TERARE
62,476,0007C(=ZF—/)\F : AR¥27,000,000
TL) c UEBBEFAEEZ@MERE THRITRT
AEENECETUEERZIZIBERBME °
ERFZESEREREEEEERIERTYE
BRZIZBEREBERR - RITTFHALSH
T 17 A R 522 525 0007 ( —ZF— N\
F . ARM¥33,915,0007T) B A - LAESARE
ESEEVEAE R - Bt DB AERDEE -

R GIRITAESRIBRBET RAERN - ElY
XEEMBHBAZETEEFABERITAA
EREEYMEEZRTREZRES ZFIA « &t
R BERBEHATRARINEBNEZZ
SERRA o

RITRERE A FRTERNEZFZHHEE
R EREUR B, SRITASERE 17 AT B0 8 R 3%
R AEAREZRT - BHERREFEIEAR
ZAREEEEAFEREE

RBREREEER  AEBAARBFEZR
& RRITHEER A ARKS,760,907,000T(=F
— N\ AR®1,367,476,0007T) > ARER
REEREBRABEMER - A BIEPR A
ZLONEEIBIEH DY R(ETE - EEARNEESE
BE) ANEBEESBEREETINEELED
BITHARE S REEMEE -



18.

19.

20.

21.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Completed properties held for sale are all situated in the PRC. The Group
carried out assessment on net realisable value at the end of the reporting
period and compared to the cost and there was no written-down to the net
realisable value of completed properties held for sale for both years.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are all situated in the PRC and
RMB6,838,721,000 (2018: RMB8,602,149,000) are expected to be realised
within twelve months and the remaining RMB31,528,759,000 (2018:
RMB21,175,696,000) are expected to be realised after twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. The Group carried out assessment on net
realisable value at the end of the reporting period and compared to the
cost and there was no written-down to the net realisable value of properties
under development for both years.

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS PAID FOR LAND
ACQUISITIONS

The amount represented deposits and prepayments paid for land
acquisitions arising from the acquisition of land use rights in the PRC.
These deposits will be converted into properties under development upon
completion of the land acquisition process and fully refundable if the
acquisition is not successful.

18.

19.

20.

Annual Report 2019 =T —JLFF IR

FEHEZETIYE

FEHEZEXTIYEEBUNTE - REE
RS R A E B8 A 23R EA TG R
PRALLE - HESMEFESEREZETT
I3k 2 R B BFEETTHOR, ©

BEPYE

BEIAMWEZ2ICRPFERARE
6,838,721,000 T ( Z T — \F : AR ¥
8,602,149,0007T ) T8 HA# iA & HAR 45 & H #E
+ =8 A REEmH T~ ARES31,528,759,000
TT(ZZE—)\F : AR¥21,175,696,0007T) {l
TEHERRESEEE /L @A BER -
ANEE AR E AR 4 E B Y Al 238 B EE 1T T
HWEARLER  BELEMETEERTME
2 R B3R R E T HUR

BT ERERANRE

ERcEENTRKRBLEREMEEZE
NEWERe RAMNKRE - ZFREER LT
WWEERF e R ER B RRTYE - WIS
WAL - AIZEECRE -

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. FEWERH - HttEWRERE#E
AND OTHER ASSETS =3

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR
Accounts receivable FEUS AR X 24,629 22,218
Less: Impairment B RE - =
24,629 22,218
Debt investment at amortised cost REER AT E C ERIRE - 323,257
Prepaid value-added taxes and other taxes TERIEER R E A FIE 1,146,929 606,006
Deposits and prepayments & R FIE 486,547 150,413
Costs of obtaining contracts BB EHZ KA 117,380 61,094
Other receivables o Ath jE W 3R TE 52,738 13,101
1,803,594 1,153,871
Less: Impairment o ORE (650) (650)
1,802,944 1,153,221

1,827,573 1,175,439
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21.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Accounts receivable represent receivables from sales of properties, property
management fee receivables, dividend receivables and rental receivables.

Receivable arising from sales of properties are due for settlement in
accordance with the terms of the related sale and purchase agreements.
The settlement terms of rental receivables and property management fee
receivables are upon presentation of demand notes. Hotel room revenue is
normally settled by cash or credit card. All accounts receivable were aged
less than 3 months as at the end of the reporting period (2018: less than 3
months), based on the revenue recognition date or invoice date.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of accounts and other
receivables are as follows:

BURR - b EWRIER EtE

@

AR FIEMEHE MEERE  REKLHE
SREMRIR -

KEMEHE ZRYGADREBESESHEZ
GREMGEE - BRAESRERNEEEE
REGRAHTHFRNEREE - BEFHE
WA—RARESHERREE - RIBEHK
PRE MRS IR R B M EFASG 2
BRECENBEA (ZF—\F : ER3EA) -

7 W B R R L A e AR SR IRR (B < S 1R R 2
R :

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

At beginning of year REFA]) 650 5,284
Impairment losses B EE 777 779
Amount written off b E=E 0] (777) (5,413)
At end of year REXR 650 650

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

BEDITTIR S IRE B HAE R B EERET
NAERMEREER BEXDNERZEA
BRUEBSEREA T 2 8848 Rl 7078 8K B
E o ZatERRAAXRNELER  BEKREE
BEARREE AR SEBBESMF - /1M
REARREERR TN SRR A EE R -
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. EUlR - HthEWRER L&
AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED) 3
i

RANFEERBAHEEBRTTEX -
R —_E—NEER—T—N\F+=—A=+—8H
I 4%k FEUSCBR BB R E B - TXXHESIER
BBEEEESHAEE T AL MERKIE R
BEZCHEEARNEERRNER

No provision for impairment of accounts receivable was provided for as at
31 December 2019 and 2018 as the directors of the Company consider the
expected credit loss is insignificant. Set out below is the information about
the credit risk exposure on the Group’s financial assets included in other
receivables and other assets using a provision matrix:

22.

Past due
Current within 1 year Total
B HA BE—FUR st
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB—hEF
+=H=+—H
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEBEE 0% 1% - 5% 1.23%
Gross carrying amount (RVMB’000) IREBEAREFT) 14,804 37,934 52,738
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) EHEEBEAREFT) - 650 650
Past due
Current within 1 year Total
BN A BHEI—FLAA BET
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F
+=R=+—H
Expected credit loss rate EHEEBEE 0% 1% - 5% 4.96%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) BREAEANREFT) - 13,101 13,101
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) EHEEEBRAREFT) - 650 650

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

22. BAVEFABEZERMEE

2019 2018

—E-NEF —ZE-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB Eh 2R ARES 44 46
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong RBEBIRIN £ 2 IR 7,285 5,300
7,329 5,346

REIT securities listed in the USA RER 2z BHEREETES 342,547 227,186
349,876 232,532
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23. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED 23. FEIEELS - CWIRS RESER
AND ACCRUALS
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET
Accounts payable FETBR R 121,847 173
Accrued construction costs (Note) eGSR (HTE) 2,485,887 1,030,214
Rental deposits received BElWHERS 8,285 7,827
Retention deposits and payable RE S REMKIE 63,874 30,073
Real estate and other taxes payable R EERREAMFIIE 109,330 15,185
Other payables and accruals HEENRIEREEA 313,873 194,805
3,103,096 1,278,277
Less: Rental deposits received — non-current B BEREERE —IERE (7,010) (7,128)
3,096,086 1,271,149

24.

25.

26.

The average credit period of accounts payable ranges from 30 days to 90
days (2018: 30 days to 90 days). All accounts payable were aged within
one year, based on invoice dates.

Note: Included in accrued construction costs are amounts due to a
related company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company and together with her spouse of approximately
RMB606,041,000 (2018: RMB396,699,000) for its construction work.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24,
The amounts represented advanced payments from customers based on
schedule as established in the property sale contracts. Increase in contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was due to more property projects

having started pre-sale during the current year.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 25.
The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. Ms. Huang and together with her spouse Mr. Zhang

have the controlling interests over these related companies.

LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY 26.

The Group has entered into loan agreements with a related company,
Henan Zensun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Zensun Real Estate”), which is
ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang, pursuant to which Zensun Real Estate
will provide unsecured loans.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Those
amounts were shown under the current liabilities as Zensun Real Estate had
the discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the carrying amounts of the
loans approximated their fair values at initial recognition.

ENERZFEFHEEHN TI0RAZEW0E(=ZF
—/\%F : 30HEQ0R) - RIFBEHH 25k
MNEFERE—FR -

Hiat - FEETERERK AN A H L A R 606,041,000 7T
—Z— \fF : ARE#¥396,699,0007T) &5t H
BETEMEN —BBEQR(BARFAHRE

PERRAR SR R L B Ba il ) 2 FR0E ©

BHEaE

ZECBRERBYRHEANFENRHEEA
BEFRBMMENKIR - R _F—NAF+ A
=t HAEHNAEEMARESYWEREA RN
REZFRIGTRERE -

FE{SRAE A RIFRIE
BNEEARRBAERRN  £EWIERBK
i o HuangZ = R ERBREAEEHZERHE
ARG RS -
RE—BEBEEQARZEXR
AEEHEBEARTEEREFXFARAR(IE

BEX] AHuangZ TH&EEHZ AR FAT
BRiHE - Bt EREXESREEREER -

> g

=
RIER B XA B 15 A 2R AN
HRABIHERBEILE

ZECHAEER 2SO RAREREE -
e
TA

ARBDEZRR  FERZEMEEFER
IR HER R 2 A FERE -
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Annual Report 2019

27. RITRHEMEE

—E-NEEH

2019 2018
“E-hE —E-N\f
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
per annum per annum
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
ER BB
FRIE(%) ) c)=! ARETR FFE(%) Z8A ARETR
Current B
Bank loans - secured ROTEF—EHA 3.29-9.98 2020 3,143,973 3.02-7.94 2019 or 1,565,050
—E_EE on demand*
—T-NE5
RER
Other loans - secured HiEH—FEH 7.00-9.98 2020 3,118,014 7.08-7.43 2019 718,118
k-t 33 —T-nE
Bonds - unsecured (a) E5—EHH(Q) 8.00 2020 695,963 7.50 2019 1,375,228
it 33 —T-NE
6,957,950 3,658,396
Non-current FEE
Bank loans - secured RITER—BIER 3.29-9.98 2021-2030 6,696,765 3.02-8.50 2020-2030 3,253,404
—E--F —ZT-TF
E-gE-Ef Z-T=TF
Other loans - secured HEH—FHEH 7.00-9.98 2021-2022 1,270,000 7.08-7.43 2020 1,492,611
—E--F —TCTF
EECCE
Other loans - unsecured R 5~ EER 2,00 2021 3,000,000 2.00 2020 3,000,000
—EC--F —ZT-TF
Senior notes - unsecured (b) BLER —EKH(0) 12.80 2021 2,311,130 - = =
—E--F
Asset backed securities — BEIRESF - - - - 7.25 2021 996,314
unsecured (c) EARH(0) —E-—F
13,277,895 8,742,329
20,235,845 12,400,725
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31 December 2019 —ZE—HAFE+=-A=+—H
27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 27. S$RTREMEE(E)

2019 2018
=E-NF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Analysed into: DA
Bank and other borrowings repayable: AR T BEEERE 2
WITREMEE :
Within one year or on demand* —FE R IR E K> 6,957,950 3,658,396
In the second year E_fF 9,097,747 7,104,552
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EZERF(BEERME) 4,167,555 1,620,490
Beyond five years BBRF 12,593 17,287
20,235,845 12,400,725
* The Group had no amount which is not repayable within one year based . RZE-—NF+ZA=+—RH  KEEREX
on scheduled repayment date but has been classified as current liability HBARBEFRERN —FANER  BEHR
as the counterparty has discretionary rights to demand immediate HAEEWBEREERFER(ZZE—NEF : A

repayment as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB476,000). R¥476,0007) * MEDERTEALE -



27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings at the end of the
reporting period were denominated in the following currencies.

Annual Report 2019 =T —JLFF IR

27. BRTREMBEE)

RNBERMEER - RITREMEEZREE
TIA T E#FIE -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBT T

HKS$ 7B 482 3,720

SGD AN T 78,420 80,662

USD ESyM 3,157,092 1,629,367

RMB AR 16,999,851 10,786,976

20,235,845 12,400,725

Notes: et -

(a) On 25 January 2019, the Company completed the issuance of bonds at (a) RZZE-—NF—AZTHRB ' XARIRERE
principal amount of USD100 million (at carrying amount of approximately B G EREG TR ETR_E_2F—A
RMB695,963,000 as at 31 December 2019) carrying interest of 8.0% —+=H 552 A% %100,000,000% 7t (A
per annum due on 22 January 2020 in accordance with the terms and —E-hFTZA=T—HEREBENARKE
conditions of the subscription agreement. The bonds were unsecured 695,963,0007C ) &% * RFHZEB8.0EF R °
but guaranteed by related companies, which are ultimately controlled by EHABERKM - BEHHuangZ L &% 2 7
Ms. Huang. The bonds proceeds had been fully utilised as intended for ERRER - BFRAGRIERREEARER
general corporate purposes of the Group. The bonds were subsequently RERKEz —REEAR - ZEFBEEER
redeemed in January 2020. T F—AEE-

(o) On 3 October 2019, the Company issued senior notes at a principal (o) R=ZZB—NAF+A=8 ' AARRERBERZ

amount of US$220 million carrying interest of 12.8% per annum due
on 3 October 2021 in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the subscription agreement (“2019 Original Notes”). Subsequently on
20 December 2019, the Company issued additional senior notes at a
principal amount of US$120 million under the same terms and conditions
of the subscription agreement of 2019 Original Notes. The additional
senior notes are consolidated with the 2019 Original Notes and form
a single series at an aggregated principal amount of US$340 million
carrying interest of 12.8% per annum due on 3 October 2021. The
US$340 million senior notes are listed and traded in the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong. The senior notes were unsecured but guaranteed by
related companies, which are ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang. The
net proceeds of the senior notes were intended to refinance existing
indebtedness and for project developments and general corporate
purposes. Details of the senior notes issuance are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 26 September 2019, 3 October 2019,
12 December 2019 and 19 December 2019.

ZIERERGEEETR_E=—F+A=0%
Hi 7z 7K 4 %1220,000,0003 ST F B 12.8 B8 %
ZR(ZZ—NFRAZEK]) - HER=ZT
—hNhE+=-ZA=+B ARFARE-_FT—A
F R I8 RIRRIE % 2 18 R & 5) R {E 28 ok
217N £ %1120,000,0003 T 1B £ E & - FHD
BEZBRR_T-NTFREZEAHAE—ER
- BR=ZFE=Z—F+A=HEHBHzAELE
£8340,000,000%E T B 12.8EE L RHE - Z
340,000,000 T8 L ZER BB B FT £
REE - BLRIEAEKE - BEHuang&Z
ARG 2 BRE A AR - BAZRBATEHIE
FRERAEREESBRE  BEERUAR—
ME¥ERZ - BRAELRERFTHFABINAE
AEIHBAZZS—NFNA=Z+~E =%
—hFE+A=8 - —E—hh&E+-A+=-BK
—E-hFET-ATNABHAE -
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31 December 2019 —ZE—HAFE+=-A=+—H
27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(c) On 31 July 2018, a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Company
engaged in property development completed the issuance of asset-
backed securities carrying coupon rate of 7.2% per annum. The asset-
backed securities were unsecured but guaranteed by a related company
ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang. The securities were redeemed in
April 2019.

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured by the
Group’s pledged deposits, investment properties, property, plant and
equipment, properties under development and completed properties held
for sale with the total carrying amount of RMB19,987,547,000 (2018:
RMB15,539,435,000). In additions, shares of certain subsidiaries were
pledged as securities to obtain certain bank and other borrowings granted
to the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. Details of which are
disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.

In additions, as at 31 December 2019 the Group’s bonds, senior notes
and bank and other borrowings at carrying amount of approximately
RMB10,375,226,000 (2018: RMB600,000,000) were guaranteed by related
companies which were controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company.

27.

RITRHEMER (F)
Wit : ()

(© REZZ—N\EtA=+—8 ARAREME
BR2ETENBRARERETEEIFE
5 FEERAT2E - ZFEEIRESFA
IR - BRHuangZ TR 2 FE QA
BR - 2EBZHFERNT-NFHNAEL -

AEBMETRTEREMEETHAEER@TA
B AR #19,087,547,000 (= — \F : A
R#15,539,435,00070) 2 B FIEE - IKEW
¥ ¥ BEELE - BRYPMERSEL
EZERIYEMERE - b4 R=ZZ—NF
E=FE—NF+=-_A=+—H EFKHBLR
2B BEEER WS AEEMERZET
RITREMEE  BEAFBERU SRR ES?

o RZE—-—AFEF+-_A=+—H &
EEZES  BEEBEUNREEEHOAR
#10,375,226,000 T (—Z T —/\F : AR¥
600,000,000t ) Z $R1T R EMEERAR QG &
IRYE IR AR B P ) 2 B A R FEAR o
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“E-NEFER

DEFERRED TAX 28. EERIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary TR EREELVEERBEEERBBEZZ#EWN
differences are as follows: o
Deferred tax assets BEEREEE
Accrued
Provision expenses for
Tax loss for LAT tax purpose Total
T IBER
BIEEE B RBEEX met
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT R ARBT R AR®T R
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZ—\F—H—H - - - -
Credited to profit or loss FARBREEA
during the year (note 11) (KfsE11) 57,299 5,869 = 63,168
Deferred tax assets at R=ZZ—\F+=H
31 December 2018 =t—HAz
EERBEE 57,299 5,869 - 63,168
Credited to profit or loss FRRBEERTA
during the year (note 1) (KfsF11) 5,899 32,478 92,609 130,986
Deferred tax assets at RZZT—NF+=A
31 December 2019 =t+t—H2
EREREEE 63,198 38,347 92,609 194,154
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
Withholding
Revaluation tax on
of properties distributable
Revaluation acquired profits of
Accelerated of under the Group’s
tax investment business PRC
depreciation properties combination Subsidiaries Total
KEEF
EBAH Bt A &
EBLE REW= ETKEz TokKEZ
nE B MEER EMB met
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®T R AR%T AR¥T T AR¥T
At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—\&—HA—H (55) (2,583) (4,496) - (7,134)
Charged to profit or loss FARERFENG
during the year (note 11) (HiaE11) = 728 = = 728
Transfer to LAT payables B A IR E R B = = 1,206 - 1,206
Exchange realignment b 5 S B @) (121) - - (124)
Deferred tax liabilities at NZZE—NF+=A
31 December 2018 and =—F
1 January 2019 k=—ZT—-NF—HA—H
ZEEBIEER (58) (1,976) (8,290) - (6,324)
Charged to profit or loss FARNER NG
during the year (note 11) (HizE11) - - - (95,000) (95,000)
Transfer to LAT payables 5 TR ETEMN A = = 1,200 = 1,200
Exchange realignment P& 5 A% (1) (25) - - (26)
Deferred tax liabilities at RZZT—NF+=HA
31 December 2019 =+t—HZ
EEFIBEE (59) (2,001) (2,090) (95,000) (99,150)
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28.

nNF+=-—A=+—H
DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets were
recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
relevant future taxable profits will be available against for utilisation. These
unused tax losses were in respect of certain PRC subsidiaries carried
forward at the end of 2019 and the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that these certain PRC subsidiaries will generate sufficient future
taxable profits.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had total unrecognised unused tax losses
of RMB613,587,000 (2018: RMB542,436,000), which were subject to
agreement with respective tax authorities, available to offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these
unused tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries and the Company that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Except for tax losses incurred in the PRC amounting to RMB71,714,000
(2018: RMB45,961,000) will expire within five years since the date of carry
forward, these unrecognised unused tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely, subject to fulfilment of certain conditions or rules.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes at applicable rate of 10% on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax amounting of RMB95,000,000
(2018: Nil) was recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted distributable earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland PRC. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, it is probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2019, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax
liability on the temporary differences associated with investments in these
PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
(2018: temporary differences unrecognised for deferred tax liabilities of
RMB232,684,000).

28.

ESERE (4])
A B0 2 1 ()
BE-B-AF+-A=t—ALFE 7T
B AABMATERBRTERES - UBH
ABABABRBREEHNEAE - KEAD

RABBREEDRETHENBARR -1
FRAESR  RARREERE  ZF&T
B8 A RIS EE A R 50 2 R IR FEER TR A

E—NF+TZA=1T—H0  AEEKRER
ABARAEREE S ARK613,687,0007T

—ZT—\F : AR¥542,436,0007T) © A
BB BB L2 - 0 B ERINREKF

B ARFRIEEBEHREEE —BRER 2B
RNA)RANRA B EE R K] B A FE R m A AT
LA SETRIEE 1 - S B2 E R AFIE
EEERELERIBEEE - RIRNRRELEZFIE
BB ARKE71,714,000c( = —\F : AR¥E
45,961,0007T ) 1% B 1 *ﬁaﬁﬁtﬁiﬁwﬁﬁﬁl\ 0
RERERADAREBETERBLEE -
AREETHRERA -

REPEEERMFEHE - R BRI 28
IMRERENIRRE TBIMREER - AR
BB10% M - ZHMER=FZTNF—A
—BHRAERKREAR-ZZZLF+TZA=1+—
H2ZEE&A o B A RSN 1% & & PR e
AERERI ARG E - AERARBERDHR
o Ht - NEEARPBEAM ZKHTEA
AR —TZENF-H B ZREENENK
B9 AR SR B R 0% AN TR ©

Z-NF+-A=+—8  AEERRH

Wﬁﬁﬁ%iZMﬂ% RIZBRMNTEMF AR E L
DIRBRFNENOBNHERECHBARE
95,000,0007‘1(:?72\¢ ) ARREES
RE - ZENBRR AR RARRD KGR
B o
Z—NF+_A=+—8  HERWVER

u/uﬁiﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁi%‘?W%Qiﬁ'\]?ﬁﬁ*ﬁ
BreEBEZEMms  WEBARERELTE
AE(ZE—N\F  BEERIEEBEZ RERLRE
=8 ARH232,684,0007T) °
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. MR
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: BETRHR :
10,294,699,948 (2018: 6,176,819,969) 10,294,699,948/ (=& — N\ :
ordinary shares 6,176,819,9694% ) & % 2,014,112 587,529
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows: RARIRAEENZFHINNAT :
Number of
ordinary shares
in issue Share capital
21T
ZEREAE ;&N
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and RZZE-N\F—H—H "
1 January 2019 2 \FE+=-—A=+—BK
—E—hEFE—HA—H 6,176,819,969 587,529
Issue of new ordinary shares (Note) AT BAR (ATt 4,117,879,979 1,428,031
Share issue expenses HEITA = (1,448)
At 31 December 2019 N-_ZE—hE+-_B=+—8H 10,294,699,948 2,014,112
Note: On 2 May 2019, the Company and the controlling shareholder of the Kiat - RZZ—NFERAZH XARERQRZE

Company entered into a subscription agreement for the subscription
of 4,117,879,979 new ordinary shares under specific mandate at the
subscription price of HK$0.38 per share for a total consideration, before
expenses, of RMB1,428,031,000. The new ordinary shares were allotted
and issued on 15 August 2019. All the shares issued during the year rank
pari passu with other shares in issue in all respects.

F% A% B 5T 37 3R B8 195 sk AR IR B B IR A IR R AR
EER%0.38/8 L RKE4,117,879,979M 1 & i
i% - BREAARE1,428,031,0007T (AR
XA c FEBRER-_Z—NAENA+EA
Bo 35 KRBT - FRBEITHAARGEMAEAR
75 H SLE Ath B BTN F A R EHAL -
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30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(c)

PRC statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC, these
entities are required to appropriate 10% of their net profits after tax,
as determined under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the
entities, the statutory surplus reserves may be used either to offset
losses, or to be converted to increase share capital provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered
capital of the Group. The reserve cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which it is created and is not distributable as cash
dividends.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve represents the gain on revaluation
of the property, plant and equipment upon transfer to investment
properties.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of group
entities. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.4.

30. &%

AREZEESERARDE_S—NE+=
A=+—BIEEZ 2B 2IINGA RS
£ -

(@) HEIEERE
REBEFBERBERNHBERZIONER
AIMARERMAA  ZSERARNR
aAFERR Z10%RBUEE B R E © Ut
TREPREAREREE  EERER
BED HEMEAR0% AL - ZHEFEF
BUEA R ERAMERARMEE TR
W Z MR - X TE 2 i P A I K SH S
BRI INRA - BEREFEER
BAELINAEEEMERZ225% °
EE TS AERR B AN E
& TARERREMEDIK °

(b) MEEMMHE
MEEHREREYE  BERREEEH
=REMEZEA W -

(c) HERE
INEFERIERESE TR BRI
ELXNFTBINEESE - GREREREN
E2 AR S RTBURRE ©



31.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the year, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement with
Henan Huizheng City Construction Company Limited, which was ultimately
controlled by Ms. Huang, to acquire 100% equity interests in Henan Xinrong
Real Estate Company Limited (“Henan Xinrong”) at the consideration of
RMB50,000,000. Pursuant to the terms and condition of the acquisition
agreement, the acquisition transaction was completed on 21 February
2019. Henan Xinrong is engaged in property development in the PRC.

The acquisition is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting
in accordance with HKFRS 3 Business Combinations. The recognised
amounts of assets and liabilities of Henan Xinrong at the date of acquisition
are set out below:

31.
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EBEH

FR - AEEETEEERBERAERAF (A
Huang 2 == fx A& 4% il 19 22 A) ) 5T S W BB 1 2
NREIEmEREXARAR(DTEER] 2
100% & #E - (KB = A R %50,000,0007T ° 1
B 2 R KBRS ER=F
—AEZAZ+—BEX - TEERNTERE
EMEEE -

RIBEBIBMELENEIREB SO 2B
ZRDERAEFRBEAR - A EERN I
RHFERCEERBBESRHIIMT

RMB’000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment Yz - B REE 62
Properties under development EEAYE 361,194
Deposits and prepayments paid for land acquisitions B i iR & R B RIE 1,280
Accounts receivable, other receivables and other assets FEURBE R « E b e I R H B &E 10,602
Amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company* i & NI N E 976
Prepaid income tax and tax recoverable TEGI PRS2 K P e m 7518 4,355
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFSEREER 3,069
Accounts payable, deposits received and accruals BRERR - BEuze RIETEA (28,273)
Contract liabilities EHBE (62,343)
Amounts due to related companies FEAHREE D Rl IE (240,652)
Tax liabilities ARG (270)
Net assets acquired Pl s & =5 E 50,000
Consideration satisfied by cash MRS T ARE (50,000)
Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired T iEe3h & MR & FETEE Ak 3,069
Net cash outflow on acquisition WS IEA IR & F (46,931)

Amounts due from subsidiaries of the Company were eliminated in the
consolidation upon the completion of acquisition.

Upon the completion of the acquisition, Henan Xinrong incurred a net loss
of approximately RMB3,707,000 to the Group’s consolidated profit for
the year ended 31 December 2019, and no revenue has been generated
from Henan Xinrong during the year. Had the acquisition taken place at the
beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group would have no changes
and the consolidated profit would have been decreased by RMB272,000.

© ERAAFNEA SRR EE R
R AR B BHE S o

WEEBXRE  TEERALAEEHEE-Z
—NF+-_A=1+—HILFENLEEHTEER
B8R 5 AR 3,707,0007T © F A R E
WHEEETEMKE - MKREBESEREYEE -
BIAEEZ MBI SELEZE LS RFE
B ARBE272,0007T ©
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. In
view of the Group’s expansion strategy, the Group has sourced funding
from banks, financial institutions, bonds, senior notes, asset backed
securities and its related companies in which Ms. Huang has beneficial
interests and continued to look for other external financing sources. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior period.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with the share capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues, raising of new borrowings or redemption of debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related companies and loans
from a related company, net of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank
balances and pledged deposits. The gearing ratio as at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

EXEmER

AEBEBEAD ARRAEEEBENTFE
e RNERELCEFEER TEHARRTS
REAERK ENAEBEZIREERE  ~A5E
HIRIT - SREE - FF  BAERR  EEX
FBH RHuangZ +H B EmEm < HE N T
EEESRRREESKEMINIMERE -
NG B R B RAS ELB T R RIT T E -

ARBEZEFHREHNEARE - BEEAZ
HEN  ARAEERREARRA K[ HAL
AHERE - MEARRNEFTER  AKEGEBR
SANRE - BITHRD  BRFEERELE
T FPEEERERRESE -

AEEEARBREAGEIE  NRERTR
HibfEE  BABEARZKERRE —HHE
ARER  BRREERFALEEHED XRHR
THARBERZRS REBEHRZEEAR
e

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBT T

Amounts due to related companies FEAS B E A RIFRIE 956,458 473,199
Loans from a related company KE—HEEARIZER 7,490,728 12,876,310
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 20,235,845 12,400,725
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W HeRRS%SEER (3,200,230) (673,412)
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIRITAE S (691,992) (101,913)
Pledged deposits BEEMZE (886,329) (714,365)
Net debt BEFHE 23,904,480 24,260,544
Total assets 4B 51,942,189 39,569,259
Gearing ratio BEAMELEX 46% 61%
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. RERESz2E€RMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as RIBERR  SESRMIAZKREENT :

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2019 —E—hE
Financial assets THEE
2019 2018
—E-hF —EN\F
Financial assets Financial assets

at fair value Financial at fair value Financial

through profit assetsat  through profit assets at

orloss amortised cost orloss amortised cost

BOFEFA RBERA  BOVERA REHAAE
BECEREE FTEZEREE BRECEREE HHEZEREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTL ARBTL ARBTR

Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZEREE
profit or loss 349,876 - 232,532 =
Accounts receivable FEURBR K - 24,629 = 22,218
Financial assets included in AR EKGRIE R
other receivables and other assets HthEEZBEE - 52,088 - 12,451
Debt investment at amortised cost BEHENAGTE 2 EBRE - - - 323,257
Pledged deposits [aEigitiea - 886,329 = 714,365
Restricted bank balances RRHIRITEE R - 691,992 = 101,913
Cash and cash equivalents He hBRe%EER - 3,200,230 - 673,412
349,876 4,855,268 232,532 1,847,616
Financial liabilities THERE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
R R A REE SRR A
TEzeRAE HEZSEAR
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Accounts payables FETERIX 121,847 173
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FTAHAMERNRIE EZe &k
deposits and accruals ExtER s SHAaE 2,993,766 1,262,919
Amounts due to a related company e —RRE R R I8 956,458 473,199
Loans from a related company KE—RHEEA AR ZER 7,490,728 12,876,310
Lease liabilities HEBE 5,566 -
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 20,235,845 12,400,725

31,804,210 27,013,326
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

34. TMITRAZAFERAIFEER

RIERR  SREMTAZRERENT

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AFE

2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-NF  ZF-N\F CT-AF —T-)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR¥TT AR¥TR AR¥T T
Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets at fair value BRATEGABRZ

through profit or loss CREE 349,876 232,532 349,876 232,532
Financial liabilities SRMEE

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 20,235,845 12,400,725 20,056,975 12,274,960

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, pledged deposits, accounts
receivable, financial assets included in other receivables and other assets,
accounts payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, amounts due to related companies and loans from a related
company approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market
prices.

The fair values of bank and other borrowings have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk
for bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2019 were assessed to
be insignificant.

ERECHERSIESFERE  XRHIR
T BEEMRE - BRERR st AEME
WHRIAREMEEZ CREE « BNERR - &
AEMENFEREFERZEBEE - BN
MEARREAENRKE —RBAERRZERAF
EEEBREEABEE - HENZET AL
BT

AEERUBERIENTHER  BEEES
MTARNFEAEZBERERF - HBEEE
EREFRUBERS - NERSBAH - M
DT E T AN EER S RE GHETER
ZERGAE - HEHEFNEEEHRIE

EREENRABENQAFEDEER A HEBRR
FTERRGHEBTEZ &5 @EREREE
ZEREERBERI -

B EMBRARE 2 A HERTISREE -

RITREMEBEEZ R FETBBERARKER
ERERABFARAREBLGER  FERRE
SHRTEIHR 2 TR ZMFETRRAE - 1
“E-NFE+ZA=+—B  AEEFHERT
REMEENTRORREHNATELZDE
M RE -



34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2019

34.
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EMTAZAFER
(%
DR EER

“E-NEFER

DFEER

TRIIMAEEeMTAZ A TEGFSER

BAFEFEZEE:
REZF-—NF+=—A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTEEFEZATE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERT S BEAUEE BEATAEHE
ZHRE LOPN ¢ WAEE
(-4 (=4 (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARBT T ARBT T
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZZ
through profit or loss EREE 349,876 - - 349,876
As at 31 December 2018 RZF-NFF+=—A=4+—H
Fair value measurement using
FERAUTBIETE 2N FE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EB T 5 BEAUEE BEAFAEHE
ZE [PN ¢ (PN ¢
(E—%) (B=4) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBTT
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEABEZ
through profit or loss TRIEE 232,532 - - 232,532
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 3. TRTECAFERATFEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEER(E)

The Group had no financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 R_B—HAE+-_F=+—8  KEELEF
December 2019 (2018: Nil). RAFEAECERABE(ZT—N\F : &) -
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FXN - eREERCREBEE REFT_RK2
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both Bl ENFEE 2 EE  NEER T 3R
financial assets and financial liabilities (2018: Nil). BEZR(ZZT—N\F: &) -

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: HEAFEZEE

As at 31 December 2019 RZF-—NF+=—HA=1+—H

Fair value measurement using
FERAUTBIETE2 A TEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EB™ IS BAUEE BEAFATHE

ZHE BWARE LN ¢
(E—%) (B=#&) (B=4) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T AR®T T AR®T T ARBTT

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE - 20,056,975 - 20,056,975
As at 31 December 2018 REZF-—NF+=—A=1+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERAATEEFEZATVE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
JEB™ S BEAAEE BEATAEE
ZHRE LPN & WA BE
(F—%%) (F=&) (B=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMET T ARMT T AR¥T T ARBTT

Bank and other borrowings HITREMEER = 12,274,960 = 12,274,960




35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank balances, accounts receivable, other
receivables, accounts payable, other payables and accruals and amounts
due to related companies, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as pledged deposits,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities, and loans from a related company. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, other price risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk
management. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s bank and other borrowings with floating interest
rate set out in note 27. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its interest cost
using a mix of fixed and variable rate borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax.

35.
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MERREERFERBX

AEENIZERTATZRERSRASSE
BB - ZEHIRITESR - BRIRR - EME
WHIR -« EAERR - BN FERESER
NMENBEARNE REeMITARERS
MEEEL ASEEFEMCEREERA
- MEERRE RATEAABRRZESR
BE  ROLEMGEER HERERKE—MH
MEARZER ZEeMITANTIERMNE
RRAEBZELERE -

AEETMTREENTERAR AN EER
HEREAR  SMNERR - EERBRREREHE
EEE - —KRMF - ARELEEREERR
RTHRREE - AEBARFAXRBETARIZH0T
Ee@MTA BEEghJYREZSTRARER
KSR - Eatan T e

F=E

AN £% [ T B 1 T 35 ) R B B L g o 2 ER P R 27
PEAEEFSRTRAMEERR - AEE
WEERTESR T EEDRXRER - NEEH
ERAESREEEEEREFSKA

TRIREMREEMAZRERRFTENER
T MENSEARESGFREDTHAEE
BB 2 & -

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

in basis in profit

2019 points before tax
2 BBt A%

—E-hF LA (THE) B,/ GEA)
RMB’000

ARBTR

Loans and borrowings denominated in NI EEE 2 B REE

HKS$ BT 100 (5)
HK$ BT (100) 5
UsD e 100 (1,500)
usD =1 (100) 1,500
SGD EDIlIE o 100 (784)
SGD T (100) 784
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

MEERERERRRBEKR)

Interest rate risk (continued) F = b (48)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit
2018 points before tax
2 BB AR R
—E-N\F LA (THE) #n, i)
RMB’000
AR¥TT

Loans and borrowings denominated in LTI ER.TECERKEER

HK$ BT 100 (34)
HK$ BT (100) 34
UsD ETT 100 (1,538)
UsD ETT (100) 1,538
SGD i oT 100 (800)
SGD N TT (100) 800

Other price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease
as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
listed investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The management manages this exposure by regular review of price
fluctuation.

Price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to price risks of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
at the end of the reporting period.

HitbER AR

B A 1% B 75 B AR 15 UK R (B Bl 3 5B B
HYHEYUBRAFZHSRATFETE AR - AEE
AZWEIBRBRAFEFABGEZEMEEZ
EHRERAERER - B EEBEREMHN
ERRIEE IR LR o

BERBRE
AT BURE DT AR EHIR IR A FEGF AEE
ZeRMEEBRAEAIARERE

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

—T-AF+=A=1+—AH

—E-N\FE+=ZA=+—H

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in market in profit
price before tax

HiE RRBE Al E F

LA (TRE) #m, Chd)
% RMB’000

% AR®TT

10 34,988
(10) (34,988)

10 23,253

(10) (23,253)



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise
from transactions by operating units in currencies other than the units’

functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the HK$, USD, SGD and JPY
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of monetary assets and

Annual Report 2019

—E-NEEH

MEEREERRRBEKR)

SN LB

AEBEEmHRZEERER -
REBRIABMMTGEEHE AN EEETR

ZMEL o

TRINTERAEM A ERRIFIENIBER
T ARBT - XL MK KB EEXLY
& I T B S ) R £R (B 0 S i AR BV R A A
NeBREIM(BREKEERBREZATE

ZERBRTIRAR

liabilities). FEFTE) ©
Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/
exchange rate (decrease)
of foreign in profit
currency before tax
INEBE R BRBE A%
LA (TRE) #m, Chd)
% RMB’000
% ARETT
2019 —E-NF
If the HK$ strengthens against the RMB i 7S 70 5 A REFHE 5 18
If the HK$ weakens against the RMB i 7o A RERE (5) (18)
If the USD strengthens against the RMB Mz i AREHE 5 62,158
If the USD weakens against the RMB i3 i A RERE (5) (62,158)
If the SGD strengthens against the RMB fisi % D03 T 3 A REEFHE 5 378
If the SGD weakens against the RMB fis BT I3 T 3 A R B2 E (5) (378)
If the JPY strengthens against the RMB fir A B A REFAE 5 18
If the JPY weakens against the RMB i BE N ARERE (5) (18)
2018 —TN\F
If the HK$ strengthens against the RMB AT A REHAE 5 (68)
If the HK$ weakens against the RMB fimPSmH ARERE (5) 68
If the USD strengthens against the RMB WETHAREHE 5 (2,463)
If the USD weakens against the RMB T ARERE (%) 2,463
If the SGD strengthens against the RMB B ¥ N T A REFAE 5 722
If the SGD weakens against the RMB fis BT N3 T A RSB E (5) (722)
If the JPY strengthens against the RMB fir A B A REFE 5 159
If the JPY weakens against the RMB fir A B 5 A R B2 B (5) (159)
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—E-NF+=—A=+—H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BIKEMEEBEERBK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk EERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is AREBELRERTMNEERTZE=7ETR
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are 5 MBANEBBNEHE @ TARBRIZEEIETE
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are TRGNBEFH BRI EEZERR o b -
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is NEBSFHEEREWNRIBLELBEL » MALE
not significant. 2 AR E R IR E K o
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERERER FAEER
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to TRIWNRERAEE ZERENEELEEZNEx
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on REERBHAO  TEENBEBAEN (EE
past due information unless other information is available without undue &R BERZKASE HEIAE) KRR+ A
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. =+ —HZFREERDE -
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. 254 5E A ESEAREE -
As at 31 December 2019 REZF-—ANF+=—A=4+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8 A
FEEE 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
SE1REER E2REER B3R KPS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR¥TR AR¥Tr AR¥T R AR¥T
Accounts receivable* i B 2R - - - 8,030 8,030
Accounts receivable e BR K
— Normal** —E&E* 16,599 - - - 16,599
Financial assets included in other =t A E fth FE U /T8 %
receivables and other assets HtBEZSRMEE
— Normal** —EE* 52,738 - - - 52,738
Pledged deposits BEFEE
— Not yet past due — K& 886,329 - - - 886,329
Restricted bank balances X EISRITAER
— Not yet past due — R 691,992 - - - 691,992
Cash and cash equivalents RekBELEMBEEE
— Not yet past due — R H 3,200,230 - - - 3,200,230
4,847,888 - - 8,030 4,855,918




35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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35. MKEMEEEERBE(E)

Credit risk (continued) EERE(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RERRER FAER(E)
As at 31 December 2018 RZF-—NFF+=-HA=4+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A FE &
EEFR 2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1PKER SE2REER SEIMEER Bt m % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR®BT R AR®BT R AR®T R AR®BT R
Accounts receivable* JE U AR TR - - - 8,694 8,694
Accounts receivable e BR K
- Normal* — e 13,524 - - - 13,524
Financial assets included in other  =F A E fth UL /T8 %
receivables and other assets HthEEZSREE
— Normal™* = IE 13,101 - - - 13,101
Debt investment at amortised cost & 5k AT E ~
EBIRE 323,257 - - = 323,257
Pledged deposits BERRe
— Not yet past due — K@ H 714,365 - - - 714,365
Restricted bank balances SR HIRITEE R
— Not yet past due — AR E 101,913 = = = 101,913
Cash and cash equivalents RekBRE&EMEEE
— Not yet past due — R 673,412 - - = 673,412
1,839,572 - - 8,694 1,848,266

For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment as detailed in note 21 to the financial
statements, there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in accounts receivable,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

. WAANER B 18 R B 7 SR MY A2 PR AR E RS M
TENBEESRME - AREYEEFAERE
HEERR °

- BT ARKARR - HttEEREBEREMEEZ
SREEADY  BUEENETERMEEN
EEER B MIa R ARBELINE - £RE
ENEEERBERIESR]
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank and other borrowings, lease
liabilities and loans from a related company. Cash flows are being closely
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as

follows:

As at 31 December 2019

35. MKEMEEEERBE(E)

RBEEER
AEBZBBEREBMNARTREMES  H

EBEAKAKE —HBERARZER

HBRAE

SREHRELREREZFE - AEERERY

B TH A2 =
ERATRE -

RBEMR  ARESBEBEREBESORUE
ML EZ AT

R=FB-NF+=A=1—H

On demand
or within 1to 3to Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
EEX
B—FR —ZWF =ERE BBRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR TR AR¥ETR AR¥TR AR¥ETR
Accounts payable FERTBRER 121,847 - - - 121,847
Financial liabilities included in other &t A E 4 2 Wiz & & =t
deposits received and accruals ERzemaRE 2,993,766 - - - 2,993,766
Amounts due to related companies & BEA 7318 956,458 - - - 956,458
Loans from a related company RE—RBEARZER
— Non-interest bearing —B s 7,490,728 - - - 7,490,728
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,871 1,945 2,438 - 6,254
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 8,274,557 9,907,074 4,512,801 13,868 22,708,300
19,839,227 9,909,019 4,515,239 13,868 34,277,353
Financial guarantee contracts (Note) 81 ¥ 1R A& 4 (f15E) 7,819,571 - - - 7,819,571
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. MEEREERRERBRGHE)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESEK(E)
As at 31 December 2018 R-E-NEF+=ZA=+—H
On demand
or within 1to 3to Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
EER
H—FR —EMF =EEE BBRF met

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRT AR¥ETRT AR%TRT AR¥TT AR%TR

Accounts payable ARE 173 = = = 173
Financial liabilities included in other st A H{th 2 Wi & &
deposits received and accruals EAERAZERAEE 1,262,919 - - - 1,262,919
Amounts due to related companies & BiE 2 7l E 473,199 = = = 473,199
Loans from a related company RE—RMBEERARIZER
- Non-interest bearing —%8 12,876,310 - - - 12,876,310
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 4,262,003 7,446,424 1,735,804 19,000 13,463,231
18,874,604 7,446,424 1,735,804 19,000 28,075,832
Financial guarantee contracts (Note) 81 ##E R A 4 (H15E) 3,699,022 - - - 3,699,022
Note: The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the st ERBBSIERE QSRR ERE F 5 REUVERH
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the HIER - AEBRIBLHE AT AR N 2 BER
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed HEzEmeRE ERBREHREEBRZE
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on the expectations at 8- AEERFARBEBERY XS EERE
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more ZABEETK o AT - EEHRTHF A RIR
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. ERREEZAIEMEMABEZ - LA REIEAR T
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability HFEFMBERMBERERIBEEEEXEEES
of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function BiE °

of the likelihood that the guaranteed financial receivables held by the
counterparty suffer credit losses.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank and other borrowings with RZZ-—NF+ZA=+—08 ' "EEHRHR
a repayment on demand clause but not repayable within one year are ZRERBEAETR —FREEZRITREAM
classified under “on demand or within 1 year” time band in the maturity BERIBEINEAIEERE—FA FKHE
analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position and the fair HAX -G RASEHBFRAREEFEEZR
value of the pledged assets, the directors of the Company believe that TE - ARBIEEHRRE - RITTPARAIGEITER
it is not probable that the bank will exercise its discretionary right to TR ERZBIEE  mMBEBATCHERBZ
demand immediate repayment and such term borrowings will be repaid ERWMRHBETERBEER - R A%
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan RITREMEBZFERAGHSTESHOT ¢

agreements. On this basis, the interest and principal cash flows for the bank
and other borrowings would be as follows:

As at 31 December 2018 R-E-NEFE+=ZA=+—H
On demand
or within
1 year 1to 2 years 2 to 5 years Total
BER
R—FR —ZWF —ZhHE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR®T T AR®T T ARBTT

Bank and other borrowings with a MR ZRER IR Z
repayment on demand clause RITREMEE 92 476 - 568
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36.

—F-NAF+ZA=t+—H

RERTRERME

CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (a) BETH2EEEFH
Amounts Loans from Bank and
due to related arelated Accrued Lease other
companies company interest* liabilities borrowings Total
EfHE RE- BR
RAFE  BELNIER RIS HEEE HitfEE @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR®TT ARBTT AR®TT AR®T T ARETT
At 31 December 2018 R=E-\#+-A=t-H 473,199 12,876,310 18,342 - 12,400,725 25,768,576
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 RNEBSBREEN
F16H LT E = = = 6,813 - 6,813
At 1 January 2019 (restate) R=E-NE—F—H(E%) 473,199 12,876,310 18,342 6,813 12,400,725 25,775,389
Increase arising from acquistion of WEE—RHB AR ZEM
a subsidiary 240,652 - - - - 240,652
Interest expenses RS - - 1,019,308 457 - 1,019,855
Changes from financing cash flows (note)  BABSHELH (M) 242,607 (5,385,5682) (930,724) (1,782 7,864,677 1,789,196
Foreign exchange translation MNERE - - - 78 (29,557) (29,479
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=t-H 956,458 7,490,728 107,016 5,566 20,235,845 28,795,613
Amounts Loans from Bank and
due to related arelated Accrued other
companies company interest* borrowings Total
EARE RE-M BITR
ARHE  HELFER RS HitfEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE-N\E—A-H 2,408,436 2,650,862 13,303 7,730,618 12,803,219
Interest expenses FlEfX - 646 546,308 - 546,954
Changes from financing cash flows (note) &R & REEE(H/:2) (1,935,237 10,224,802 (541,269) 4,574,555 12,322,851
Foreign exchange translation SAEHRE - - - 95,552 95,552
At 31 December 2018 RZZ2-\FTZA=+-H 473,199 12,876,310 18,342 12,400,725 25,768,576
Note: The financing cash flows are made up of the net amounts of new Hiat - BERESRERGEHEERERAZ

bank and other borrowings raised, repayment of bank and other
borrowings, interest paid, advance from/repayment to related
companies, loans received from/repaid to a related company and
lease payments (including principal and interest portions) in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Included in accounts payable, deposits received and accruals.

SERTRAMSE  MERITRE
st BNFE - BEARBK
B Bl EE-HEREARER
RAENR(RERSRABH)Z
FE

SEABNERR - CUiRE RETER -



36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 36.
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

37.

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:
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RERERERME(E)

(b) FHERSHHARE
HRenERABEESRSMLERELT

2019
S i
RMB’000
ARETFR

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

REEFHA
REESA

37.

The following assets are pledged to certain banks and financial institutions
for banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage loan facilities
granted to certain property buyers of the Group’s properties at the end of

the reporting period:

5,081
1,782

6,863

EEEHA

RBERR - LTEECDERTETRITRS
BEBESAEEERRTMEMANEEYE
ZETHXERERRISHE 2EM

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR¥TT

Property under development ERPYE 18,468,315 14,206,367
Investment properties BEYE 623,299 609,005
Property, plant and equipment Y% BRE K& 9,604 9,698
Pledged deposits [EEigiikec 886,329 714,365
19,987,547 15,539,435

In addition, shares of certain subsidiaries were pledged as securities to
obtain certain banking facilities granted to the Group as at 31 December

2019 and 2018.

o RZE—NERZFTE—-—NE+=A
=+—H BEREETHBARZKG @ AE
BREEERE THRTHE 2K -



170

Zensun Enterprises Limited

EBEXERAA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS ERAR MR

31 December 2019
38.

39.

TN F+=-—A=+—H

COMMITMENTS 38. EiE
(@) The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the (a) RFEHHELEER AEBZEARNEAIE
reporting period: /(N
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥BT T
Contracted for but not provided in respect of YIEBERAS ZER]L
property development expenditures BRBE e 11,867,163 20,012,792

(b) Operating lease arrangements as at 31 December 2018

The Group leased certain offices located in overseas under
operating lease arrangements and those leases were negotiated for
an average term of two to four years.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

b) RZB-NFF+-A=1+-HZE
EHEZH
AEERBRLEHEELZHFEES TEIH
WAE  ZEWEZHEFHFHRM
U

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H  F£&E
RIBT AL EMEES R RRIE
HEMNRERIHAWT :

2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
AR¥TR

—FNR

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

(c) The Group has no lease contracts that have not yet commenced as
at 31 December 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees amounting to approximately RMB7,819,571,000 (2018:
RMB3,699,022,000) in respect of mortgage loan facilities provided by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by
property buyers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these property buyers,
the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with accrued interest thereon and any penalties owed
by the defaulted buyers to the banks. The Group would be entitled to
take over the legal title to and possession of the related properties. These
guarantees will be released upon the earlier of (i) the satisfaction of the
mortgage loan by the buyer of the property; and (ii) the issuance of the
property ownership certificate for the mortgage property and the completion
of the deregistration of the mortgage. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, no provision for the guarantee contracts was recognised in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil) as the default risk is low and in case of default in payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the outstanding
principal together with the accrued interest and penalties.

E_EELF(BREEMF)

39.

1,853
6,226

8,079

() R=F-AF+-A=+—8 £&H
WEEMARFBNEESL -

HREE

MN-ZE-hhE+-_A=+—0 X&EEHEH
AEBMYMEZYEER U ZIEBERMBE
FRITIREZEZBEERBREZEREENARE
BHANRY7,819,571,000C(ZF—/\FE : A
R #3,699,022,0007T) ° IRBFEFERIERK © W&
EMEBRIERIZBRIE  AEBEEAEEE
KREEBRRMBITHAREBRBRBASER KT
FMEBREMEIR - AEBBEREEHEDE
HETEERMEERE ZEERBAUATRSE
BEHERRR  (WEEBREERBEN &
(NFIRIB YT LY XA A EE L ERIZBH
BUBER - ARREERA AREHRART
A BBENREYN  BEYWEAERFEE
AAREAEEARASURRFFERSS - I
ERERANREBE_ZE-—NFE+-_A=+—
BIEFE(ZE—N\F : £) ZEREMERERE
R o



40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Annual Report 2019 Z—EF—NEFEFR

40. BEALIRZ

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a) KRZSEFBRREMBIFRZR
these financial statements, the Group had the following S0 REBRREHNERBE A
transactions with related parties during the reporting TETTIRS :
period:
Related companies BEAT
(Note (i) (H1E() Transactions x5 2019 2018
—B-hE —T\fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBT T
Zensun Real Estate FHEX Interest expenses FBF%
(capitalised in properties (RERERYE
under development) BEAX{)
(Note (i) (Wt ) - 646
Relevant members of A ER Construction costs FEEMAK
Henan Zensun Corporate TEERAR (capitalised in properties (REREH
Development Company BEERAIZ under development) MEERL)
Limited (the “Zensun BHEKE LR (Note (i) CH#2(iii)
Development Group”) ((EEZE
£E]) 2,052,500 1,050,611
Notes: Hiat -
(i) Zensun Real Estate and Zensun Development Group are the (i) FEBEXERIAEESERHBARR

entities ultimately controlled by the controlling shareholder of the
Company and together with her spouse.

(i) The interest expenses were charged according to agreements
mutually agreed by both parties.

(i) The construction costs were based on terms mutually agreed by
both parties. These transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group’s bonds, senior notes and certain bank and financial
institutions facilities to the Group were guaranteed by related
companies, which are ultimately controlled by the controlling
shareholder of the Company and together with her spouse. No asset
of the Group was pledged to these related companies in respect of
these guarantees.

During the year, the Group acquired the entire interest in a
subsidiary, Henan Xinrong, from a related company, which was
controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company
and together with her spouse. Further details of the acquisition
transaction are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

ERRERE R AR B RES 2 B8

(ii) BRI TIRIREEA &5 KR
E Z B ARER ©

(il BEXKATDERBEALE S XEH
EZIEHETE - ZERZHER LR
RIEV1AARTIR TERZIFERER S ©

rEEES  BERBURETRITR
SRIEERE B A QAR R R E R E
BB & R 2 BE R RER - AEE
BE % FHRARZERER A ERE
MEE

FR - AEB B AR R REERBRE
[FIEL A (B 2 1] 2 B 1 R B Y B A 7
AEERNEES AREERBRSH
#E— A IEHN P MR MEES ©
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TN F+=-—A=+—H

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

40. BEEAITXRZ (&)

(continued) (a) (&)
During the year, the Company and the controlling shareholder FR - ANATERNAT 2 ERREE] L
of the Company entered into a subscription agreement for the ZEER s PRI R R R 2R E TR
subscription of 4,117,879,979 new ordinary shares under specific 0.38/8 LR 8 4,117,879,979 % 31 & &
mandate at the subscription price of HK$0.38 per share at gross f&% - #2584 5 1,564,800,0007% 7T ° A%
amount of approximately HK$1,564.8 million. The share subscription NRBEEIR_Z—NAENA+HEH
was completed on 15 August 2019 and the subscription shares TR RIBRG AR A E LR %
represented approximately 40.00% of the then of issued share REBETREROBEBAZBEZITRAL
capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of 40.00% -
the subscription shares.
During the year, the Company and Ever Diamond Global Company FRN - ANAFEKEBIRIRB R A F (K
Limited (“Ever Diamond”) entered into the management and sales I ERERIHEREIER S © B
services framework agreement pursuant to which the group I KEBEEBEKE AR CGKEREEE
members of Ever Diamond (Ever Diamond and its group members KERA @SB KkEBEE|)EEIEH
collectively, the “Ever Diamond Group”) shall conditionally appoint ZEAREBEAERBEIRMERE - AK#E
the Group as its service provider to provide the project management EEIRHEEREEENHER - xiBE
and sales services to Ever Diamond Group. Ever Diamond Group B AHHuangZ TR &IEHI 2 BEE - Z
are entities ultimately controlled by Ms. Huang. These transactions EXFEK ETRAE4AZFTAEN
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined under BERERS - ZERX50R=_2— N1
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The transactions were approved F+ A+ HBITHARQTRELER
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20 Ae LEE  BERIEERBIERD
December 2019, and the effective terms of the management and ZNERNEHA BB EEEE -
sales services framework agreement commenced thereafter and will ——f+=ZA=+—H -BE=ZZ—A
to be continuing up to 31 December 2021. No relevant transaction F+-_A=+—HIFE ' WEETE
was carried out during the year ended 31 December 2019. MEBRS -
The Group is licensed by Zensun Real Estate to use the trademark AEBETITHEEFIIRCENERE
of “Zensun” “IE” on a royalty-free basis until July 2020. FER[Zensun [ M IER IBEE=_F=F
FEH -
Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) EEREEALZKREBES:
Details of the Group’s balances with related parties as at the end REEER - AEEEBAEA T 2 &R
of the reporting period are included in notes 23, 25 and 26 to the BRI B IR KR MIFE23 ~ 25 /%26 °
financial statements.
Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) ATEBEEEBEASHH :
Group:
2019 2018
—EB-NEF —E-N\%¥
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®BT R
Short term employee benefits bR =R | 1,094 1,357
Post-employment benefits BER 1A 46 26
Total compensation paid to key REEEBABXNRNEMET
management personnel 1,140 1,383

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments
are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

Save as above, no transaction has been entered into with the
directors of the Company (being the key management personnel)
during the year other than the emoluments paid to them (being key
management personnel compensation) (2018: Nil).

EERETETRABME ZE—FFHE

BN SR EEO ©
B £ Pt & S - T AL R B RN A

EX(HX2EBEAR)ETERNRS
HEREELMEREZERABRM
EBRIN T —\F : &) ©



41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 August 2013, a new share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to motivate eligible persons who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. The Share Option Scheme remains in force for 10 years
from that date, unless otherwise cancelled or amended. Eligible persons
of the Share Option Scheme include (i) a director or proposed director
(including an independent non-executive director) of any member of the
Group; (i) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (iii) a
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (iv) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent
or representative of any member of the Group; (v) a person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support or any
advisory, consultancy, professional services to any member of the Group;
and (vi) a landlord or tenant (including a sub-tenant) of any member of the
Group. Subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time during the life of the New Share Option Scheme
to offer the grant of any option to any eligible person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select and the basis of eligibility shall be determined by
the Board from time to time.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted is such number of shares which,
when aggregated with shares subject to any other share option scheme(s),
must not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the annual general meeting approving the Share Option Scheme
on 28 August 2013. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible person in the Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to the shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

41.
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41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their respective associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee
of the options). In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or to any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, within
any 12-month period, are subject to the shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The amount payable upon the acceptance of an option is HK$1.00. The
period within which an option must be exercised shall be such period as
the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant, save
that such period shall not be more than 10 years commencing on the date
of grant of an option.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board, but
may not be less than the highest of () the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on
the date of offer of the grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date the annual general meeting
approving the Share Option Scheme on 28 August 2013, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. Options vested immediately and may be
exercised at any time not exceeding a period of 5 years from the date on
which the share options are accepted.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no options have
been granted under the above-mentioned scheme.
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COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the KA

end of the reporting period is as follows:
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42. AR BHBARRER

“E-NEFER

AR E MR MR BR BT

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%TR
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz -~ BE R 75 85
Investments in subsidiaries NHB AR ZEE 336,131 336,131
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE NPT A Rl FRIE - 323,777
Total non-current assets ERBEERTE 336,206 659,993
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Accounts receivable, other receivables and other assets FEURERR - bR RIAREMEE 4,964 1,798
Debt investment at amortised cost EEER A B B E - 328,257
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATEFMABEZEMEE 349,776 5,240
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NEIE 3,900,275 1,391,744
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEEB 955,175 22,234
5,210,190 1,744,273
Investment properties classified as held for sale DERFENEZREWME - 1,317
Total current assets MENVEEREE 5,210,190 1,745,590
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals HitE B R ETER 96,475 724
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 695,963 1,375,228
Amounts due to subsidiaries R B RFRIE 216,643 214,587
Total current liabilities mEAEAE 1,009,081 1,590,539
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,201,109 155,051
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BELBERTBAE 4,537,315 815,044
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 2,311,130 -
Total non-current liabilities FRBAERE 2,311,130 =
Net assets BEFE 2,226,185 815,044
EQUITY B
Share capital N 2,014,112 587,529
Reserves (Note) AR 212,073 227,515
Total equity AR 2,226,185 815,044
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  42. &4 3 E#HREE (&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: Yoz
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARZ EE BT -
Capital
reduction Exchange Other Retained
reserves reserve reserve earning Total
BEARHIR
R HME B Hitf# M RE B @st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TT AR®T AR®TR AR®TR

At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-NF—F—H 119,330 (2,833) 82,674 61,762 260,933
Total comprehensive income/  ER2EUE/ (EE)
(loss) for the year k) = 30,553 - (63,971) (33,418)

At 31 December 2018 and R-ZE—-N\EFE+=A

1 January 2019 =t+—-AR=-Z—H&E
—F—~ 119,330 27,720 82,674 (2,209) 227,515
Total comprehensive (loss)/ X% (E#E),/
income for the year I EaTats - (24,739) = 9,297 (15,442)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NE+=A

=+—H 119,330 2,981 82,674 7,088 212,073




43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

43. B ARME

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2019 are as follows:

Place incorporation/

registration and

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Annual Report 2019

—E-NEEH

R_E-AF+=A=+—0  AAATEH

BRAIZERMT

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
T B ERTEB ARQFELER
=% =E SR =E AR A< E B ZADHL FEEWR
Direct Indirect
HiE Bk
75 Wall Street, LLC USA Note (i) - 100  Property investment
ES FtEEa) MERE
American Housing REIT, Inc. USA Common stock - 99.8 Property investment
EE USDG6,256 MERE
E B
6,256 7T
AHR First Borrower, LLC USA Note (i) - 99.8 Loan financing and
= HBaE() property investment
BEREE RMFERE
AHR Second Borrower, LLC USA Note (i) - 99.8 Loan financing
ES FtEEa) BEXEE
American Senior Housing USA Note (i) - 99.8  Property investment and
REIT, LLC x Hiaz() investment holding
MERE RIREER
ASHR McKinney, LLC USA Note (i) - 99.8  Property investment
ES Bt () MERE
ASHR First, LLC USA Note (i) = 99.8  Property investment
=S H1az() MERE
China Credit Singapore Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Ordinary shares 100 — Investment holding
ik SGD13,417,282 BT

gl
13,417,282 i 7T
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

178 Zensun Enterprises Limited

43. MBATME(HE)

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December RZEBE—HAF+-A=+—08  xAaFZHK
2019 are as follows: (continued) BRARZERIT : (&)
Nominal value of
Place incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
o 1 3 B % BRITEE AT EGEER
=18 =30 =E 18 AR A< [E {8 ZEDL FEEK
Direct Indirect
B SiE 3
Expats Residences Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ordinary shares = 100  Property investment
ESMIES SGD25,002 MEKRE
25,002%7 hn3 7t
Heng Fung Capital Company Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 —  Property investment and
Limited &5 HK$2 securities trading
BERERRAA LmAR2ETT MERERFFEE
Inter-American Management, LLC USA Note (i) - 85  Provision of property
= Bia() management services
ROV X E 1R RS
Keng Fong Foreign Investment USA Common stock = 100  Property investment
Co., Ltd. Z[E USD250,000 MERE
=Rl
250,000 7T
Singapore Service Residence Singapore Ordinary shares - 100  Property investment
Pte. Ltd. ESMIE SGD1,250,000 MERE
1,250,000%7 I3 7T
Xpress Credit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - 100  Securities trading
HFRIEEERAA BB HK$1,260,000 BHEE
1,260,000/ 70
ZH USA, LLC USA Note (i) 100 —  Securities trading and
=35 HaE () investment holding

EHEENIREER



43.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December
2019 are as follows: (continued)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place incorporation/
registration and
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Jis

Percentage of
equity attributable

—E-NEEH

43. MBATME(E)

“E-NAF+ZA=+—H  XAREEM
BRAIZERMT : (&)

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
3t 25 % BRITEE AT EGEER
=E =F .08 R AEE ZHEA FEEK
Direct Indirect
B SiE 3
THEEEC¥(EERZMRNEGRAR  PRC Registered capital = 100  Investment holding
Note (ii) F RMB1,000,000 AR
B a3 i) S E AR
AR #1,000,0007T
R IEEEHEEBRAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development,
Note (i) F RMB300,000,000 project management
By (i) FEE A and sales services
AR #300,000,0007T YIEER  BEEEER
SHE RS
EEEFEEEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) th RMB50,000,000 MEBRR
Bt a2 (i) T & AR
AR #50,000,0007T
AERNEFXBRAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) e RMB50,000,000 MEBR
Bt &t (i) AR
AR #50,000,0007C
TREFNEBEEEARAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB50,000,000 MEER
B &3 (i) EEAR
AR #50,000,0007C
T EEmENEXER AR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB100,000,000 MEERE
Bt a2 i) T ER

AR #100,000,0007T
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

180 Zensun Enterprises Limited

43. MBATME(HE)

RZZE-—NAF+ZA=+—H xAAEZEM
BRAZERMT : (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December
2019 are as follows: (continued)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
3t 25 % BRITEE AT EERER
=E =F .08 R AEE ZHEA FEER
Direct Indirect
B SiE 3
PR EEER AR PRC Registered capital - 100 Property development
Note (i) s RMB100,000,000 YIEER
B a3 i) EERHIIE= N
AR #100,000,0007T
A ERETME 2GR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) th RMB50,000,000 MEBRR
Bt a2 (i) T & AR
AR #50,000,0007T
A EEEREEBRAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) e RMB100,000,000 MEBR
Bt &t (i) AR
AR #100,000,0007T
IR EEBEXZERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB300,000,000 MEER
Bt a2 i) EEAR
AR #300,000,0007T
IR EGEEXEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) S RMB200,000,000 E 3
iopzall)] T ER
AR#200,000,0007T
T EESEBEEER AR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) F RMB100,000,000 YEIRE
B a7 (i) T ER
AR #100,000,0007T
0] i I P BB 3 5 M EE A PR A A PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) s RMB100,000,000 YIEER
B a3 i) EERHIIE= N
AR #100,000,0007T
TR EXBRAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) th RMB50,000,000 MEBRR
Bt a2 (i) T & AR

A ¥#50,000,0007T



43.

PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2019 are as follows: (continued)

Place incorporation/

registration and

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered
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RZE—hAhF+_A=+—8 AR REEH

BRRZEHMT

Percentage of
equity attributable

43. MBATME(E)

C (&)

—E-NEEH

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
1 1t 25 % BRITEE KA E RS
=18 M =X AR 2N TE B ZEADL FTEEK
Direct Indirect
HiE 5
AEEETPREFZEERAA PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) A RMB100,000,000 YIERE
Bt a2 i) T &R
AR#100,000,0007T
RSB FREZEEGRAR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) h RMB50,000,000 MEER
iorzall)] T ER
AR #50,000,0007T
T EE S EEBRAR] PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) F RMB100,000,000 YRR
Bt a2 (i) EERIIE= N
AR #100,000,0007C
R IER S E X ER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) 2 RMB100,000,000 MEERE
B a3 i) S & AR
AR #100,000,0007T
A EEXAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) e RMB100,000,000 MEBR
Bt a2 i) AR
AR #100,000,0007T
EEEEKEEARAA PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) G RMB100,000,000 MEBR
Bt a2 (i) AR
AR #100,000,0007T
AR HEEFEER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) EP RMB100,000,000 E 3
Bt a2 i) T &R

AR #100,000,0007T
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 43. MBARBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December RZE—hAhFE+_A=+—8 AQREEH
2019 are as follows: (continued) BRARZERIT : (&)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
it B BRITEE AT EGEER
=E =F .08 R AEE ZEZL FEXEK
Direct Indirect
HE SiE 3
A FRTEEXER AT PRC Registered capital - 100 Property development
Note (i) s RMB100,000,000 YIEER
B a3 i) EERHIIE= N
AR #100,000,0007T
AR EEFNEEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) =2 RMB100,000,000 MEBER
Bt a2 (i) FE & AR
AR #100,000,0007T
SRR EBEXEAER AT PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) £ RMB20,000,000 MEBR
B &3 (i) AR
AR #20,000,0007T
AEEEFEEFXEER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB100,000,000 MEER
Bt a2 i) EEAR
AR #100,000,0007C
AEEEBEEFXER AR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i C2 RMB100,000,000 e
iopzall)] T ER
AR #100,000,0007T
A TEE FRBEXE AR AR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) el RMB100,000,000 YEIRE
B a7 (i) T ER
AR #100,000,0007T
RN ERFEEAR AT PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) s RMB100,000,000 YIEER
B a3 i) EERHIIE= N
AR #100,000,0007T
AR EEEEEEBRAR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) =2 RMB100,000,000 MEBER
Bt a2 (i) T & AR

A #100,000,0007T
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PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 43. MBATME(E)
(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December R-ZE—NAE+=-_A=+—8 ' ARAEEK

2019 are as follows: (continued) E’EETZ%%MDT L (#B)

Nominal value of

Place incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
o i it B BRITEE KD FEGEER
=E = .01 SR AEE ZADL FEEK
Direct Indirect
=% R #
TEEEEXFRAR PRC Registered capital - 60  Property development
Note (i) S RMB200,000,000 YRR
Bt (i) ERIIE=ZN
AR#200,000,0007T
AEENENEZEARAA PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) F RMB100,000,000 R
Bt it (i) EEAR
AR #¥100,000,0007C
TS EERTEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) H RMB100,000,000 YIEERE
Bt a2 i) EERIIE=W
AR #100,000,0007C
AEEEBHEEXER AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB100,000,000 MEER
M (i) T ER
AR %100,000,0007T
AERREEEEXER AR PRC Registered capital = 60  Property development
Note (i) il RMB300,000,000 MEER
B 57 (i) EERIE= N
AR #300,000,0007T
s E B ERDERA A PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) H RMB100,000,000 YIEER
B a3 (i) EERHIE= N
AR #100,000,0007T
STREAMBEE AR A A PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) S RMB20,000,000 MR
Bt (i) ERIIE=ZN
AR #20,000,0007T
REREBEZEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) i RMB100,000,000 MEER
Bt a2 (i) EEAR

A #100,000,0007T
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—E-NF+ZA=+—H
43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2019 are as follows: (continued)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

Place incorporation/
registration and

R=F—NFET=

BRRZEHMT

Percentage of
equity attributable

43. MBATME(HE)

A=+—8  ARBEZZEH
(&)

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMRL
3t 26 % BRITEBE AT EERER
=E & EE s B = AR AN E B ZEDL FEEYR
Direct Indirect
B Bk
EAEY i o NG| PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) h RMB50,000,000 MEER
ioEzall)] T ER
AR #50,000,0007T
TR EEEBRAR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) F RMB100,000,000 MR
Bt a2 (i) EERIIE= N
AR #¥100,000,0007C
A EIEEHHEEBRAR PRC Registered capital = 80 Property development
Note (i) th RMB100,000,000 MEBR
B &3 (i) S & AR
AR #100,000,0007T
AEEEEMEEAR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) th RMB100,000,000 MEBRR
Bt a2 (i) AR
AR #100,000,0007T
EEEHEEERR AR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) o2 RMB100,000,000 YEI R
Bt a2 (i) AR
AR #100,000,0007T
THEEMEXERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB100,000,000 MEER
Bt a2 i) &R
AR#100,000,0007T
AERNEEXERAR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) Hh RMB50,000,000 MEER
H (i) T ER
AR #50,000,0007T
AEREEXERAR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) F RMB100,000,000 YRR
Bt a2 (i) EERIIE= N

AEE#100,000,0007T
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43. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2019 are as follows: (continued)

Place incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered
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43. MBATME(E)

“E-NAF+ZA=+—H  XAREEM
BRAIZERMT : (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name place of business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR
i k5 BRITEE QB EGEER
=E MR R A EE ZHEAL FEEK
Direct Indirect
BHE 4
TEENEEEBRA A PRC Registered capital - 70  Property development
Note (i) th RMB100,000,000 MEBRR
Bt a2 i) T E A
AR #100,000,0007C
THEREEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) th RMB50,000,000 MEBR
Bt a2 (i) AR
AR #50,000,0007C
AEeMNEZERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) 3 RMB50,000,000 E 3
Bt a2 i) EERIIE=W
AR #50,000,0007T
IR EmBEZEERAR PRC Registered capital - 100  Property development
Note (i) il RMB200,000,000 MEER
iorzall)] T ER
AR#200,000,0007T
REBRHEBEXBRAT PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (ii) F RMB20,000,000 YEIRE
Bt &) &R
AR ¥20,000,0007T
BB EHEREER AR PRC Registered capital = 100  Property development
Note (i) s RMB50,000,000 YIEER
B 57 (i) EERIIIE= N
AR #50,000,0007T
Notes: Mt -

(i) No capital contribution is required from the member unless otherwise

required by law.

(ii) Entities established in the PRC are limited liability companies with no
English names registered or available upon establishment.

(i)

BOEARERTTHAE - BRINEREERNRRL
ARAKERA]

RABRL BB RERATR - BRKIR
BUEE R RA R AT -
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44. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

In February 2020, the Group acquired land use rights of two
separate land parcels located in Xinmi City, Henan Province,
the PRC through listing for sale process in its respective public
auction held by Xinmi City Nature Resources and Planning
Bureau for transfer of state-owned land use rights (i) with site
area of approximately 53,060.26 sq.m. at a consideration of
RMB25,875,838; and (ii) with site area of approximately 25,968.97
sg.m. at a consideration of RMB104,771,000, respectively. These
two land parcels are designated for residential and underground for
transportation usages, with the term of 70 years for residential usage
and the term of 50 years for underground for transportation services
usage. The handover of the land parcel is expected to be completed
respectively no later than the second quarter of 2020.

In March 2020, the Group entered into a purchase agreement and
thereafter issued US$200,000,000 12.5% senior notes due 2022.
The Group intended to use the gross proceeds to refinance existing
indebtedness and for project development and general corporate
purposes.

After the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in
early 2020, various precautionary and control measures have been
and continued to be implemented across the PRC. Meanwhile, the
Group has imposed a series of preventive and control measures
within all of the property development projects and business
locations to the outbreak and safeguard the employees and business
operations. The Group will continue to pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 situation and evaluate its impact on
the financial position and operating results of the Group. As at the
date of this announcement, major operation for the Group’s property
development business in the PRC has substantially restored to their
normal operation and the Group was not aware of any material
adverse effects on the consolidated financial statements as a result
of the outbreak.

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 27 March 2020.
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For the nine

months ended

31 December

2015
For the year ended 31 December Bz
BE+-A=+—HLEE —Z-HF
2019 2018 2017 2016 +=H=+—H
—E-hEF —E-NF —E—+tF —E-REF IEA@EA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 HK$’000
AR®TR AR® TR AR®TR ARETT FHET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (Z31)
Results B
Revenue e zs 8,887,186 601,470 1,100,419 67,960 43,960
Profit (loss) for the FE/HHE
year/period SR (EB1E) 1,151,458 28,492 131,602 (54,214) (19,193)
Attributable to: FEfL -
Owners of the Company ViN/NGTEZ 2= D/N 1,151,571 29,971 131,709 (54,200) (19,655)
Non-controlling interests FEFENR R == (113) (1,479) (107) (14) 462
Profit (loss) for the EEHE
year/period A (518 ) 1,151,458 28,492 131,602 (54,214) (19,193)
As at 31 December
Rt+t=B=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-hE —B-N\F —B-tf —B-XE C—B-1F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 HK$’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T FERT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E31) (E31)
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Total assets REE 51,942,189 39,569,259 18,542,750 3,311,955 2,186,089
Total liabilities BEE (48,205,148)  (38,447,747)  (17,398,865) (2,275,634) (1,094,486)
Non-controlling interests eI 3,593 7,053 9,581 10,704 7,178
Equity attributable to ERATEEA
owners of the Company EihEs 3,740,634 1,128,565 1,153,466 1,047,025 1,098,781
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As at 31 December 2019

R-TF-hF+-A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES rREYE
Gross area
Location (approximately) Effective % held Type Lease term
1t B AR EREEE  E5 R
(%) (%)

No.883 North Bridge Road, Shop on 1/F. and 28,732 sq. ft. 100% Home Office Long-term lease
27 Home Office Units on various floors, 28,732F 5 R EN S NS REFL
Southbank, Singapore 198785

5 Residential Units, Dakota Residences, 9,128 sq. ft. 100% Apartment Long-term lease
34-42 Dakota Crescent, Singapore 399939 9,128F HIR BT R

30/F and Carpark No. C8 on 2nd Carparking Floor, 3,480 sq. ft. 100% Office premises and Long-term lease
Wyndham Place, No.44 Wyndham Street, 3,480F R Car Parking space REAFL
Central, Hong Kong WAEYERBEAL

BERPIREFAMREREER D
3018 k2@ {5 CesRE U

Portion B of 24/F, Wyndham Place, 1,680 sq. ft. 100% Office premises Long-term lease
No. 44 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong 1,680F 7R E/NES Y ES REAFL

BBPIREFA44RER B 5P O242BE R

Glen Carr House, 1433 North Hamilton Drive, 29,000 sq. ft. 99.8% Senior house Freehold
Derby, Kansas, 67037, U.S. 29,000 R communities KA EERE

Glen Carr House i A B A AT ME L T REERES
North Hamilton Drive 14335

Oxford Grand McKinney, 2851 Orchid Drive, 69,700 sq. ft. 99.8% Senior house Freehold
McKinney, Texas, 75070, U.S. 69,700 5 R communities KA

Oxford Grand McKinney fiz 73 B/ & & M 2SR fE REERES
Orchid Drive 2851%%

3 Single-family rentals located in the metropolitan regions 6,965 sq. ft. 99.8% Residential Freehold
of Texas and Geogia, U.S. 6,965F 7R (B KA SERE

R EBER EATMN R ER M
T ARO[ 2 3F B5 R AR B s

Land parcels located at 671-180-012, 67.5 acres/ 100% Vacant land Freehold
013, 014, 015, 016, 017, 018 273,200 sq. m./ Z=E i KAFERE

Desert Hot Springs, County of Riverside,
State of California, 92503, U.S.

KL E BN A 7B B Desert Hot SpringsZ.
#$8671-180-012 013 * 014 ~ 015 »
016~ 017 » 018

2,940,300 sq. ft.

67.58,
273,200 )5 %/
2,940,300F ;7R
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